
TENTATIVE, SUBJECT TO CHANGE 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY, MARYLAND 
 

OPEN SESSION 
 

Tuesday, December 21, 2004 
5:30 P.M.-Closed Session, 7:30 P.M.-Open Session 

Educational Support Services Building 
 

I. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

II. SILENT MEDITATION IN REMEMBRANCE 

III. AGENDA 

Consideration of the agenda for December 21, 2004 

IV. MINUTES 

Consideration of the and the Open and Closed Minutes of October 
19, 2004; and the Open and Closed Session Minutes of November 9, 
2004 

Exhibit A

V. ADVISORY AND STAKEHOLDER GROUPS 

VI. SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT 

VII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS – Recognition of Student Artwork 
in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

(Mr. Sasiadek/
Mr. Grzymski)

VIII. RECOGNITION OF ADMINISTRATIVE APPOINTMENTS FROM 
DECEMBER 7, 2004 

(Dr. Peccia)

IX. REPORTS 

A. FY2005 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Single 
Audit Report (exhibit for Single Audit Report to follow) 

(Mr. Grzymski)
Exhibit B 

B. Report on Proposed FY2006-2011 State and County Capital 
Budget Request 

(Ms. Burnopp)
Exhibit C

C. Report on School Staffing (Dr. Peccia)
Exhibit D 
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X. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Consideration of consent to the following personnel matters: (Dr. Peccia) 

1. Sabbatical Leaves 
2. Retirements 
3. Resignations 
4. Leaves 
5. Advisory Council Appointments 
6. Administrative Appointments 

Exhibit E
Exhibit F
Exhibit G
Exhibit H
Exhibit I
Exhibit J

B. Consideration of consent to the following contract awards: (Mr. Gay/Mr. Cassell)
Exhibit K

1. Audio-Visual Equipment Repair  

2. Dual Purpose Paper (Copy, Laser Printers & Duplicators)  

3. Every Day Counts Calendar Math  

4. Professional Development Contract with Dr. Carol Tolman

5. Professional Development Workshop Contract with Linda 
Farrell (Reading Street)  

6. School Buses  

7. Special Education Individual Education Plan Software 
Management System  

8. Contract Modification – Design Services for Systemic 
Renovations at Arbutus Middle School  

9. Contract Modification – Soil Remediation at Windsor Mill 
Middle School  

10. Request for Easement at Chapel Hill Elementary School  

11. Secure Our Schools Initiative Grant  

C. Consideration of consent of the FY06 Capital Supplement 
Appropriation  

(Ms. Burnopp)
Exhibit L

D. Consideration of Lease of Space for the Bridge Center (exhibit 
to follow) 

(Ms. Fromm)
Exhibit M

XI. INFORMATION 

Special Education Citizens Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes of 
November 8, 2004 

Exhibit N
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XII. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A. Public Comment – Proposed Changes to Policy 5540 – 
Alcoholic Beverages and Drugs (Second Reading) 

B. Public Comment – Proposed Changes to Policy 5550 – 
Disruptive Behavior (Second Reading) 

C. General Public Comment 

Next Board Meeting January 11, 2005 
7:30 PM Greenwood 



Exhibit A
TENTATIVE MINUTES 

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY, MARYLAND 

Tuesday, October 19, 2004 
 

The Board of Education of Baltimore County, Maryland, met in open session at 5:32 p.m. 
at Greenwood.  President James R. Sasiadek and the following Board members were present:  
Mr. Donald L. Arnold, Mr. Nicholas P. Camp, Mr. Thomas G. Grzymski, Ms. Frances A.S. 
Harris, Mr. John Hayden, III, Dr. Warren Hayman, Mr. Rodger C. Janssen, Ms. Ramona N. 
Johnson, Mr. Michael P. Kennedy, and Ms. Joy Shillman.  In addition, Dr. Joe A. Hairston, 
Superintendent of Schools, and staff members were present. 
 

President Sasiadek reminded Board members of upcoming school board association 
functions for October and November. 

 
At 5:51 p.m., Mr. Arnold moved the Board go into closed session to discuss personnel 

matters pursuant to the Annotated Code of Maryland, State Government Article, §10-508(a)(1).  
The motion was seconded by Dr. Hayman and unanimously approved by the Board. 
 

CLOSED SESSION MINUTES

Dr. Donald Peccia, Executive Director of Human Resources, reviewed with Board 
members personnel matters to be considered this evening.  

 
At 6:05 p.m., Mr. Kennedy moved the Board adjourn for a brief dinner recess.  The 

motion was seconded by Mr. Hayden and approved by the Board.   
 

OPEN SESSION MINUTES

The Board of Education of Baltimore County, Maryland, reconvened in open session at 
7:30 p.m. at Greenwood.  President James R. Sasiadek and the following Board members were 
present:  Mr. Donald L. Arnold, Mr. Nicholas P. Camp, Mr. Thomas G. Grzymski, Ms. Frances 
A.S. Harris, Mr. John Hayden, III, Dr. Warren Hayman, Mr. Rodger C. Janssen, Ms. Ramona N. 
Johnson, Mr. Michael P. Kennedy, and Ms. Joy Shillman.  In addition, Dr. Joe A. Hairston, 
Superintendent of Schools, and staff members were present. 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The open session commenced with the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag, which was led 
by Ace Skylar, a student from Carver Center for Arts and Technology, followed by a period of 
silent meditation for those who have served education in the Baltimore County Public Schools. 
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Dr. Hairston noted one adjustment to the agenda for this evening’s meeting.  He added 
section V, Special Order of Business, recognition of Deidre Austen, 2004 Milken Family 
Foundation Award. 
 

MINUTES

Hearing no additions or corrections to the Board of Education Open and Closed Minutes 
of September 8, 2004, Mr. Sasiadek declared the minutes approved as presented on the website. 
 

Mr. Sasiadek informed the audience of the previous sessions in which Board members 
had participated earlier in the afternoon. 
 

SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

On a motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Mr. Grzymski, the Board adopted a resolution 
honoring Ms. Deidre Austen, teacher at Lutherville Laboratory, who received the 2004 Milken 
Family Foundation Award. 
 

ADVISORY AND STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS

Mr. Mike German, Baltimore County Student Council President, related the Council’s 
items discussed at its assembly meeting.  Mr. German stated that BCSC voted to support the 
creation of a childrens’ alcoholic prevention program in all high schools and voted against 
having video cameras in high schools for privacy purposes.  
 

Ms. Lynn Sklar, member of the Central Area Educational Advisory Council, thanked the 
Board for the participation this year with the advisory council.  Mr. Michael Moore, Chair of the 
Central Area Educational Advisory Council, thanked the Board for its support at the central pre-
budget meeting.   
 

Mr. Walter Hayes, Chair of the Northeast Area Educational Advisory Council, stated the 
top priority is for the construction of a high school between Towson and Perry Hall as 
recommended by the DeJong report.  He announced the Northeast area pre-budget meeting 
would be held on October 21, 2004 at Eastern Technical High School. 
 

Mr. Stephen Crum, a Southeast Area Educational Advisory Council representative, 
highlighted its pre-budget meeting held last week.  Priorities included teachers’ salaries and to: 
increase funding to cover the cost of additional students taking the Accuplacer Test, fully fund 
the Career and Technology Program, continue providing funding for Gifted and Talented 
resource teachers, and continued funding for the music programs in all schools.   
 

Ms. Maggie Kennedy, Chair of the Baltimore County Education Coalition, asked the 
Board to craft a budget to meet the needs of the school system.  She asked the Board to ensure 
that Thornton funding is not supplanted and that children are adequately funded.   
 



Board of Education October 19, 2004 
Open and Closed Session Minutes Page 3 
 

ADVISORY AND STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS (cont)

Mr. Maurice Bowden, Vice Chair of the Career & Technology Education Advisory 
Council, stated the service for CTE inclusive and special staffing resources cannot be maintained 
without current funding and appropriate funding upgrades.   
 

Ms. Karen Yarn, Chair of the Citizens Advisory Committee for Gifted and Talented, 
expressed the need for increased advocacy and additional information on gifted and talented 
programs to parents.   
 

Ms. Jasmine Shriver, Chair of the Citizens Advisory Committee for Special Education, 
noted the committee has begun working on the special education staffing plan for 2005-06.  Ms. 
Shriver stressed the importance of aligning the special education staffing plan with the Master 
Plan and Blueprint for Progress. Mr. Carl Bailey, Vice Chair of the Citizens Advisory 
Committee for Special Education, reported that a work group has convened to discuss high 
school graduation requirements.   
 

Ms. Meg O’Hare, representative for the Minority Achievement Advisory Group, reported 
that based on data provided by the area directors, African-American, low-income, and special 
education student achievement is improving, however, more focus, attention, and resources are 
needed.   
 

Ms. Marilyn Ryan, representative for the PTA Council of Baltimore County, announced 
the PTA Fall Receptions and Workshop on Thursday, October 28, 2004 at Cockeysville Middle 
School.  This year the PTA Council has encouraged principals and PTA officers to attend the 
workshops. 
 

Ms. Cheryl Bost, President of the Teachers Association of Baltimore County, thanked 
Mr. Dale Rauenzahn, Executive Director of Student Support Services, for inviting teachers to the 
Safe Schools Conference.  She re-emphasized the budget message is to raise teacher salary 
compensation to recruit and retain quality educators.   
 

Mr. Kevin-Douglas Olive, teacher at Wellwood International School, spoke about the 
French Immersion magnet program at the school. Mr. Olive asked for support and input from the 
Board in making this school better and more visible. 
 

SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT

Dr. Hairston reiterated that science and math are initiatives taken seriously in Baltimore 
County Public Schools. He stated BCPS is attempting to prepared children for a future requiring 
higher shills.  Dr. Hairston acknowledged the receipt of $7,500.00 for technology related 
scholarships awarded at Lockheed Martin’s 75th anniversary luncheon. 
 

Other recent activities attended by the Superintendent include the University of Maryland 
Baltimore President's Advisory Council; stadium dedication at Sparrows Point High School; and 
NFUSSD Conference in Salt Lake City, Utah.   
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RECOGNITION OF ADVISORY COUNCIL APPOINTMENTS FROM
OCTOBER 5, 2004

Dr. Peccia recognized the following advisory council appointments made at the October 
5th Board of Education meeting: 

� Mr. Nathan Price  Southwest Area Advisory Council Student member 
� Ms. Adrienne Hawkins Northwest Area Advisory Council Student member 

 

REPORTS

The Board received the following reports: 
 
A. Annual Report on Results – Through a PowerPoint presentation, Dr. Jerry 

Dalton, Director of Accountability, Research, and Testing, and Dr. Gary Brager, 
Supervisor of Accountability, Research, and Testing, presented a brief summary 
of the major goals regarding achievement and performance results for 2003-2004 
as outlined in the Blueprint for Progress.  The steady upward trend in student 
achievement is best exemplified by increases for all students and sub-groups on 
the 2003-2004 Maryland School Assessment (MSA).  When the 2003-2004 MSA 
results are disaggregated by the requirements of No Child Left Behind and 
Maryland State Department of Education Accountability criteria, all racial/ethnic, 
special education, FARM, and ESOL populations show gains on MSA reading 
and math from the years 2002-2003 to 2003-2004. 

 
Mr. Hayden requested clarification on the graduation rate in 2014 to meet 
Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP).  Dr. Brager responded 90 percent.   
 
With regards to HSA testing, Mr. Hayden would like assurance that BCPS does 
not follow the trend of focusing and narrowing its sights on four courses when 
students take 21 courses through their high school tenure.  He believes students 
should be best prepared when leaving BCPS and moving forward to college or 
careers. 
 
Mr. Kennedy inquired about the increase in SAT takers and possible downward 
test scores.  Dr. Dalton responded there is an inverse relationship with the number 
of test takers and scores as opposed to moving in concert with each other. 
 
Ms. Shillman questioned the disparity in PSAT and SAT participation rate 
between African-Americans and white students.  Dr. Brager responded there is a 
gap due to more African-Americans taking the SAT test than ever before.  Mr. 
William Lawrence, Executive Director of Schools, Northeast Area, stated that one 
possibility is that BCPS pays for the PSAT for all 10th graders, gifted and talents, 
and honors 9th graders.   
 
Ms. Shillman asked who sets the AMO.  Dr. Dalton responded each State sets its 
AMO goals. 
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REPORT (cont)

Dr. Hairston stated he was encouraged to see cohort data regarding the 
performance of African-American students from one year to another.  He noted 
the entire nation dropped in SAT scores with BCPS dropping 1%.  Dr. Hairston 
commented BCPS needs to sustain rigor across the board. 
 
With regards to increasing SAT participation, Dr. Hayman stated BCPS must 
increase preparation rate.  If preparation, resources, and quality instruction are not 
provided, performance may not increase. Dr. Hayman raised concern that 68% of 
African-Americans are not being successful in some areas.  Dr. Hayman also 
commented the data does not state why there are disparities and what actions are 
going to be taken to correct these disparities in the future.   
 
With regards to Mr. Kennedy’s question on safe schools, Mr. Dale Rauenzahn, 
Executive Director of Student Support Services, responded that the Report on 
Results does reflect indicators in the Master Plan.  Mr. Rauenzahn stated that the 
definition of “safe” is measured in the Master Plan.  Regarding surveys, Mr. 
Rauenzahn noted that all efforts are underway to have a survey available in spring 
2005. 
 
Mr. Kennedy raised concerns over the lack of additional telephone lines in 
schools.   
 
Ms. Johnson commented on the achievement gap especially with African-
American students.  She concurred with Dr. Hayman that the data does not 
explain why there are disparities and what actions will be put in place to correct 
those disparities.  She would like to see percentages off the chart and would like 
the school system to aim high to see all students achieving academically. 
 
Dr. Hairston summarized the information presented and stated the need to define 
the steps to take in relationship with the data and provide support for those 
actions. 
 

B. Comprehensive Maintenance Plan for FY 2005 – Through a PowerPoint™ 
presentation, Mr. Cornell Brown, Administrator, Department of Physical 
Facilities, provided a summary on the maintenance plan for FY2005 as required 
by the State of Maryland.  Mr. Brown noted this item is listed under building 
committee recommendations to be voted on this evening by the Board.  
 
Mr. Janssen asked why the indoor air quality section was not more in-depth.  Mr. 
Brown responded the environmental assessment committee is looking into policy 
in hopes of expanding on activities.  Mr. Brown noted that the environmental 
office has an extensive program outline on dealing with all environmental matters.   
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REPORT (cont)

Mr. Hayden inquired about estimation costs for completing the tasks outlined in 
the maintenance plan.  Mr. Brown responded this is addressed during the budget 
process.  Mr. Brown stated that in the Master Plan there is an activity for a 5-10-
15 year projection for maintenance activities.  Mr. Hayden asked whether this 
information is being shared with the County so they can plan for the future.  Mr. 
Richard Cassell, Engineering/Construction Administrator, responded Physical 
Facilities coordinates with the budget office and noted the County is involved 
throughout the capital budget process. 
 
Mr. Grzymski commended the new information system that would track work 
orders.  He recommended Physical Facilities meet with the building committee to 
discuss the capabilities of the work order system.  Mr. Brown stated the pilot 
program for the new CMS system is tentatively scheduled for spring 2005. 
 
Ms. Johnson asked what top three priorities are over the next 12 months and what 
goals and objectives are put in place to meet those priorities.  Mr. Brown 
responded all the priorities are set in the budget submissions for the next fiscal 
year.  One example is the capital program in which a new I/S for automatic 
temperature controls was installed.   

 

PERSONNEL MATTERS

On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Mr. Grzymski, the Board approved the 
personnel matters as presented on Exhibits D, E, F, G, H, and I.  Mr. Janssen abstained from 
voting.  (Copies of the exhibits are attached to the formal minutes.) 

 

CONTRACT AWARDS

On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Ms. Harris, the Board approved items 1 - 5 
(Exhibit J).  
 

1. Case Consulting – Software and Services in Support of the Maryland Model 
for School Readiness (MMSR) Program for School Year 2004-05 

2. Glass and Glazing Materials 

3. Long Distance Telephone Service Extension 

4. Musical Instruments 

5. Printing Services 
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BUILDING COMMITTEE

The Building Committee, represented by Mr. Kennedy, recommended approval of items 
1-3 (Exhibits K through M).    
 

Mr. Janssen asked whether BCPS has future plans to construct anything in this area.  Mr. 
Cassell responded this is a right-of-way so the Department of Public Works has access to the 
sewer lines.  Mr. Janssen asked who would be responsible if work needed to be completed on the 
sewer.  Mr. Cassell responded the responsibility lies on the Department of Public Works. 
 

In regards to Mr. Janssen’s question about the bidding process, Mr. Cassell stated 
estimates are completed and two additional reviews are done by an outside consultant.  Mr. 
Cassell noted that as part of a specification, BCPS has the right to reject any and all bids. 
 

The Board approved these recommendations.   
 

1. Contract Modification – Randallstown High School Science Classroom 
Renovation (Additional Abatement) 

2. Request for Consideration of the Comprehensive Maintenance Plan for FY 
2005 

3. Utility Easement at Ridge Ruxton School 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Mr. Sasiadek made the following announcements: 
 

� On Wednesday, October 20, 2004, the Southwest Area Educational Advisory Council 
will hold its pre-budget meeting at Lansdowne High School at 7:00 p.m. 

 
� On Thursday, October 21, 2004, the Northeast Area Educational Advisory Council 

will hold its pre-budget meeting at Eastern Technical High School at 7:00 p.m. 

� On Thursday, October 21, 2004, the Northwest Area Educational Advisory Council 
will hold its pre-budget meeting at Milford Mill at 7:00 p.m. 

� On Thursday, October 28, 2004, the PTA Council of Baltimore County will hold its 
annual Fall Workshop at 6:00 p.m. at Cockeysville Middle School. 

 
� The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Education of Baltimore County 

will be held on Tuesday, November 9, 2004, at Greenwood.  The meeting will begin 
with an open session at approximately 5:30 p.m.  After the Board adjourns to meet in 
closed session, followed by a brief dinner recess, the open meeting will reconvene at 
approximately 7:30 p.m.  The public is welcome at all open sessions.   

 
Mr. Sasiadek reminded speakers to refrain from discussing any matters that might come 

before the Board in the form of an appeal, as well as any personnel matters. 
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PUBLIC COMMENT

Mr. Muhammad Jameel asked the Board to treat Muslim holidays the same as Jewish 
holidays. 
 

Mr. Mohsin Majid believes his son does not receive perfect attendance because he takes 
off for Muslim holidays.   
 

Dr. Bash Pharoan asked the Board to give equal holidays to all minorities. 
 

ADJOURNMENT

At 10:20 p.m., Mr. Grzymski moved to adjourn the open session.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Arnold and approved by the Board. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

___________________ 
 Joe A. Hairston 
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 
bls 



TENTATIVE MINUTES 

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY, MARYLAND 

Tuesday, November 9, 2004 
 

The Board of Education of Baltimore County, Maryland, met in open session at 5:58 p.m. 
at Greenwood.  President James R. Sasiadek and the following Board members were present:  
Mr. Donald L. Arnold, Mr. Luis E. Borunda, Mr. Nicholas P. Camp, Ms. Frances A.S. Harris, 
Mr. Rodger C. Janssen, Mr. Michael P. Kennedy, and Ms. Joy Shillman.  In addition, Dr. Joe A. 
Hairston, Superintendent of Schools, and staff members were present. 
 

President Sasiadek reminded Board members of upcoming functions for October and 
November school board association and Board of Education events. 

 
Mr. Hayden and Dr. Hayman entered the room at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Ms. Sasiadek distributed the Board and Superintendent’s priorities for the 2004-2005 

school year, which were discussed at the retreat.  He asked Board members to be familiar with 
these priorities so that communities understand what the emphasis is for this year.  Mr. Sasiadek 
requested Board members to provide feedback to him in regards to moving the advisory and 
stakeholder groups to the beginning of the meetings. 

 
Ms. Johnson entered the room at 6:02 p.m. 
 
With regards to the school climate survey, Dr. Hayman stated that Baltimore County is 

one of the districts designated to participate in this survey.  He noted that a letter would be sent 
to the Superintendent and Board president obtaining authorization for BCPS to participate in the 
survey. 

 
Mr. Hayden encouraged Board members to join the Maryland Caucus of Black School 

Board Members. 
 

At 6:22 p.m., Mr. Kennedy moved the Board go into closed session to discuss personnel 
matters pursuant to the Annotated Code of Maryland, State Government Article, §10-508(a)(1).  
The motion was seconded by Dr. Hayman and unanimously approved by the Board. 
 

CLOSED SESSION MINUTES

Dr. Donald Peccia, Executive Director of Human Resources, reviewed with Board 
members personnel matters to be considered this evening.  

 
Mr. Nevett Steele, Jr., provided legal advice to the Board regarding a situation that may 

occur at tonight’s Board meeting. 
 
At 6:35 p.m., Mr. Arnold moved the Board adjourn for a brief dinner recess.  The motion 

was second by Mr. Hayden and approved by the Board.   
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OPEN SESSION MINUTES

The Board of Education of Baltimore County, Maryland, reconvened in open session at 
7:33 p.m. at Greenwood.  President James R. Sasiadek and the following Board members were 
present:  Mr. Donald L. Arnold, Mr. Luis E. Borunda, Mr. Nicholas P. Camp, Ms. Frances A.S. 
Harris, Mr. John Hayden, III, Dr. Warren Hayman, Mr. Rodger C. Janssen, Ms. Ramona N. 
Johnson, Mr. Michael P. Kennedy, and Ms. Joy Shillman.  In addition, Dr. Joe A. Hairston, 
Superintendent of Schools, and staff members were present. 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The open session commenced with the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag, which was led 
by Nicolle Caple and Lauren Guerieri, teachers at Timbergrove Elementary School, followed by 
a period of silent meditation for those who have served education in the Baltimore County Public 
Schools. 
 

MINUTES

Hearing no additions or corrections to the Minutes of the Board Retreat of September 12, 
2004 and the Minutes of the Board of Education Work Session of September 14, 2004, Mr. 
Sasiadek declared the minutes approved as presented on the website. 
 

Mr. Sasiadek informed the audience of the previous sessions in which Board members 
had participated earlier in the afternoon. 
 

ADVISORY AND STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS

Mr. Mike German, Baltimore County Student Council President, announced the general 
assembly meeting for November 10 to discuss summer reading and specific pieces of legislation.  
He also announced the annual Middle School Conference on Saturday, November 13 with 100 
middle school students to discuss BCPS policies and procedures. 
 

Mr. Michael Moore, Chair of the Central Area Educational Advisory Council, focused on 
issues presented at pre-budget meetings.  He shared the primary issue which is equity among 
schools.  Mr. Moore asked the Board to help baseline staffing requirements in elementary 
schools as follows:  ensure all elementary schools have an Assistant Principal and full-time 
physical education teacher, classroom size and adequate staffing.  He noted that the advisory 
council supports the Career and Technology Education Advisory Council’s (CTE) 2004-2005 
budget, full funding of the special education audit recommendations, and placement in the 
budget of the funds needed to recruit and retain highly qualified teachers. 
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ADVISORY AND STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS (cont)

Mr. Walter Hayes, Chair of the Northeast Area Educational Advisory Council, thanked 
Eastern Technical High School for its hospitality during the pre-budget meeting on October 21.  
He shared with the Board some of the issues brought out in the pre-budget meeting:  upgrade 
gym lockers; upgrade locker room, training room, gym ventilation; and improve security at 
Kenwood High School.  Mr. Hayes also noted the continued support of a new high school in the 
northeast area, the need for an assistant principal in every school and salary increases for 
assistant principals.  Other topics included more history field trips, increase the CTE budget, the 
need to recruit math and science teachers, and better salaries for all teachers.  Mr. Hayes 
announced its next meeting on November 18 at Harford Hills Elementary School beginning at 
6:30 p.m. 
 

Ms. Abby Beytin, Chair of the Northwest Area Educational Advisory Council, shared 
with the Board issues presented at its pre-budget meeting, which included bathroom facilities, 
increase in maintenance, staff, air conditioning, teacher and staff salaries, staffing classroom 
tutorials and after-school programs, and the music program.  Ms. Beytin announced its next 
meeting for December 2 at Pikesville Middle School.   
 

Mr. Stephen Crum, a Southeast Area Educational Advisory Council representative, 
discussed the voting conducted at schools this past week.  The younger the age group, the less 
they vote.  He commented on the need to teach students the voting process and their participation 
in the future. 
 

Ms. Maggie Kennedy, Chair of the Baltimore County Education Coalition, stated the 
coalition has been busy championing capital and operating budget needs.  She also stated that 
education coalition members are contacting various authorities requesting additional capital 
funding for BCPS.  With regards to the operating budget, Ms. Kennedy highlighted the items 
identified and supported by the coalition, which include Thornton funding; resources to support 
the special education audit recommendations; Bridge Center program; program enhancement for 
student achievement in all subgroups; and enhancing gifted and talented services.  She also 
stated the need to increase assistant principals’ salaries and teachers’ and paraprofessionals’ 
compensation packages. 
 

Mr. Carroll Cilento, Chair of the Career & Technology Education Advisory Council, 
commended students from Eastern Technical, Western School of Technology, Carver Center for 
the Arts, and Sollers Point Technical High Schools, respectively, who received various awards.  
Mr. Cilento also noted a number of teachers and instructors who received awards this past 
month. 
 

Ms. Jasmine Shriver, Chair of the Citizens Advisory Committee for Special Education, 
announced the advisory committee’s name has changed to Special Education Citizens Advisory 
Committee (SECAC).  She commended Ms. Kathleen McMahon and Dr. Gwen Grant for their 
presentation on the Assessment Intervention Model.  Ms. Shriver also stated the accountability 
piece of the special education audit report would continually be reviewed by SECAC.  Ms. 
Shriver announced the Special staffing community forums to be held on November 29, 2004 
from 7:00 – 8:00 p.m. at Ridge Ruxton, Dogwood Elementary, and Essex Elementary Schools. 
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ADVISORY AND STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS (cont)

Ms. Meg O’Hare, representative of the Minority Achievement Advisory Group (MAAG), 
announced its next meeting for November 11.  She noted that MAAG participated in the 
Baltimore County Education Coalition meeting with a focus on the capital and operating budget 
and the over abundance of agency-placed children.  With regard to State meetings, Ms. O’Hare 
hopes that a representative is attending and adequately representing Baltimore County.  Mr. Carl 
Bailey, representative of MAAG, requested the Superintendent to present a budget based on the 
needs of the school system.  He asked that the Board not short-change the children of Baltimore 
County. 
 

Mr. Michael Franklin, President of the PTA Council of Baltimore County, introduced 
Ms. Jan Thomas, Operating Budget Chairperson.  Ms. Thomas highlighted some of the issues 
presented at the area educational advisory councils’ pre-budget meetings.  Priority issues were: 
equity among schools, reduction of class size/adequate staffing, salary increases for teachers and 
school staff, full funding of the CTE 2005-06 budget, review of technology needs, increase in 
staffing for ESOL programs, fund implementation of special education audit recommendations, 
and request for the funds needed to maintain BCPS as a quality school system.  She noted 
speaker participation increased by 22 percent.  Ms. Thomas expressed her disappointment that 
some Board members did not attend any of the pre-budget meetings.  
 

Ms. Cheryl Bost, President of the Teachers Association of Baltimore County, thanked 
Ms. Thomas for providing feedback from the pre-budget meetings.  Ms. Bost announced 
American Education Week begins November 15 through November 19 with this year’s theme 
being “Celebrating the American Dream.”  She stated that American Education Week is a time 
when parents from all grade levels attend schools to take part in the education process and 
believes BCPS needs to be proactive and diligent in keeping students, staff, and visitors safe.  On 
behalf of TABCO, Ms. Bost wrote a letter asking all principals to discuss safety procedures that 
would be in place to ensure a safe environment with increased accessibility during American 
Education Week.   
 

SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT

Dr. Hairston introduced Barbara Hoffman, former Senator and Chair of the Budget and 
Taxation Committee, and champion of education in the State of Maryland who ushered through 
the Thornton initiative. 
 

COMMENTS BY BARBARA HOFFMAN

Ms. Hoffman discussed the objective of the 2002 Bridge to Excellence in Public Schools 
Act, also known as “Thornton,” with Board members.  Ms. Hoffman reviewed: 
 

• Education policy in the 1990’s  
 Maryland School Performance Assessment Program (MSPAP) 
 Fiscal crisis and increased enrollment 
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COMMENTS BY BARBARA HOFFMAN (cont)

• State of Public Education in 1999  
 99 Maryland public schools were “reconstitution-eligible”  
 Despite improvements in MSPAP scores, no school system had achieved the 

70% MSPAP standard 

• Commission on Education Finance, Equity, and Excellence 
 Charge: make recommendations to ensure the adequacy and equity of public 

school funding and excellence in student performance 
 Submitted interim reports in January and December 2000 
 Submitted final report and recommendations in January 2002 

• Thornton Commission Guiding Principles 
 Adequacy  � Simplicity 
 Equity   � Accountability 
 Fluidity   � Flexibility 

• Local School System Requirements 

 Comprehensive Master Plan 
 Full-day Kindergarten for all students by 2007-2008 school year 
 Pre-kindergarten programs available by 2007-2008 school year 

 
Ms. Hoffman stated the most important thing with Thornton funding is the 

flexibility each school system has to decide how it will spend the money.  Once a school 
system has a Master Plan, then the school system can design a budget based on the plan.  
Ms. Hoffman noted that the only “silos” that must be met are those required by law.  
 

Mr. Arnold thanked Ms. Hoffman for her dedication and hard work on this bill. 
 

Mr. Kennedy commented on fiscal restraints and presentation of the budget to the 
County Council.  Ms. Hoffman stated BCPS needs allies from the State legislature and 
stakeholder groups.  BCPS needs to make its case to the County Council that public 
education is the most important service provided by the county.  She stated that 
government finds a way to pay for what it thinks is important. 
 

RECOGNITION OF ETHICS REVIEW PANEL, ADVISORY COUNCIL, AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE APPOINTMENTS FROM OCTOBER 19, 2004

Dr. Peccia recognized the following appointments at the October 19th meeting: 
 

� Meryl D. Burgin, Esq.,  Ethics Review Panel 
� Ms. Jasmine Shriver Central Area Advisory Council member 
� Ms. Anne Ertel Central Area Advisory Council Student member 
� Mr. Franklin Curnoles Manager, Office of Student Data 
� Dr. Beverly Pish  Coordinator of Testing, Office of Accountability,   

 Research and Testing 
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REPORTS

The Board received the following reports: 
 
A. Recognition of the Board of Education proclaiming November 17, 2004 as 

Educational Support Personnel Day.  
 
B. September 30, 2004 Official Enrollment and Projection Comparison –

Through a PowerPoint™, Mr. Don Dent, Executive Director of Planning and 
Operations, discussed official enrollment for the 2004-2005 school year including 
historical, administrative, and grade level enrollment projections.  Mr. Dent stated 
that countywide enrollment as of 9/30/04 is 108,015 students.  He noted that 
BCPS is beyond the Performance Indicator Goal 8.6 as outlined in the Blue Print 
for Progress of 99% by 0.11%.  The enrollment results support the recently-
approved capital budget recommendations and its appropriate priorities. 

 
With regards to the next steps, Mr. Dent noted that the Office of Strategic 
Planning would meet with each area Executive Director to discuss enrollments, 
projection, capacity, and proposed overcrowding solutions.   
 
Mr. Kennedy asked whether county money is based on enrollment projections.  
Ms. Barbara Burnopp, Executive Director of Fiscal Services, responded county 
revenues do not change for the current year.  She stated staffing formulas for 
future years could change but may not necessarily decrease. 
 
Dr. Hayman commented that enrollment projections and actuals have a direct 
impact on staffing.  He articulated some of the concerns expressed to him by PTA 
presidents and administrators—some schools are still lacking appropriate staff 
and the projections do not take into consideration the issues at individual schools.  
Regarding the next steps, Dr. Hayman noted principals have stated to him they are 
not directly involved in the staffing process. With regards to staffing, Dr. Hayman 
again requested a report on the staffing process.   
 
Mr. Sasiadek noted that staffing is covered under Performance Goal #3 as part of 
the Superintendent’s and Board’s priorities for this school year. 
 
Dr. Hayman responded that the issue is individuals not adhering to priorities.  He 
noted the need to band together to support the Superintendent’s priorities and deal 
with those individuals not closing the loop holes. 
 

PERSONNEL MATTERS

On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved the personnel 
matters as presented on Exhibits C, D, E, and F.  (Copies of the exhibits are attached to the 
formal minutes.) 
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CONTRACT AWARDS

On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved items 1, 2, 8, 
and 9.  Ms. Shillman separated 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.  Mr. Janssen separated 4, 5, and 6 (Exhibit G).  
 

1. Academic Intervention Programs and Extended Day/Extended Year Programs 
– Elementary Reading 

2. Academic Intervention Programs and Extended Day/Extended Year Programs 
- Mathematics 

8. Software for Financial Data and Reporting of School Activity Funds 
 
9. Trash Can Liners 

 
Item #3

Ms. Shillman asked whether the cost includes the labor, installation, and possible service.  
Mr. Gay responded affirmative.  All computers are configured to meet BCPS criteria for 
networking and software. 

 
On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved item 3. 
 

3. Cafeteria Computer Replacement  
 

Item #4

Ms. Shillman inquired about the terms of the contract.  Mr. Gay stated this is a continuing 
evaluation of this project, which is required by the grant. 

 
Mr. Janssen questioned the accuracy and integrity of the data.  Ms. Jane Lichter, 

Coordinator of Early Childhood, responded the center has several outside partners that assist 
with different services to parents and to communities.  Data comes from several different sources 
rather than from one evaluation.  Mr. Janssen requested a list of those members on the steering 
and subcommittees.     

 
On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved item 4.  

 
4. Consulting Contract for Independent Evaluation of the Judy Center at 

Campfield Early Learning Center 
 

Item #5

Ms. Shillman asked whether the bid price was based on possible resale of the equipment.  
Mr. Gay responded that most of the equipment would be recycled and pricing would be based on 
recycling of the materials.  

 
Mr. Janssen asked how BCPS can be assured that the data on the hard drives are not 

recoverable.  Mr. Gay responded the hard drives are cleaned, removed, and shredded. 
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Item #5 (cont)

On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Mr. Janssen, the Board approved item 5.   
 

5. Disposal of Electronic Goods 
 

Item #6

Ms. Shillman asked for clarification of the contract.  Mr. Gay responded this is computer 
networking equipment that is available to BCPS through the Government Services 
Administration’s (GSA) contract. 

 
Mr. Janssen inquired as to whether there is any guarantee this company would be in 

business in the next one or two years.  Mr. Gay responded there is no guarantee. 
 
On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved item 6. 
 

6. General Purpose Commercial Information Technology Equipment  
 

Item #7

Ms. Shillman inquired about the term of the contract.  Mr. Gay responded this is a 15 
year contract.  He stated that the main number that is of consequence is the Annual Accumulated 
Maintenance Range.  The maintenance portion of the contract is based on CPI plus 2% with a 
cap at 6%.   

 
On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved item 7. 
 

7. Human Resources/Financial Management System – Enterprise Software 
Upgrade  

 

BUILDING COMMITTEE

The Building Committee, represented by Mr. Kennedy, recommended approval of items 
1-3 (Exhibits H, I and K).  The Board approved items 1 and 2 (Exhibits H and I).  Ms. Shillman 
opposed item #2 (Exhibit I).  Mr. Janssen separated item #3 (Exhibit K). 
 

1. Award of Contract – Emergency Well Drilling at Sparks Elementary School  

2. Award of Contract – Construction Pavilion at New Town High School 
 

With regards to the design and relocation of the electric lines and utility poles, Mr. 
Janssen asked whether there has been any betterment determination on this cost.  Mr. Cassell 
responded the cost has been programmed into this project.  Mr. Cassell stated BGE would be 
completing the work and relocating the lines.  
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BUILDING COMMITTEE (cont)

The Board approved item 3 (Exhibit K).  Mr. Janssen opposed item #3 (Exhibit K). 

3. Award of Contract - Relocation of Overhead Electric Service at Windsor Mill 
Middle School 

 

OPERATING BUDGET SUPPLEMENT

On motion of Mr. Arnold, seconded by Mr. Kennedy, the Board approved a $1,508,794 
supplement of County revenue for FY2005.  These funds are available from Baltimore County 
Public Schools’ prior year fund balance and will be used for start-up costs for Woodholme 
Elementary and to accelerate computer replacement in the schools.     

 

BUDGET APPROPRIATION TRANSFER

On motion of Mr. Kennedy, seconded by Dr. Hayman, the Board approved a budget 
appropriation transfer in the amount of $2,840,000 to be used for field repairs at New Town High 
School, environmental remediation projects, and design work for the Kenwood High School 
renovation/addition. 
 

INFORMATION

The Board received the following as information: 

A. Financial Report for Months Ending September 30, 2003 and 2004 

B. Rule 5150 “Shared Domicile Disclosure” Form 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Mr. Sasiadek made the following announcements: 
 

• On Wednesday, November 10, 2004, the Citizens’ Advisory Committee on Gifted 
and Talented Education will conduct a special session entitled “GT Middle School 
Survival Guide.”  The meeting will be held at Loch Raven High school beginning at 
7:30 p.m. 

 
• On Thursday, November 11, 2004 the Central Area Educational Advisory Council 

will meet at Loch Raven High School beginning at 7:30 p.m. 
 
• The High School Honors Music Concert will be held at the Joseph A. Meyerhoff 

Symphony Hall on Monday, November 15, 2004 at 7:30 p.m.  This year’s concert 
features 285 students from 14 high schools. 
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ANNOUNCEMENTS (cont)

• On Tuesday, November 16, 2004 the Board of Education’s Fall Recognition 
Ceremony will be held at Cockeysville Middle School beginning at 7:00 p.m. 

 
• The Southeast Area Educational Advisory Council will meet on Tuesday, November 

16, 2004 at General John Stricker Middle School beginning at 7:30 p.m. 
 
• The Northeast Area Educational Advisory Council will meet on Thursday, November 

18, 2004 at Harford Hills Elementary School beginning at 6:30 p.m. 

• The Board of Education will host the Baltimore County Education Coalition for 
dinner on Thursday, November 18, 2004 from 6:00 – 7:30 p.m. at Greenwood. 

 
• The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Education of Baltimore County 

will be held on Tuesday, November 23, 2004, at Greenwood.  The meeting will begin 
with an open session at approximately 5:30 p.m.  After the Board adjourns to meet in 
closed session, followed by a brief dinner recess, the open meeting will reconvene at 
approximately 7:30 p.m.  The public is welcome at all open sessions.  The Board will 
host the Career & Technology Educational Advisory Group for dinner on November 
23rd from 6:00 – 7:30 p.m. 

 
Mr. Sasiadek reminded speakers to refrain from discussing any matters that might come 

before the board in the form of an appeal, as well as any personnel matters. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT

Mr. Louis Kaplan asked the Board to consider redistricting his community so that their 
children can be assigned to Fort Garrison Elementary School rather than their assigned school, 
Wellwood Elementary School.  He offered reasons why Fort Garrison should be their area’s 
assigned school.   
 

Mr. Lloyd Blumenfeld reiterated Mr. Kaplan’s comments.   
 

Ms. Denisha Pendleton, parent of a student at Southwest Academy, expressed concerned 
over school performance and the disproportionate number of conditional teachers assigned to the 
school.  She stated there are not enough resources and teachers for the 1,400 students.  Ms. 
Pendleton is asking for resources for this school. 
 

Ms. Susan Chaudron, parent of a student at Pine Grove Elementary School, shared her 
concern with safety issues at school bus stops.  Due to the issue being a possible personnel 
matter, Mr. Sasiadek asked the speaker not to discuss the issue. 
 

Ms. Judy Edgar, Principal of Catonsville Center for Alternative Studies, invited the 
Board to attend their 12th Annual Thanksgiving luncheon on November 24, 2004 at 11:30 a.m. 
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PUBLIC COMMENTS (cont)

Mr. Jameel Mohammad asked that schools be closed for two Islamic holidays. 
 

Dr. Bash Pharoan asked the Board to recognize the two Muslim holidays. 
 

Ms. Marilyn Ryan expressed concern that the Baltimore County Music Educators Wind 
Symphony held at Parkville High School did not receive the publicity it deserves.  She requested 
that events such as this be publicized so that people can see the caliber of teachers in Baltimore 
County.  
 

ADJOURNMENT

At 9:49 p.m., Mr. Kennedy moved to adjourn the open session.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Hayden and approved by the Board. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

___________________ 
 Joe A. Hairston 
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 

bls 
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September 30, 2004 
 

Members of the Board of Education: 
 
In compliance with the Public School Laws of the State of Maryland, the Division of 
Business Services (the Division) publishes the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of 
the Board of Education of Baltimore County (the Board).  The responsibility for both the 
accuracy of the presented data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation rests 
with the management of the Baltimore County Public Schools.  We believe the data as 
presented are accurate in all material aspects and that they are presented in a manner 
designed to set forth the financial position and results of operations of the Board as measured 
by the financial activity. 
 
All matters relating to education and operations in the Baltimore County Public Schools are 
governed and controlled by the Board, as provided by the Public School Laws of Maryland.  
The Board has the responsibility to maintain a reasonable, uniform system of public schools 
providing quality education for all young people of Baltimore County.  With the advice of 
the Superintendent, the Board establishes schools and determines the geographical 
attendance areas for them.  Upon recommendation of the Superintendent, the Board approves 
education policy and prescribes the rules and regulations for the management and conduct of 
the school system.  The activities, funds, and entities related to the Baltimore County Public 
Schools included in this Comprehensive Annual Financial Report are those in which the 
Board exercises oversight responsibility.  
 
All funds and accounts of the Board are included in this Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report.  For financial reporting purposes, the Board has been defined as a component unit of 
the Baltimore County Government.  Therefore, the Board is included in the Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report of Baltimore County.  This Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report is presented in three sections: introductory, financial, and statistical.  The introductory 
section includes a list of principal officials, the organization chart of the Baltimore County 
Public Schools, and this transmittal letter. The financial section includes the independent 
auditors’ report, management’s discussion and analysis, and the basic financial statements.  
The statistical section includes selected financial and demographic information, generally 
presented on a multi-year basis. 
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Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) require that management provide a 
narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in 
the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is 
designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The Board’s 
MD&A can be found at the beginning of the Financial Section. 
 
The report is available to all interested parties.  Copies are forwarded to Board members, the 
Superintendent’s staff, appropriate officials of the State of Maryland and Baltimore County, 
all of the schools and their related parent-teacher-student associations, and libraries.  Copies 
are also distributed to other school districts, individuals, and organizations upon request. 
 
 
THE REPORTING ENTITY AND ITS SERVICES 
 
The Baltimore County Public Schools ranks as the twenty-third largest school system in the 
United States.  The school system covers 640 square miles in the north central part of the 
state and combines urban, suburban, and business regions with vast farmland and waterfront 
areas.  The school system reflects this diversity in the student population of 108,792 students, 
preK – 12. 

 
During the 2003-2004 school year, the Baltimore County Public Schools operated 163 
schools.  One hundred three elementary schools served the needs of children in grades preK 
– 5.  An additional 26 middle schools served students in grades 6 – 8.  Baltimore County’s 25 
high schools served students in grades 9 – 12.  Four alternative schools served both middle 
and high school children, and five special schools served handicapped children of various 
ages.  The school system offered a variety of services to students and their parents through 
guidance counselors, nurses, psychologists, and pupil personnel workers.  For students with 
special needs, an extensive special education program provided services on preschool, 
elementary, middle, and high school instructional levels through neighborhood schools and 
five special education schools.  This extensive special education program places students 
with special needs in the least restrictive environment.  Technology education, gifted and 
talented programs, English for Speakers of Other Languages, and 27 magnet schools were 
available throughout the County for students with special needs and interests. 
 
 
MAJOR INITIATIVES 
 
Blueprint for Progress and the Master Plan 
 
As a public educational system, our vision is to produce graduates who have the content 
knowledge, skills, and attitudes to reach their full potential as responsible, productive 
citizens.  The Baltimore County Public Schools believes that all students can and will learn 
and achieve when the necessary conditions for that learning are provided: a rigorous 
curriculum, highly qualified teachers, and proven strategies for learning.  While student 
success ultimately depends on the individual, it is the relationship between and among 
teacher, child, and parent that will provide the supportive environment necessary for high 
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achievement.  The continuing commitment of the school system in support of this 
relationship will have a significant effect on ensuring that all students succeed at high levels.  
 
The Blueprint for Progress, which is aligned with the Maryland Bridge to Excellence Act and 
serves as the framework for the Baltimore County Public Schools Master Plan, sets forth a 
number of performance goals and specific performance indicators for each goal.  These goals 
and indicators are the concrete, measurable statements of the expectations we have for all 
students in the Baltimore County Public Schools.  Taken as a whole, these goals, which 
include the five Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) goals, and performance 
indicators, are an overview of the standards that will be used to measure student achievement 
and define school system accountability for that achievement.  Rather than focus on specific 
achievement gaps in the strategies, the Blueprint for Progress establishes that the school 
system is accountable for meeting these high standards for all students.  Taken literally, “all 
means all,” and achievement gaps among student subgroups will cease to exist when all 
students are meeting the established standards.  
 
As an educational system, what do we want for our children?  We want all students to reach 
high academic standards, to meet the state and local proficiency levels established for 
reading/language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies, and to graduate from high 
school well prepared for further education, a meaningful career, and a productive life.  We 
want all students to be taught by highly qualified teachers and to be educated in school 
environments that are safe and conducive to learning.  Above all, we want every student to 
receive a quality education.  To reach these challenging goals, we commit to engaging 
stakeholders in the educational and decision-making processes and to using our resources 
effectively and efficiently in the delivery of services that support our core business: teaching 
and learning. 
 
 
For the Year 
 
The Baltimore County Public Schools (BCPS) continues to focus on clear and measurable 
goals, the first and most important of which is improving achievement for all students.  A 
variety of measures are used to determine our progress toward this goal.  We are proud that 
as a result of the hard work, focus, and determination of our students, teachers, and 
administrators and the support of parents, community, and elected officials, the Baltimore 
County Public Schools continues to make steady and significant progress. 
 
The following represent some of Baltimore County Public Schools’ achievement highlights: 
 

 The combined verbal and math SAT average for the class of 2003, reported in 2004, 
was 1034, exceeding the state average by 10 points. 

 
 2,688  high school students took 5,433 Advanced Placement exams, compared to 

1,689 students taking 2,863 exams five years ago. 
 

 BCPS magnet schools served over 12,000 students in 47 different programs. 
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 BCPS has more than 14,800 employees including 7,698 teachers, making it one of the 

largest employers in the region. 
 

 BCPS has more than 19,500 volunteers supporting student achievement. 
 
This sustained progress is made possible because of a systemwide focus on student 
achievement.  As a results-oriented organization, BCPS strives to make every aspect and 
function of the school system aligned with efforts to improve student achievement.  The 
citizens of Baltimore County expect nothing less than a quality education for all children. 
 
 
Capital Facilities  
 
Baltimore County Public Schools has 163 school buildings, 80% of which were constructed 
before 1970.  Maintenance efforts over the years have not kept pace with the growing needs 
of aging schools.  In September 1998, Perks-Reutter Associates presented their findings on 
97 of the 101 existing elementary schools (excludes 4 newer schools).  The report 
categorized the needs by life expectancy: 0 to 4 years, 5 to 9 years, and more than 10 years.  
To address all the deficiencies identified in the 0 to 4 years category, the cost was estimated 
at that time to be $243 million.  In March 1999, Perks-Reutter Associates reported on the 
conditions of all special and alternative schools, middle, and high schools. The cost to 
address the 0 to 4 years needs was estimated at that time to be a total of $317 million. Since 
that time, a primary focus of the capital budget program has been to address these identified 
deficiencies.  To date, renovation work at 97 elementary schools, and 3 special schools has 
been completed.  Renovations at many of the county’s 26 middle schools are nearing 
completion or in progress.  

 
More than 300 construction and building projects, including major renovations and 
modernizations at various county elementary, middle, and high schools were underway in 
Baltimore County schools during fiscal year 2004, the largest such school construction 
program in Maryland.  In addition to renovations to school plumbing, electrical, ventilation, 
heating, and cooling systems, the work consists of improvements to cafeterias, media centers, 
computer systems, security systems, and other areas.   

 
Among the most prominent projects underway during the summer of 2004 were construction 
of both Woodholme Elementary School and Windsor Mill Middle School. Woodholme, 
which will open to students in 2005, is designed to accommodate 720 students and is 
projected to cost $15.2 million. Windsor Mill, which is scheduled for completion in 2006, 
will feature more than 30 classrooms, a fine arts wing, media center, gymnasium, and 
cafeteria/auditorium. 
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For the Future 
 
The Baltimore County Public Schools will remain focused on quality and committed to 
excellence.  Our three major goals are to improve achievement for all students, to maintain a 
safe and orderly learning environment in every school, and to use resources effectively and 
efficiently.  
  
The Master Plan is the vehicle for BCPS to focus its efforts and continue to assure equity and 
adequacy of resources by linking resources to students’ needs.  The results will be 
accelerated student achievement, the elimination of all student performance gaps, and 
graduates who meet high standards and have the knowledge, skills, and attitudes to reach 
their potential in our multicultural society and global economy.  
 
 
Student, Staff, and System Achievements 
 

 The Maryland State Department of Education (MSDE) awarded Eastern Technical 
High student Anna Mayr with the prestigious Service Star Award for her service to 
underprivileged residents in the Dominican Republic, where she recently helped build 
classrooms and teach lessons.   

 
 Teachers William Barnes of New Town High School and Jonathan Roland of Perry 

Hall High School were recognized as the winners of the 2003 Presidential Awards for 
Excellence in Mathematics and Science Teaching (PAEMST) by the National 
Science Foundation (NSF), the nation's highest commendation for work in the 
classroom.   

 
 Carroll Manor Elementary was named a Maryland Blue Ribbon School in 2004 and is 

being considered by the U.S. Department of Education for the National Blue Ribbon 
School award. 

 
 Woodbridge Elementary School instrumental music teacher Linda Bange had her 

music – including 39 original pieces for band and string orchestra – published by 
Masterworks Press in Olympia, Washington.  The publisher uses a name coined by 
Bange for her work -- “Instant Success” music -- and has created a special catalog to 
showcase her music to thousands of music educators.   

 
 A profile of Woodlawn High School’s Summer Robotics Camp was published in the 

federal Congressional Record.  Because of this accomplishment, Woodlawn’s 2004 
summer program included not only a robotics camp but also additional camps in 
environmental science and forensics. 

 
 The 42nd Annual United States Senate Youth Program (USSYP) has selected 

Nicholas Camp from Catonsville High School and Daniel Levitt from Towson High 
School as delegates to spend a week in Washington experiencing national 
government in action.   
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 Hernwood Elementary School’s technology teacher, Connie Klima, and mentor 
Debra Zucker won Best Buy’s Technology Grant for Elementary Schools contest and 
earned the school a check for $2,500 towards technology items from Best Buy.   

 
 The Baltimore Symphony Orchestra and the BCPS presented a "Side By Side" 

concert featuring 42 high school music students and symphony members at 
Baltimore’s Meyerhoff Symphony Hall.  The students were selected from a highly 
competitive audition process as members of BCPS honors band and orchestra. 
Students also participated in master classes with members of the BSO.   

 
 The dance programs at Carver Center for the Arts and Patapsco High School and 

Center for the Arts were accepted into the National High School Dance Festival in 
Philadelphia. 

 
 The American Scholastic Press Association (ASPA) recently recognized Woodlawn 

High School’s literary magazine, Wawoyaka, with a First Place Award. 
 

 Lutherville Laboratory was named a 2004 Maryland Green School and was honored 
with a Green School flag and a Governor's Citation.   

 
 Citigroup named Lansdowne High senior Matthew Cooper as a Citigroup Scholar and 

awarded him a $20,000 college scholarship.  Cooper was an Academy of Finance 
student at Lansdowne. 

 
 Through the school year, Sollers Point Technical High School saw more than 650 

students participate in off-campus work experiences.  The students experienced work 
situations at some of Baltimore’s most prestigious and influential corporations and 
businesses.   

 
 Baltimore County middle school students completed the first session of an innovative 

training program designed to teach them how to put computers together, troubleshoot 
hardware problems, load software, and navigate the Internet. Thanks to the Dell™ 
TechKnow program in Baltimore, 80 students from Woodlawn and Lansdowne 
Middle Schools participated in camps at Catonsville High School. BCPS is one of 
more than 20 districts nationwide to participate in the program.  

 
Awards 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Baltimore 
County Public Schools for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2003.  This was the eighth consecutive year that the Board has achieved 
this prestigious award.  
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In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an 
easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report.  This report 
must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.  
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe our current 
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program’s requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for 
another certificate. 
 
The Association of School Business Officials (ASBO) International has awarded a 
Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting to Baltimore County Public Schools for its 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.  The 
Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting is the highest form of recognition in school 
system financial reporting issued by ASBO International.  We believe our current report 
continues to conform to the Certificate of Excellence program requirements and we are 
submitting it to ASBO for consideration. 
 
 
ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK 
 
Baltimore County, with a population of 754,292 contributes 418,046 workers to the region’s 
labor force.  Baltimore County continues to claim the largest civilian labor force in the 
Metropolitan Area and the third largest in the State behind Montgomery and Prince George’s 
Counties. The County’s economy is highly integrated with those of the other jurisdictions in 
the region, as evidenced by the significant degree of inter-jurisdictional commuting.  Of 
Baltimore County residents 16 years or older, 47.3% -nearly half of the County’s workforce 
– work outside of the County.  At the same time, approximately 151,500 or 42% of jobs 
located in Baltimore County are filled by County non-residents. 
 
Baltimore County’s unemployment rate for calendar year 2004 (through May) was 4.4%  –  
remaining near historic lows and below the Baltimore Metropolitan Area unemployment rate 
of 4.6%.   
 
From 1992 to 2003, employment in Baltimore County increased by 49,749 jobs.  Although 
employment growth was modest 2000-2003, substantial increase in employment in the 
previous years makes Baltimore County a leader in the State of Maryland employment 
growth. 
 
With 31% of the population 25 or older holding a bachelors degree or higher, Baltimore 
County continues to be a major positive economic development attraction for many business 
sectors.  Other opportunities include maximizing the impact of successful technology 
clusters, such as: 
 

 Pharmaceuticals and medical manufacturing, led by BD Diagnostics, the largest 
bioscience employer in the State of Maryland.  
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 Interactive digital entertainment, led by the largest cluster of digital/computer game 
developers on the East Coast. 

 
 Information technology and operations centers led by the headquarters of the Social 

Security Administration and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid. 
 
Baltimore County enjoys an extremely diverse economic base, ranging from heavy 
concentrations in traditional primary industries to a large spectrum of high-technology 
sectors.  The County’s 20,000 businesses employ more than 356,000 workers.  Major private 
sector employers include the Greater Baltimore Medical Center, International Steel Group, 
Franklin Square Hospital, McCormick & Company, CareFirst BlueCross & BlueShield, T. 
Rowe Price, Towson University, BD Diagnostics, University of Maryland Baltimore County, 
Lockheed Martin, Solo Cup, MBNA, Black and Decker world headquarters, UPS, AAI, 
Procter & Gamble Cosmetics & Fragrance Division headquarters, St. Paul Travelers, Middle 
River Aircraft Systems, and Alpharma U.S.P.D.  The Social Security Administration and The 
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid headquarters together employ over 13,000 persons. 
 
Service industries compromise nearly 70% of County employment with trade, transportation 
and utilities industries, the largest services component, accounting for 20% of total 
employment.  Over the last decade, the professional and business services, education and 
health services, and financial activities have been the fastest growing sectors of the County 
economy. 
 
Baltimore County’s high level of retail activity is the result of its prime regional shopping 
centers and centralized location within the Baltimore Region.  The County supports six major 
regional malls within its borders.  Baltimore County has a per capita retail sale of over 
$16,173; compared to the State, $12,872, and the Baltimore Metro Area, $ 13,115. 
 
In fiscal 2004, major economic development activity includes: 
 

 International Steel Group (ISG) purchased Bethlehem Steel for approximately $1.5 
billion in May 2003.  The Baltimore County plant at Sparrow Point continues to 
produce approximately four million tons of steel annually, including all pre-existing 
product lines.  In 2003, ISG signed new contracts with the United Steelworkers of 
America, assuring labor stability as the company institutes efficiencies to compete in 
the global steel market.  The Pension Benefit Guarantee Corporation (PBGC), a 
federal corporation, assumed responsibility for pension benefits to Bethlehem Steel 
workers and retirees.  

 
Currently, ISG Sparrows Point Division employs approximately 2,300 persons. ISG 
is now the second largest integrated steel producer in North America, based on 
steelmaking capacity. Proceeds from ISG’s initial public offering in December, 2003 
total $531.3 million. 

 
 In 2003, Industrial Realty Group (IRG) of Los Angeles signed a long-term master 

lease to redevelop 89 acres of industrial-zoned land as the Colgate Business Park. In 
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December 2003, IRG announced Weyerhauser and Baltimore Packaging as the first 
two tenants. The site has been vacant since 1998, when Avesta Sheffield closed its 
stainless steel processing plant. Baltimore County immediately applied to the State to 
include the site in the North Point Enterprise Zone, adding significant State tax credit 
incentives for redevelopment. 

 
 PHH Arval, an international fleet management company headquartered in Hunt 

Valley, moved into a new $35 million, 220,000 square foot headquarters at The 
Highlands in Sparks. The company will hire 200 additional employees over the next 
three years, bringing total employment to 1,200 by 2005. 

 
 Erwin L. Greenberg and Associates purchased and began a $35 million renovation of 

Hunt Valley Mall. Demolition has begun on portions of the aging shopping center. It 
will be transformed into a Town Center, anchored by Maryland’s first Wegmans, a 
130,000 square foot upscale grocer, plus upscale shops, restaurants, and an open 
plaza.  

 
 The University of Maryland Baltimore County (UMBC) is developing a 41-acre, 

342,000 square foot research and technology park, known as bwtech@UMBC. This 
center will be less than one mile from techcenter@UMBC, a fully-leased technology 
incubator, and the UMBC campus. Together these resources create a critical mass of 
technology research and development in Baltimore County.  Marketing efforts draw 
on UMBC's international reputation as a research institution and location of the 
facilities near Interstate 95, Baltimore Washington International Airport, and the 
Baltimore-Washington technology corridor.   

 
The facility offers existing and new companies a setting for research and 
development in such fields as photonics, biotechnology, and computer software 
development.  In December 2003, the County applied for and received an expansion 
and recertification of the Southwest Enterprise Zone to include  bwtech@UMBC.  
Construction of the second building is under way as a multi-tenant office/lab 
building. 

 
 St. Paul Travelers Companies has leased 150,000 square feet in Hunt Valley to house 

its 700 Baltimore-area employees.  A vacant manufacturing building is currently 
being renovated to accommodate the insurance company’s move. The project 
represents a capital investment of $16 million. 

 
 Euler Hermes, the world's largest international credit insurer, has relocated its United 

States headquarters to Redbrook Financial Center in Owing Mills.  The company has 
leased 60,000 square feet of office space and has 180 employees. 

 
 Johns Hopkins Medical System is expanding at its White Marsh location.  The 

additional 43,000 square foot facility will house orthopedics and rehabilitation 
facilities, urgent care, a pharmacy, and a deli.  The 43,000 square foot facility will be 
added to the existing building and employ an additional 120 employees. 



BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
                Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent                                 6901 Charles St.  Towson, Md. 21204-3711 

 12

 
 A & A Global Industries, a manufacturer and distributor of bulk vending machines 

and supplies, moved to a new facility in Cockeysville.  The new 230,000 square foot 
building represents a capital investment exceeding $8 million and retaining 225 jobs 
in Baltimore County. 

 
 Barletta Willis purchased the assets of the bankrupt Baltimore Marine Industries on 

the Sparrow Point Peninsula.  The Boston-based investor group plans to develop the 
site as the Sparrows Point Industrial Complex taking advantage of the deepwater 
access and the existing shipyards. 

 
 Paychex, the payroll processing company, signed a lease for space in Red Run 

Corporate Center.  The new space will allow for expansion. Paychex currently has 
140 employees. 

    
  
FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Cash Management 
 
The Baltimore County Public Schools employs an investment procedure whereby all funds 
are deposited into a single operating bank account.  Cash transactions are accounted for by 
fund.  Based on daily balance requirements, the excess money is used to invest in the Local 
Government Investment Pool, a money market mutual fund with Fidelity Investments 
Institutional Services, or a U.S. Government money market fund through a sweep process 
with M&T Bank.  In fiscal year 2004, the average interest rate earned on investments was 
1%. 
 
The procedure utilizes a concentration bank, chosen through competitive bidding, which 
enables the school system to maintain zero balance bank accounts by paying checks when 
presented to that bank. 
 
The school system’s investment policies are governed by State statutes.  In addition, the 
Board has its own investment policies and procedures.  The Baltimore County Public 
Schools’ funds must be deposited in federally insured banks located within the State.  The 
school system is authorized to use demand accounts and certificates of deposit.  Other 
permissible investments include obligations of the United States Treasury, obligations of 
various agencies of the United States, investments with the Maryland Local Government 
Investment Pool, and repurchase agreements.  The school system does not invest in 
derivatives, which is a security whose value is derived from the value of another security.  
Investment instruments are purchased from banks located within the State or from 
investment brokers who are members of the New York Stock Exchange.  
 
The Board of Education of Baltimore County Employee Benefit Plan (Employee Benefit 
Plan) is a private tax exempt trust created under Section 501 (C) (9) of the Internal Revenue 
Code.  As such, its investments are not restricted by State statutes.  The Board-adopted plan 
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investment policy allows investments in U.S. Government and Agency obligations, money 
market mutual funds, SEC registered mutual funds, and equities.  The investment policy of 
the trustee restricts the use of derivatives in the trust. 
 
 
Budgeting and Accounting Controls  
 
The management of the Baltimore County Public Schools maintains a system of budgeting 
and accounting controls designed to assist management in meeting its responsibilities for 
reporting reliable financial information. The system is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed and recorded with 
management’s authorization. Internal control systems are subject to inherent limitations with 
regard to the necessity of balancing costs against the benefits produced. Management 
believes that the existing system of budgeting and accounting controls provides reasonable 
assurance that errors or irregularities that could be material to the financial statements are 
prevented or would be detected within a timely period. During the year, interim financial 
reports are prepared and distributed to the Board and school system administrators. Account 
managers are responsible for assuring that planned expenditures are within remaining 
appropriation balances delineated by category and object of expenditure and, in some cases, 
by location.  
 
Risk Management 
 
The Board is exposed to many types of loss risk due to theft, damage to property, lawsuits, 
and employee benefits.  The Board participates in the Baltimore County Government self-
insured program for employee and retiree health, dental, and workers’ compensation 
insurance.  Casualty, property, and other liability insurance is provided through a self-insured 
pool with other boards of education within the State of Maryland, which is administered by 
the Maryland Association of Boards of Education (MABE), a public entity risk pool.  Both 
the County and MABE limit exposure through the procurement of excess liability coverage 
from commercial insurers.  The Board also carries Catastrophic Student Accident insurance.  
 
The Board operates over 660 bus routes daily, transporting thousands of students to and from 
163 different schools.  The Board attempts to prevent accidents through bus driver screening 
and training programs.  These programs include compliance with U.S. Department of 
Transportation drug testing requirements, mandatory annual six hour in-service training, 
follow-up training after accidents, and emergency evacuation procedures training.  
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 
Board of Education of Baltimore County 
Towson, Maryland: 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activity, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Board of Education of Baltimore County (Board), a component unit of Baltimore County, 
Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2004, which collectively comprise the basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Board’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activity, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Board of Education of 
Baltimore County, as of June 30, 2004, and the respective changes in its financial position and 
cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the general 
fund and the special revenue fund for the year then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
As described in Note 1 to the basic financial statements, the Board adopted Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 40 Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, 
effective July 1, 2003. 
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KPMG LLP, is a U.S. limited liability partnership, is the U.S. 
member of KPMG international, a Swiss cooperative. 



 

The management’s discussion and analysis listed in the table of contents is not a required part of 
the basic financial statements but is supplementary information required by accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited 
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not 
audit the information and express no opinion on it.  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Board’s basic financial statements. The introductory section and 
statistical tables listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  The Statement of Changes in Assets 
and Liabilities- Agency Fund has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.   The introductory section and 
statistical tables listed in the table of contents have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on 
them. 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated 
September 27, 2004 on our consideration of the Board’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and 
grants agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.    
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 
 

 
 
September 27, 2004 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

As management of the Baltimore County Public Schools, we offer the readers of the Board of 
Education (the Board) of Baltimore County’s financial statements this narrative overview 
and analysis of the financial activities of the Board for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004. 
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis, financial statements, and related notes are the 
responsibility of management. We encourage readers to consider the information presented 
here in conjunction with the Board’s basic financial statements which follow. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Board’s basic 
financial statements. The Board’s basic financial statements include four components:  1) 
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, 3) budget to actual 
financial statements, and 4) notes to the financial statements.  
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The basic financial statements include three kinds of financial statements that present 
different views of the Board – the Government-wide Financial Statements (pages 38 and 39), 
the Fund Financial Statements (pages 40, 42, and 46-50), and the Budget to Actual Financial 
Statements (pages 44 and 45). These financial statements also include the Notes to the Basic 
Financial Statements (pages 51-72) that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detail. 
 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The Board’s government-wide financial statements provide a broad view of the Board’s 
operations in a manner similar to a private sector business enterprise. The statements provide 
both short-term and long-term information about the Board’s financial position, which assists 
in assessing the Board’s economic condition at year end. They are prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting. These are methods similar to those used by most businesses. They take 
into account all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year even if the cash has not 
been received. The government-wide financial statements include two statements:  
 

The statement of net assets presents all of the Board’s assets and liabilities, with the 
difference between the two reported as “net assets.” The statement combines and 
consolidates all of the Board’s current financial resources (short-term spendable 
resources) with capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) and long-term liabilities, 
distinguishing between governmental and business-type activities. The end result is net 
assets segregated into three components: invested in capital assets net of related debt; 
restricted and unrestricted net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Board is improving or 
deteriorating.  
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the Board’s net assets 
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon 
as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some 
items that will not result in cash flows until future fiscal periods (such as earned but 
unused vacation leave). This statement also presents a comparison between direct 
expenses and program revenues for each function of the Board. The majority of the 
Board’s revenue is general revenue grants and contributions from other governments. 

 
Both of the above statements include separate sections to distinguish between those functions 
that are supported primarily by intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from 
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other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant part of their costs through fees 
and charges (business-type activities).  
 
The governmental activities of the Board include administration, mid-level administration, 
instruction, special education, student personnel services, health services, plant operations, 
maintenance of plant, student transportation, community services, and capital outlay.  These 
activities are mostly supported by County and State appropriations mandated in accordance 
with State law, and other State and Federal grants.  
 
The Board’s only business-type activity is the Food Service operation, which serves lunch at 
all Baltimore County Public Schools, and serves breakfast programs at many schools. The 
Food Service operation is primarily supported by charges for meals, donated Federal food 
commodities, and reimbursements in accordance with government food programs. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found immediately following this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  
 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements focus on Major Funds and on individual parts of the Board’s 
operations. All of the funds of the Board can be divided into three categories: governmental 
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, each of which use different accounting 
approaches and should be interpreted differently. The three categories are: 
 
 

Governmental Funds Financial Statements – Most of the basic services provided by the 
Board are accounted for in the governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to 
account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, 
the governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources. They also focus on balances of spendable resources at the end of the 
fiscal year. This approach is known as using the flow of current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide 
financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental 
funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-
wide financial statements. We describe the relationship (or differences) between 
governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Assets and Statement of 
Activities) and governmental funds in a reconciliation found on pages 41 and 43.  
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The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 40 and 42 of 
this report. 
 
 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements – Proprietary funds are used to show activities 
that operate more like those of commercial enterprises. Because these funds charge fees 
for services provided to outside customers, they are known as enterprise funds. 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail. Like the government-wide financial statements, 
proprietary fund financial statements use the accrual basis of accounting. Therefore, no 
reconciliation is needed between the government-wide financial statements for business-
type activities and the proprietary fund financial statements.  

 
The Board has one proprietary fund, the Food Service Enterprise Fund, which is 
considered a major fund for presentation purposes. The Food Service Enterprise Fund 
operates all the school cafeterias and provides breakfast and lunch to students and staff.  
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found immediately following the 
governmental fund financial statements on pages 46-48 of this report. 
 
 
Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements – The fiduciary funds are used to account for 
resources held for the benefit of parties outside the Board. Fiduciary funds are not 
included in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those 
funds are not available to support the Board’s own programs. Additionally, there is no 
analysis of the Board’s fiduciary funds included in this Management Discussion and 
Analysis. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary 
funds – the accrual basis of accounting.  
 
The Board’s fiduciary funds include the School Activity Agency Fund and the Employee 
Benefit Trust Fund. The school activity funds are primarily funds raised by students, for 
their benefit, which are held in trust by the Board. The Employee Benefit Trust Fund is a 
group life insurance plan to hold funds for employee voluntary life insurance.  
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found immediately following the 
proprietary fund financial statements on pages 49 and 50 of this report. They include the 
Fiduciary Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets. 
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Budget and Actual Financial Statements 
 
A Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual 
is presented for the General Fund and Special Revenue Fund – both of which have legally 
adopted annual budgets. These statements show both original and final adopted budgets, 
along with actual revenues and expenditures compared to the final budget. In these 
statements open encumbrances are treated as expenditures. The Statements of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual can be found immediately 
following the basic governmental fund financial statements on pages 44 and 45. 
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND ANALYSIS 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Board is a component unit of Baltimore County, Maryland, and is fiscally dependent on 
the Baltimore County Government and State of Maryland to appropriate funding for the 
Board. The Board receives 58% of its governmental activities funding from the County, and 
36% from the State. Additionally, the Board receives Federal entitlement grants and other 
competitive grants from the State and Federal governments. Essentially all of the Boards’ 
funding for governmental activities is derived from these sources. The Board has no authority 
to levy taxes or issue bonded debt. Accordingly, the financial condition of the Board is 
directly related to the financial condition of the funding authorities – the County and State. 
Any appropriated funds that are unspent at the end of a fiscal year must be re-appropriated by 
the County government in a subsequent fiscal year before they can be spent. Key financial 
highlights are as follows: 
 

• The Board’s net assets at the end of the fiscal year total $708 million, of which $699 
million is invested in capital assets net of related debt.  

• Net assets increased $37 million during the year, most of which is attributable to 
capital construction projects. The County and State governments fund these 
construction projects. The County government issues debt to finance school 
construction, however, it is debt of the County government, and therefore is not 
reported in the Board’s financial statements.  

• General revenues account for $874 million, 82% of all revenues. Program revenues in 
the form of charges for services, operating and capital grants, accounted for $191 
million or 18% of all revenues. 

• Business-type activity net assets ($7,650,067 as of the end of the fiscal year) 
decreased $282,543 during the year. Business type expenses exceeded revenue by 
$909,104. However, this deficit was offset by a transfer of $614,219 of capital assets 
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from governmental activities. The transfer included capital equipment for certain 
school cafeterias that was funded through capital projects. 

 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Net Assets   
 
As noted earlier, net assets over time may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position. In the case of the Board, assets exceeded liabilities by $708 million at the 
close of the most recent fiscal year.  
 
The most significant portion of the Board’s net assets (99%) reflect its investment in capital 
assets (land, buildings, vehicles, and equipment), net of related debt. The Board uses these 
assets to provide an education to the students of Baltimore County. Consequently, these 
assets are not liquid, nor available for future spending or liquidation of any liabilities. Any 
school buildings that are no longer used by the Board are returned to the County government, 
since the County is the primary funding source for school buildings. Because the Board has 
no authority to issue bonded debt, the only debt outstanding related to capital assets are 
capital leases for the purchase of vehicles (primarily school buses) and copiers. The County 
and/or State government may issue debt to finance school construction, however, it is not 
debt of the Board, and is not reported in these financial statements. Consequently, school 
buildings and construction in progress related to school buildings appear in the Board’s 
Statement of Net Assets, while any related outstanding debt issued by the County or State 
government does not. 
 
The schedule below presents the net assets of the Board’s governmental and business-type 
activities as of June 30, 2003 and 2004. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Current assets 65,378,359$       61,587,511$    708,110$          787,056$           66,086,469$        62,374,567$         
Capital assets 700,759,647       669,680,024    8,237,988         8,419,324          708,997,635        678,099,348         
     Total assets 766,138,006       731,267,535    8,946,098         9,206,380          775,084,104        740,473,915         
Current  liabilities 43,249,214         45,520,216      1,070,620         1,003,038          44,319,834          46,523,254           
Long-term liabilities 22,049,858         22,641,545      225,411            234,732             22,275,269          22,876,277           
     Total liabilities 65,299,072         68,161,761      1,296,031         1,237,770          66,595,103          69,399,531           
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,
     net of related debt 691,026,839       659,352,572    8,237,988         8,419,324          699,264,827        667,771,896         
Restricted 7,756,696           6,751,032        443,472            422,278             8,200,168            7,173,310             
Unrestricted (deficit) 2,055,399           (2,997,830)      (1,031,393)        (908,992)           1,024,006            (3,906,822)            
     Total net assets 700,838,934$     663,105,774$  7,650,067$       7,932,610$        708,489,001$      671,038,384$       

The Board of Education of Baltimore County's Net Assets

Governmental Business-type
TotalActivities Activities
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A small portion of the Board’s net assets (1%) represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used. The governmental activities restricted net 
assets result from grants where the resources must be used to carry out the intended purpose 
of the grantor. The restricted net assets of the business-type activity represent donated food 
commodities included in inventory of the Food Services operation. These commodities, 
received from the Federal government, must be used in the preparation of meals served to 
school children as mandated by the U. S. Department of Agriculture.  
 
 
Change in Net Assets  
 
The Board’s net assets increased $37 million. This is primarily because the Board receives 
intergovernmental capital grants and contributions (revenue) for school construction projects,  
yet has no corresponding liabilities. Additionally, most of the capital grants and contributions 
are capitalized as fixed assets. Accordingly, there is little current expense (i.e., depreciation) 
associated with this revenue. Also, since the Board is fiscally dependent on the County, State, 
and Federal governments, expenses closely match revenue, with the exception of timing 
differences in relation to when an expense is recognized. The funding governments 
appropriate funds to the Board, and the Board spends the funds to accomplish its goal of 
providing education to the children of Baltimore County. Any unspent funds are returned to 
the funding authorities and can be re-appropriated in subsequent fiscal years. 
 
The biggest difference between the current year and prior year change in net assets is related 
to capital construction projects. During fiscal year 2004 over $51 million of capital grants 
was received and spent on school construction and renovation projects, most of which is 
capitalized as fixed assets. The Board has been undertaking a significant phased systemic 
renovation and modernization program over the last few years. Fiscal year 2002 was the 
culmination of phase one, the largest phase, which included work at over 90 elementary 
schools. The subsequent phases, which are underway now, include fewer projects and 
schools, and accordingly, less expenditure. Accordingly, expenditures on capital construction 
projects fell from $109 million in fiscal year 2003, to $51 million in fiscal year 2004, and 
those expenditures capitalized as assets exceeded current year depreciation expense by more 
than $30 million. 
 
The schedule below shows the change in net assets for the Board’s governmental and 
business-type activities for the current and prior years.  
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2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services 760,215$                 1,106,240$            15,028,058$      14,840,256$      15,788,273$          15,946,496$          
Operating grants and contributions 108,881,395            127,571,596          14,857,464        13,847,206        123,738,859          141,418,802          
Capital grants and contributions 51,298,554              109,213,128          -                     -                     51,298,554            109,213,128          

General revenues:
Grants and contributions not
   restricted to certain programs 866,920,758            808,028,933          -                     -                     866,920,758          808,028,933          
Other 7,206,304                5,959,074              12,342               43,873               7,218,646              6,002,947              

Total revenues 1,035,067,226         1,051,878,971       29,897,864        28,731,335        1,064,965,090       1,080,610,306       

Expenses:
Administration 31,385,272              30,122,551            -                     -                     31,385,272            30,122,551            
Mid-level administration 79,959,923              77,999,357            -                     -                     79,959,923            77,999,357            
Instruction 564,490,688            542,517,774          -                     -                     564,490,688          542,517,774          
Student personnel services 7,624,553                7,192,998              -                     -                     7,624,553              7,192,998              
Health services 14,496,111              14,794,844            -                     -                     14,496,111            14,794,844            
Student transportation 45,010,546              43,232,218            -                     -                     45,010,546            43,232,218            
Operation of plant 71,793,980              68,402,143            -                     -                     71,793,980            68,402,143            
Maintenance of plant 21,727,587              22,717,006            -                     -                     21,727,587            22,717,006            
Special education 153,331,934            149,637,586          -                     -                     153,331,934          149,637,586          
Community services 392,493                   636,934                 -                     -                     392,493                 636,934                 
Capital outlay 6,267,347                641,023                 -                     -                     6,267,347              641,023                 
Interest on long-term debt 239,413                   149,757                 -                     -                     239,413                 149,757                 
Food services -                           -                         30,794,626        31,776,828        30,794,626            31,776,828            

Total expenses 996,719,847            958,044,191          30,794,626        31,776,828        1,027,514,473       989,821,019          
Increase (decrease) in net asssets 
   before transfers 38,347,379              93,834,780            (896,762)            (3,045,493)         37,450,617            90,789,287            
Transfers (614,219)                  (960,746)                614,219             960,746             -                         -                         
Change in net assets 37,733,160              92,874,034            (282,543)            (2,084,747)         37,450,617            90,789,287            
Net assets, beginning of year 663,105,774            570,231,740          7,932,610          10,017,357        671,038,384          580,249,097          
Net assets, end of year 700,838,934$          663,105,774$        7,650,067$        7,932,610$        708,489,001$        671,038,384$        

The Board of Education of Baltimore County's
Changes in Net Assets

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type
Activity Total



Board of Education of Baltimore County 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Year Ended June 30, 2004 

 

 
 

27

 
Governmental Activities  
 
Governmental activities account for all of the increase in net assets of the Board. Although 
revenues increased during the current year because of increased grant funding and formula 
driven mandatory County and State government appropriations, corresponding expenses 
increased proportionately. This occurs because of the Board’s funding model described in the 
Government-wide Highlights above. Essentially, all of the increase is because of investment 
in capital assets through the school construction program. The chart below presents the 
Board’s governmental activities revenue for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Governmental activities revenue decreased overall $17 million from fiscal year 2003 to fiscal 
year 2004. This is primarily because capital grants for school construction fell by $58 million 
because of fewer projects. This decrease in revenue is offset by an increase in grant funding 
from the State Bridge to Excellence Act which generated additional formula based revenues 
of $44 million.   
 

Governmental Activities - Revenue
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Grants and 

Contributions
10.5%Capital Grants 
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The graphs below represent the cost of each of the Board’s instructional programs, as well as 
the program revenues (primarily intergovernmental aid) generated by each activity. 
 

Governmental Activities 
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The following shows the cost of the Board’s major governmental activities programs and the 
corresponding program and general revenues: 
 

• The cost of all of the Board’s educational programs was $997 million.  
• Instructional and special education programs account for $718 million (72%). 
• School based and other instructional administration represents $80 million (8%). 
• General administration represents $31 million (3%). 
• Operation and maintenance of plant represents $94 million (9%). 
• Student transportation represents $45 million (5%). 
• Charges for services represents 1/10th of one percent of total expenses. 
• Total program revenues are $161 million – 16% of total expenses. 
• Capital grants and contributions ($51 million) represent 32% of total program 

revenues 
• Total general revenues are $874 million – 88% of total expenses. 

 
 
Business-type Activity 
 
The Board’s sole business-type activity is the Food Service Fund that serves meals to 
students in the schools. Revenues from fiscal year 2003 to fiscal 2004 increased $1,166,529 
(4.1%) primarily due to an increase in federal and state reimbursements under the free and 
reduced meal program and donated federal food commodities. Although expenses decreased 
$982,202 (3.0%), expenses exceeded program revenues by $909,104. The largest increases in 
expenses was the increases in the cost of food sold ($563,575) and salaries and benefits 
($423,819). Administrative and support costs decreased $1.9 million. A contribution of 
capital assets from the capital projects fund of $614,219 reduces the loss, resulting in a net 
assets decrease of $282,543.  

 
Business-type Activity 

Food Services
Expenses and Program Revenues

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

Expenses Program Revenues
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Key indicators of the change in net assets of the business-type activity follow: 
 

• The Food Services Business-type activity expenses exceeded program revenues by 
$909,104.  

• Operating expenses total $30.7 million, the largest portion being salaries, wages, and 
benefits of $15.4 million, cost of food sold of $11.9 million.  

• Operating revenues total $15 million. 
• Non-operating revenues, including Federal and State reimbursement of food costs and 

donated Federal food commodities total $14.8 million. 
 
 
FUND HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The assets of the Board’s governmental funds  exceeded liabilities at the end of the current 
fiscal year by $22,129,145 (net assets). Total governmental revenues decreased over last 
fiscal year by $17,396,705. This includes $40,001,484 less from County, and $18,313,090 
less from State appropriations for capital projects, offset by an increase in general and special 
revenue fund appropriations from the County of $12,104,883. State operating appropriations 
and grant awards grew by $27,763,062, and Federal grant awards and Medicaid 
reimbursements grew by $3,064,035.   
 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS 
 
Governmental Funds – Fund Balances  
 
The focus of the Board’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the 
Board’s financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful 
measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the Board governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of $22,129,145, an increase of $6,061,850. This includes a net deficit 
unreserved fund balance of ($19,653,339). This is attributable to the fund balance reserved 
for encumbrances of $40,765,984, of which $28,126,269 is related to capital projects. The 
total cost of construction projects is encumbered when the construction contract is awarded. 
However, revenue is only recognized as expenditures are incurred. Accordingly, it is typical 
that the capital projects fund has a deficit unreserved fund balance. 
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The general fund is the chief operating fund of the Board. At the end of the current fiscal 
year, unreserved fund balance of the general fund was $3,610,442 while total fund balance 
was $14,372,449. Unreserved fund balance represents 0.4% of total fund expenditures, while 
total fund balance represents 1.6% of total expenditures. These are typically useful as a 
measure of the general fund’s liquidity. However, it is important to note that the Board is 
totally fiscally dependent on grants and contributions from the County, State, and Federal 
governments for its operating resources, as the Board has no authority to levy taxes or issue 
bonded debt.  
 
The fund balance of the Board’s general fund increased by $5,056,186 during the fiscal year. 
Any change in the Board’s fund balance is a result of timing of expenditures. This is true 
because the Board’s revenues and expenditures are fixed depending upon funding adopted by 
the County and State governments. 
 
The fund balance of the special revenue fund increased by $1,005,664 during the current 
fiscal year. This growth is because revenue from Medicaid reimbursements exceeded 
expenditures by $1.0 million. Revenues and expenditures declined by more than $18.5 
million in the special revenue fund primarily due to several grants that were formerly 
restricted grants, moving to the unrestricted general fund in accordance with changes in 
funding formulas under the State Bridge to Excellence Act.  
 
 
Proprietary Fund  
 
The Board’s proprietary fund provides the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
The net assets of the Food Services fund decreased by $282,543 during the current fiscal 
year. Operating revenues remained stable.  Food costs, salaries and benefits, supplies and 
maintenance all increased slightly, however these were offset by a decrease of $1.9 million in 
administrative and support costs. The net loss of ($896,762) was offset by a transfer of 
$614,219 from the Capital Projects fund related to capital assets provided to the Food 
Services fund.  
 
  
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
  
There were no differences between the total original budget and the total final budget for the 
General Fund. During the year, transfers of appropriations were made between functions. 
Funds were available in the Instructional Salaries, Mid-Level Administration, Student 
Transportation, and Fixed Charges functions due to turnover, vacancies, and salary 
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expenditures that were lower than anticipated. These funds were transferred to cover higher 
expenditures for administrative costs, instructional textbooks and supplies, higher than 
expected salaries for student personnel and health services, and higher utility and 
maintenance costs. 
 
Actual revenues were 0.3% less than budgeted revenues. This is primarily attributed to the 
fact that the Board is fiscally dependent on the County and State governments for their 
funding, and the funding is adopted through the budget process prior to the start of the fiscal 
year. Once adopted, these appropriated amounts from the County and State rarely change. 
Other revenue, which is subject to estimates, represents less than 1.0% of the total revenue 
budget. 
 
Actual expenditures were $7.8 million less than the adopted budget. Most of this was 
attributed to salary expenditures that were less than anticipated in the instructional salaries 
category, lower than anticipated private placement tuition for special education children 
placed in private institutions, and lower than anticipated expenditures for instructional 
supplies and materials. 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION  
 
Capital Assets  
 
The Board’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as 
of June 30, 2004, amounts to $699,264,827 (net of accumulated depreciation and related 
debt). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements, equipment, 
and construction in progress. The Board has no infrastructure assets (roads, bridges, streets, 
etc.) 
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The following schedule shows the Board’s governmental and business-type activities capital 
assets by type: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The total increase in the Board’s capital assets during the year was $31 million. Major capital 
asset events during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 included the following: 
 

• Phase II of the systemic renovation of elementary and middle schools totaled $18 
million 

• Construction and renovation of several science labs incurred costs of $2.8 million 
• Boiler replacements in several schools incurred costs of $1.9 million 
• Re-roofing projects throughout the system incurred costs of $3 million 
• Site improvements systemwide incurred costs of $4.6 million 
• Cost incurred on the recently completed New Town High School totaled $2 million 

 
 
At the end of the current year, the Board had outstanding contractual commitments on 
construction projects totaling more than $28 million. Additional information on the Board’s 
capital assets can be found in note 5 on pages 65-67 of this report. 
 
 
Debt Administration  
 
The Board has no authority to issue bonded debt. The County or State may issue debt to 
finance school construction. The outstanding debt for school construction financing is 
reported in the financial statements of the issuing government, while the corresponding assets 
are reported in the Board’s financial statements. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, 

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Land 21,138,346       21,138,346       -$               -$              21,138,346$     21,138,346$     
Buildings 480,264,654     389,056,156     179,950          210,450        480,444,604     389,266,606     
Improvements other than buildings 8,378,098         4,599,044         -                 -                8,378,098         4,599,044         
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 32,904,162       38,104,257       8,058,038       8,208,874     40,962,200       46,313,131       
Construction in progress 158,074,387     216,782,221     -                 -                158,074,387     216,782,221     
     Total 700,759,647$   669,680,024$   8,237,988$     8,419,324$   708,997,635$   678,099,348$   

Total

The Board of Education of Baltimore County's Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities
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the total debt service costs paid by the County Government to finance public school 
construction was $15,262,627. 
 
The only debt carried by the Board is in the form of short-term (3-5 years) capital lease-
purchase financing, primarily for school buses and other vehicles. Additional details of the 
Board’s debt obligations can be found in note 8 on pages 68-70 of this report.  
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 
 
Maryland State law requires the Board to submit its proposed fiscal year budget to the 
Baltimore County Executive by March 1st of the prior fiscal year. The County Executive then 
submits a proposed budget to the Baltimore County Council, which must adopt a budget by 
June 1st of the prior fiscal year. Accordingly, the new fiscal year budget is known prior to the 
end of the current fiscal year.  
 
Maryland State law mandates a certain level of State and County funding for the Board 
(Maintenance of Effort) based on formulas that include factors such as student enrollment, 
prior fiscal year per pupil expenditures, and the wealth of the County. The County is required 
to provide funding at least equal to the current year student enrollment multiplied by the 
County’s local appropriation on a per pupil basis for the prior fiscal year.  The County may 
also provide funding for one-time items that do not impact the Maintenance of Effort 
calculation in future years.  
 
The general fund operating budget for the fiscal year July 1, 2004 – June 30, 2005 was 
adopted by the County Council in May of 2004. The total general fund operating budget 
adopted for fiscal year 2005 is $921 million. The fiscal year 2005 operating budget is 5.5% 
more than the fiscal year 2004 final budget, an increase of $48.4 million. This increase is 
attributable to the following: 
 

• The State Bridge to Excellence in Public Schools Act includes an additional 
$38 million in funding for the Foundation (formerly Current Expense), 
Transportation, Compensatory Education, and Special Education Programs. 

• Additional funding from the County under the Maintenance of Effort of $4.8 
million, and additional funding beyond Maintenance of Effort of $5.3 million. 

 
The additional funding will be used for the following: 
 

• $1.0 million for 32.9 additional full time position due to enrollment growth 
• $1.8 million for 37 additional special education teachers due to special 

education enrollment growth 
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• $20.7 million for cost of living and salary restructuring 
• $14.9 million for increased health insurance premiums 
• $1.5 million to expand full-day kindergarten 
• $1.8 million for the new Secondary Transition School 
• $0.8 million for start-up expenses for the new Woodholme Elementary School  

 
 
The adopted capital projects budget for fiscal year 2005 includes County funding of $2.9 
million and State funding of $11.5 million.  This total includes $4.5 million for the 
construction of Woodholme Elementary, $4.8 million for the systemic renovation of 
Sudbrook Magnet Middle School,  $2.3 million for the renovation of Arbutus Middle School, 
and $2.9 million for several ongoing projects.  
 
The adopted budget for the special revenue fund increased $3.9 million because of additional 
grant funding.  
 
The State Bridge to Excellence in Public Schools and the Federal No Child Left Behind acts 
established certain requirements for Public School Systems. These requirements include, but 
are not limited to; full-day Kindergarten for all elementary schools by fiscal year 2007 - 
2008; that all teachers are “highly qualified” by fiscal year 2005-2006; expanded school 
choice options for parents; more frequent testing of students to ensure “adequate yearly 
progress”; that all students must reach proficiency levels on state assessments by 2014; new 
certification and assessment requirements for paraprofessionals; and extensive data tracking 
and reporting requirements. All of these new requirements have significant potential cost 
impacts associated with them. 
 

 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Board of Education of 
Baltimore County’s finances for all those with an interest. The report seeks to demonstrate 
the Board’s accountability for the funds it receives. Questions concerning any of the 
information contained in this report, or requests for additional information should be 
addressed to: Executive Director of Fiscal Services, Baltimore County Public Schools, 
1940G Greenspring Drive, Timonium, Maryland 21093.  



 
 

Elena Kern, 3rd grade, Jacksonville Elementary 



 
 

Lorena Smith, 5th grade, Rodgers Forge Elementary 



Governmental 
Activities

Business-type 
Activity Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 8,380,256$       -$                     8,380,256$           
Accounts receivable, net -
    Baltimore County 35,855,055       -                       35,855,055           
    State of Maryland 5,724,067         802,111            6,526,178             
    United States Government 7,459,536         -                       7,459,536             
    Other 4,795,520         25,601              4,821,121             
Internal balances 1,129,343         (1,129,343)       -                            
Inventories -
    Food -                       1,009,741         1,009,741             
    Other 428,641            -                       428,641                
Prepaid items 587,859            -                       587,859                
Restricted assets:
    Investments restricted for lease purchases 1,018,082         -                       1,018,082             
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
    Land 21,138,346       -                       21,138,346           
    Buildings 480,264,654     179,950            480,444,604         
    Improvements other than buildings 8,378,098         -                       8,378,098             
    Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 32,904,162       8,058,038         40,962,200           
    Construction in progress 158,074,387     -                       158,074,387         
            Total assets 766,138,006     8,946,098         775,084,104         

LIABILITIES
Cash overdraft 8,802,014         -                       8,802,014             
Accounts payable 12,356,446       154,294            12,510,740           
Accrued salaries and withholdings 12,895,559       298,086            13,193,645           
Due to external party 61,166              -                       61,166                  
Other liabilities 557,960            -                       557,960                
Deferred revenue 7,557,987         618,240            8,176,227             
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 1,018,082         -                       1,018,082             
Long-term liabilities:
    Due within one year 11,956,299       189,333            12,145,632           
    Due in more than one year 10,093,559       36,078              10,129,637           
            Total liabilities 65,299,072       1,296,031         66,595,103           

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 691,026,839     8,237,988         699,264,827         
Restricted for:
    Special education services 7,756,696         -                       7,756,696             
    Food and nutrition services -                       443,472            443,472                
Unrestricted (deficit) 2,055,399         (1,031,393)       1,024,006             
        Total net assets 700,838,934$   7,650,067$       708,489,001$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for 

Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 
and 

Contributions
Governmental 

Activities
Business-type 

Activity Totals
    Governmental activities:
        Administration 31,385,272$       -$                     4,955,216$       -$                     (26,430,056)$    -$                        (26,430,056)$        
        Mid-level administration 79,959,923         -                       824,790            -                       (79,135,133)      -                          (79,135,133)          
        Instruction 564,490,688       760,215            32,527,050       -                       (531,203,423)    -                          (531,203,423)        
        Special education 153,331,934       -                       46,023,839       -                       (107,308,095)    -                          (107,308,095)        
        Student personnel services 7,624,553           -                       1,893,667         -                       (5,730,886)        -                          (5,730,886)            
        Student health services 14,496,111         -                       1,622,007         -                       (12,874,104)      -                          (12,874,104)          
        Student transportation 45,010,546         -                       20,519,648       -                       (24,490,898)      -                          (24,490,898)          
        Operation of plant 71,793,980         -                       2,048                -                       (71,791,932)      -                          (71,791,932)          
        Maintenance of plant 21,727,587         -                       111,499            -                       (21,616,088)      -                          (21,616,088)          
        Community services 392,493              -                       392,493            -                       -                        -                          -                            
        Capital outlay 6,267,347           -                       9,138                51,298,554       45,040,345       -                          45,040,345           
        Interest on long-term debt 239,413              -                       -                       -                       (239,413)           -                          (239,413)               
            Total governmental activities 996,719,847       760,215            108,881,395     51,298,554       (835,779,683)    -                          (835,779,683)        

    Business-type activity:
        Food services 30,794,626         15,028,058       14,857,464       -                       -                        (909,104)             (909,104)               
        Total 1,027,514,473$  15,788,273$     123,738,859$   51,298,554$     (835,779,683)    (909,104)             (836,688,787)        

General revenues:
    Baltimore County 560,856,040     -                          560,856,040         
    State of Maryland 305,964,754     -                          305,964,754         
    United States Government 99,964              -                          99,964                  
    Other 7,206,304         12,342                7,218,646             
Transfers (614,219)           614,219              -                            
        Total general revenues and transfers 873,512,843     626,561              874,139,404         

Change in net assets 37,733,160       (282,543)             37,450,617           

Net assets, beginning of year 663,105,774     7,932,610           671,038,384         

Net assets, end of year 700,838,934$   7,650,067$         708,489,001$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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General
Special 

Revenue
Capital 
Projects

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents -$                   8,380,256$    -$                  8,380,256$      
Accounts receivable, net:
     Baltimore County 29,078,088     20,334           6,356,633      35,455,055      
     State of Maryland 2,212,944       831,308         2,679,815      5,724,067        
     United States Government -                     7,459,536      -                    7,459,536        
     Other 4,514,094       89,114           192,312         4,795,520        
Due from other funds 6,645,842       996,407         -                    7,642,249        
Inventories 428,641          -                    -                    428,641           
Prepaid items 587,859          -                    -                    587,859           
Cash and cash equivalents restricted for
      lease purchase 1,018,082       -                    -                    1,018,082        
        Total assets 44,485,550$   17,776,955$  9,228,760$    71,491,265$    

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
    Cash overdraft 8,802,014$     -$                  -$                  8,802,014$      
    Accounts payable 6,818,240       1,701,985      3,436,221      11,956,446      
    Accrued salaries and withholdings 11,595,407     1,300,152      -                    12,895,559      
    Due to other funds 996,407          -                    5,516,499      6,512,906        
    Due to external party 61,166            -                    -                    61,166             
    Other liabilities 557,960          -                    -                    557,960           
    Deferred revenue 263,825          7,018,122      276,040         7,557,987        
    Liabilities payable from restricted assets 1,018,082       -                    -                    1,018,082        
        Total liabilities 30,113,101     10,020,259    9,228,760      49,362,120      

    Fund balances (deficit):
        Reserved for:
            Encumbrances 9,745,507       2,894,208      28,126,269    40,765,984      
            Inventories 428,641          -                    -                    428,641           
            Prepaid items 587,859          -                    -                    587,859           
        Unreserved, undesignated (deficit) 3,610,442       4,862,488      (28,126,269)  (19,653,339)     
        Total fund balances 14,372,449     7,756,696      -                    22,129,145      

        Total liabilities and fund balances 44,485,550$   17,776,955$  9,228,760$    71,491,265$    

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
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Total fund balances - governmental funds (page 40) 22,129,145$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, 700,759,647    
therefore, are not reported as assets in the governmental funds.  The cost of
the assets is $990,319,975, and the accumulated depreciation is $289,560,328.

Long-term liabilities, including compensated absences ($12,317,050) and (22,049,858)     
capital leases ($9,732,808), are not due and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the funds.

Total net assets - governmental activities (page 38) 700,838,934$  

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
JUNE 30, 2004
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General
Special 

Revenue Capital Projects

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
Revenues:
    Baltimore County 560,233,962$  101,410$     37,893,924$    598,229,296$   
    State of Maryland 346,818,126    13,390,900  13,004,630      373,213,656     
    United States Government 99,964             54,135,969  -                       54,235,933       
    Other 7,947,499        399,744       -                       8,347,243         
        Total revenues 915,099,551    68,028,023  50,898,554      1,034,026,128  

Expenditures:
    Current -
        Administration 21,548,465      4,253,111    -                       25,801,576       
        Mid-level administration 59,762,799      713,847       -                       60,476,646       
        Instruction -
            Instructional salaries 355,294,207    18,490,459  -                       373,784,666     
            Textbooks and classroom supplies 18,194,318      4,308,334    -                       22,502,652       
            Other instructional materials 14,435,762      5,985,133    -                       20,420,895       
        Special education 103,949,076    17,788,397  -                       121,737,473     
        Student personnel services 4,243,711        1,447,039    -                       5,690,750         
        Student health services 9,528,672        1,415,601    -                       10,944,273       
        Transportation 34,098,113      1,805,483    -                       35,903,596       
        Operation of plant 60,429,362      1,730           -                       60,431,092       
        Maintenance of plant 18,631,485      5,771           -                       18,637,256       
        Fixed charges 206,164,081    10,450,906  -                       216,614,987     
        Community services -                       347,410       -                       347,410            
    Capital outlay 2,225,169        9,138           50,898,554      53,132,861       
    Debt service -
        Principal 4,043,480        -                  -                       4,043,480         
        Interest 239,413           -                  -                       239,413            
        Total expenditures 912,788,113    67,022,359  50,898,554      1,030,709,026  

Excess of revenues over expenditures 2,311,438        1,005,664    -                       3,317,102         

Other financing sources (uses):
    Capital leases 3,448,836        -                  -                       3,448,836         
    Transfer out (704,088)          -                  -                       (704,088)           

        Total other financing sources (uses) 2,744,748        -                  -                       2,744,748         

Net change in fund balances 5,056,186        1,005,664    -                       6,061,850         

Fund balances, beginning of year 9,316,263        6,751,032    -                       16,067,295       

Fund balances, end of year 14,372,449$    7,756,696$  -$                     22,129,145$     

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004
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Total net change in fund balances - governmental funds (page 42) 6,061,850$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report the construction and purchase of capital assets as expenditures. 30,438,525      
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital asset additions
($52,637,788) exceed depreciation expense ($22,199,263) in the current period.

Capital assets purchased by the Baltimore County Government ($622,078) and the Student 641,098           
Activity Funds ($19,020) and reported as revenue in the statement of activities are
not reported in the governmental funds.

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but 4,043,480        
the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.

Compensated absences reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of (2,957)              
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the
governmental funds. This is the  amount by which vacation leave earned ($8,664,834)
exceeds vacation leave used ($8,661,877) in the current period.

Capital lease proceeds which provide current financial resources in the governmental (3,448,836)       
funds, are not reported as revenues in the statement of activities.

Change in net assets of governmental activities (page 39) 37,733,160$    

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
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BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Variance with 
Final Budget - 

Original Final Actual Amounts
Positive  

(Negative)
Revenues:
    Baltimore County 560,233,962$  560,233,962$  560,233,962$  -$                     
    State of Maryland
      Bridge to excellence 262,645,595    262,645,595    262,644,093    (1,502)              
      Out-of-County living arrangements 4,000,000        4,000,000        4,470,931        470,931           
      Non-public placements 16,144,219      16,144,219      12,249,711      (3,894,508)       
      Transportation 18,269,353      18,269,353      18,269,353      -                       
      Aging schools 2,940,000        2,940,000        2,923,135        (16,865)            
      Quality teacher incentive 990,000           990,000           839,000           (151,000)          
    United States Government - -                       99,964             99,964             
    Other 7,765,000        7,765,000        8,947,499        1,182,499        
      Total revenues 872,988,129    872,988,129    870,677,648    (2,310,481)       

Expenditures:
    Current - 
        Administration 22,508,832      22,722,109      22,110,705      611,404           
        Mid-level administration 59,742,408      59,672,055      59,652,313      19,742             
        Instruction -
            Instructional salaries 358,505,516    357,062,236    355,293,991    1,768,245        
            Textbooks and classroom supplies 18,029,870      19,129,870      18,670,557      459,313           
            Other instructional materials 15,234,574      15,234,574      14,405,688      828,886           
        Special education 107,874,681    108,030,169    104,621,643    3,408,526        
        Student personnel services 3,915,005        4,315,005        4,243,711        71,294             
        Student health services 9,255,767        9,533,635        9,527,711        5,924               
        Transportation 36,156,012      35,256,012      35,178,773      77,239             
        Operation of plant 58,622,241      61,022,241      60,822,017      200,224           
        Maintenance of plant 19,423,172      19,923,172      19,745,331      177,841           
        Fixed charges 161,648,061    158,765,061    158,675,838    89,223             
        Capital outlay 2,071,990        2,321,990        2,238,297        83,693             
          Total expenditures 872,988,129    872,988,129    865,186,575    7,801,554        

Excess of revenues over expenditures -$                     -$                     5,491,073        5,491,073$      

Fund balance, July 1, 2003 1,733,732        

Reappropriation of prior year fund
    balance (1,000,000)       

Liquidation and cancellation of prior year
    encumbrances 1,242,704        

Fund balance, June 30, 2004 7,467,509$      

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND                                                                      

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Original and 
Final Budgeted 

Amounts Actual Amounts

Variance with 
Final Budget- 

Positive  
(Negative)

Revenues:
    Baltimore County 137,130$          100,735$          (36,395)$          
    State of Maryland 8,044,703         13,445,590       5,400,887         
    United States Government 61,675,053       54,675,499       (6,999,554)       
    Other 1,174,457         406,573            (767,884)          
      Total revenues 71,031,343       68,628,397       (2,402,946)       

Expenditures:
    Current - 
        Administration 5,264,055         4,271,385         992,670            
        Mid-level administration 997,283            718,834            278,449            
        Instruction -
            Instructional salaries 15,615,836       18,490,459       (2,874,623)       
            Textbooks and classroom supplies 4,425,622         4,880,271         (454,649)          
            Other instructional materials 7,150,181         5,803,592         1,346,589         
        Special education 20,956,049       17,878,147       3,077,902         
        Student personnel services 1,608,529         1,427,681         180,848            
        Student health services 1,569,897         1,419,063         150,834            
        Transportation 1,641,196         1,889,056         (247,860)          
        Operation of plant 115,545            1,730                113,815            
        Maintenance of plant -                       4,762                (4,762)              
        Fixed charges 11,206,940       10,450,906       756,034            
        Community services 480,210            377,709            102,501            
        Capital outlay -                       9,138                (9,138)              
          Total expenditures 71,031,343       67,622,733       3,408,610         

Excess of revenues over expenditures -$                     1,005,664         1,005,664$       

Fund balance, July 1, 2003 6,751,032         

Fund balance, June 30, 2004 7,756,696$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUND - FOOD SERVICE ENTERPRISE FUND
JUNE 30, 2004

ASSETS
Current assets:
    Accounts receivable - State of Maryland 802,111$          
    Accounts receivable - Other 25,601              
    Inventories - food 1,009,741         
        Total current assets 1,837,453         

Noncurrent assets:
    Capital assets 8,237,988         
            Total assets 10,075,441       

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
    Accounts payable 154,294            
    Accrued salaries and withholdings 298,086            
    Compensated absences 189,333            
    Due to other funds 1,129,343         
    Deferred revenue 618,240            
        Total current liabilities 2,389,296         

Noncurrent liabilities:
    Compensated absences 36,078              
            Total liabilities 2,425,374         

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 8,237,988         
Restricted 443,472            
Unrestricted (deficit) (1,031,393)       
        Total net assets 7,650,067$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Operating revenues:
    Charges for sales and services 15,028,058$     

Operating expenses:
    Cost of food sold 11,941,722       
    Salaries, wages, and benefits 15,350,232       
    Supplies 1,035,176         
    Maintenance and repair of equipment 550,297            
    Depreciation 1,206,313         
    Adminstration and support 440,058            
    Other 227,391            
        Total operating expenses 30,751,189       

Operating  loss (15,723,131)     

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
    Federal reimbursement of food service costs 12,381,643       
    State reimbursement of food service costs 824,809            
    Federal donated commodities 1,651,012         
    Interest income 12,342              
    Loss on disposal of capital assets (43,437)            
        Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 14,826,369       

Loss before capital contribution (896,762)          

Capital contribution 614,219            

Decrease in net assets (282,543)          

Net assets, beginning of year 7,932,610         

Net assets, end of year 7,650,067$       

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUND - FOOD SERVICE ENTERPRISE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004
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Cash flows from operating activities -
     Cash received from food sales 15,060,302$          
     Cash paid to employees (15,370,397)          
     Cash paid to suppliers (12,418,399)          
Net cash used by operating activities (12,728,494)          

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities - 
     Governmental subsidies 13,291,268            
     Decrease in advance from other fund (132,813)               
Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 13,158,455            

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities -
     Purchase of capital assets (445,558)               
     Sale of capital assets 3,255                    
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (442,303)               

Cash flows from investing activities -
     Interest received 12,342                  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents -                        

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year -                        

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year -$                      

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used by operating activities

Operating loss (15,723,131)$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 
     used by operating activities:
     Depreciation expense 1,206,313              
     Donated commodities included in cost of food sold 1,651,012              
     Decrease in inventory and supplies 126,943                
     Increase in accounts payable 10,182                  
     Increase in deferred revenue 32,244                  
     Decrease in accrued salaries and withholdings (20,165)                 
     Other (11,892)                 
          Total adjustments 2,994,637              

Net cash used by operating activities (12,728,494)$        

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities
     Contributions of USDA Commodities 1,651,012$            
     Contribution of capital equipment from capital projects fund 614,219                

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

PROPRIETARY FUND - FOOD SERVICE ENTERPRISE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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Employee Benefit 
Trust Fund

School 
Activities 

Agency Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 153,515$            3,604,002$       
Investments 7,218,658           2,312,634         
Due from external party -                          61,166              
Inventories -                          262,993            
        Total assets 7,372,173           6,240,795         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -                          67,234              
Due to school organizations -                          6,173,561         
        Total liabilities -                          6,240,795         

NET ASSETS
Held in trust for voluntary employee benefits 7,372,173$         -$                     

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS                                        

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2004
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BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Employee Benefit 
Trust Fund

Additions:
Contributions:

Employer 704,088$            
Employees and retirees 1,694,404           
Total contributions 2,398,492           

Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 196,739              
Net increase in fair value of investments 598,781              
Total investment earnings 795,520              
        Total additions 3,194,012           

Deductions:
Life insurance premiums 2,376,781           
Administrative expenses 27,248                
        Total deductions 2,404,029           

Change in net assets 789,983              

Net assets, beginning of year 6,582,190           
Net assets, end of year 7,372,173$         

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTE 1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
A. REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The Board of Education of Baltimore County (the Board) is a body politic and corporate 
established by the Public School Laws of Maryland with the adoption of the Maryland 
Constitution in 1865.  Section 3-103 of the Education Article of the Annotated Code of 
Maryland establishes that there is a board of education for each county school system. It is 
composed of eleven voting members who are appointed by the Governor of Maryland for 
terms of five years, and one student member who serves for one year.  The student Board 
member has limited voting privileges.  The Board has the responsibility to maintain a 
reasonable, uniform system of public schools to provide quality education for all youth of 
Baltimore County. 
  
The financial statements of the Board are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the United States of America, applicable to governmental 
entities, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  
 
The Board is a component unit of the Baltimore County government and the Board’s 
financial statements are included in the County’s financial statements.  This conclusion was 
reached based on the following criteria:  (1) the County Council is responsible for approving 
the Board’s budget and establishing spending limitations; and (2) the County Council is 
responsible for levying taxes and collecting and distributing the funds to the Board. The 
Board is fiscally dependent upon appropriations and grants from the County. 
 
 
B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
The government-wide financial statements (the statement of net assets and the statement of 
activities) report information of all non-fiduciary activities of the Board. For the most part, 
inter-fund activity has been removed from these government-wide statements. Governmental 
activities, which normally are supported by intergovernmental revenues, are reported 
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support.   
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function. Program revenues include charges to customers who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods or services provided by a given function.  
Program revenues also include grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Items not properly included 
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among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. Internally allocated 
resources are reported as general revenues rather than program revenues. The Board does not 
allocate general government administration or indirect expenses to other functions. 
 
Net assets are restricted when constraints imposed on them are either externally imposed or 
imposed by legal requirements. Internally imposed designations of resources are not 
presented as restricted net assets. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are 
available for use, generally it is the Board’s policy to use restricted resources first, then 
unrestricted resources as they are needed.  
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements. Major individual governmental funds and the enterprise fund are reported as 
separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
 
C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 

STATEMENT PRESENTATION 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are 
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of 
accounting. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items 
are recognized as revenue as soon as eligibility requirements have been met.  
 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements – The governmental fund financial statements 
are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable 
and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this 
purpose, the Board considers revenues to be available if they are collected within one year of 
the end of the current fiscal year. Principal revenue sources considered susceptible to accrual 
include federal and state grants and local County government appropriations. Other revenues 
are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the Board.  
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under full accrual 
accounting. Modifications to the accrual basis of accounting include: 
 

- Employees’ vested annual leave is recorded as an expenditure when used. The 
amount of accumulated annual leave unpaid at June 30, 2004, has been reported only 
in the government-wide financial statements. 
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- Interest on long-term obligations (capital leases) is recognized when paid. 
- Amounts encumbered as executory purchase orders are recorded as a reservation of 

fund balance. 
 
The Board reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is the Board’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial 
resources of the Board, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  
 
The Special Revenue Fund accounts primarily for restricted grants issued by the State 
and Federal Governments.  
 
The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the resources used for the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of major capital facilities other than those financed by 
proprietary funds.  
 
 

Proprietary Fund and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements – The financial statements of 
the proprietary and fiduciary funds (excluding agency funds) are prepared using the 
economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, similar to the 
government-wide statements described above. Agency funds report only assets and liabilities, 
and accordingly do not have a measurement focus. They do, however, use the accrual basis 
of accounting to recognize receivables and payables. The fiduciary funds are not reported in 
the government-wide financial statements. 
 
The enterprise fund has the option under GASB Statement 20, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary 
Fund Accounting to elect to apply all Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989, unless FASB conflicts with GASB. The 
Board has elected not to apply FASBs issued after the applicable date.  
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operation. The 
principal operating revenue for the Food Service Enterprise Fund is charges for meals. 
Operating expenses for the enterprise fund include costs of food sold, corresponding salaries, 
wages and benefits, supplies, maintenance of equipment, and depreciation on capital assets. 
All other revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses.  
 
The Private Purpose Trust Fund is used to account for resources legally held in trust for the 
purpose of providing certain employee life insurance benefits for active and retired 
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employees. The trust is a voluntary employee benefit plan (VEBA) created in 1984 in the 
form of a tax-exempt trust under section 501 (C) 9 of the Internal Revenue Code. All 
resources of the trust, including earnings on investments, are available for this purpose. There 
is no requirement that these resources be preserved as capital.  
 
An Agency Fund is used to account for School Activity Fund assets held by the Board. These 
funds are primarily raised by student organizations and activities and are held by the Board 
for custodial and investment purposes.   
 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY 
 
Deposits and Investments – Board cash receipt and disbursement transactions relating to the 
major funds (General, Special Revenue, Capital Projects, and Enterprise) are initiated 
through a pooled cash and investment account.  Unique account numbers are used to track 
each fund’s transactions.  The Board has pooled amounts from these funds, as well as certain 
amounts held for each school’s related activities in the School Activity Fund, to be used for 
investment purposes.  In the fund financial statements, each fund’s specific share of the 
pooled cash, investments, and inter-fund liabilities is shown as cash and cash equivalents, or 
as “due from other funds”, if the fund’s inter-fund liabilities exceed its share of pooled cash 
and investments.  The Food Service enterprise and School Activity agency funds are 
allocated interest income, on a daily basis, based on their share of the investment pool. 
Remaining interest income is allocated to the General Fund. 
 
The Annotated Code of Maryland authorizes the Board to invest in the following: time 
deposits, savings accounts, and demand deposit accounts in banks and savings and loan 
associations that are secured with collateral as set forth in the State Finance and Procurement 
Article; any investment portfolio created under the Maryland Local Government Investment 
Pool that is administered by the Office of the State Treasurer; obligations for which the 
United States has pledged its full faith and credit for the payment of the principal and 
interest; obligations that a federal agency or federal instrumentality has issued in accordance 
with an act of Congress; repurchase agreements collateralized (in an amount not less than 
102% of the principal amount) by an obligation of the United States, its agencies or 
instrumentalities; bankers’ acceptances guaranteed by a financial institution and commercial 
paper and money market mutual funds receiving the highest possible rating.  

 
The Board’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be short term, highly liquid 
investments that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their 
maturity (less than 90 days) that they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of 
changes in interest rates.  
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Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost or amortized cost. Investments are recorded at 
fair value, based on closing market prices at June 30, 2004.  The fair value of the position in 
the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. 
 
During fiscal year 2004 the Board implemented GASB Statement Number 40 – Deposit and 
Investment Risk Disclosures. This standard addresses the disclosure requirements for the 
Board’s deposits and investments. These disclosures are included in note 3 – Cash, Cash 
Equivalents, and Investments. 
 
 
Receivables – Accounts receivable in all funds represent amounts that have arisen in the 
ordinary course of business and are stated net of allowances for uncollectible amounts. 
Governmental fund type receivables consist primarily of amounts due from the County, 
State, or Federal Governments and other Maryland Boards of Education. These 
intergovernmental receivables are generally collected within 90 days of the end of the fiscal 
year. Certain intergovernmental receivables may extend up to one year from the end of the 
fiscal year. Uncollectible amounts ($164,355) are based on collection experience and review 
of the status of existing receivables. 
 
 
Inter/Intrafund Transactions – Activity between funds that are representative of 
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as 
“due to/from other funds.” The Board has no long-term advances or inter-fund loans, and all 
inter-fund activity is considered “current activity.” Inter-fund activity consists primarily of 
transfers between funds to cover cash deficits. These deficits arise primarily because many 
grants and capital projects are reimbursed to the Board by the granting government after the 
Board has incurred the expenditure. 
 
 
Inventories and Prepaid Items – Inventories of materials and supplies are determined by 
both physical counts and through perpetual inventory systems. Inventory in the General Fund 
consists of expendable supplies and materials. These inventories are accounted for under the 
consumption method and are stated at average cost. The General Fund inventories on hand at 
year-end are reflected as a reservation of fund balance.  
 
The Food Service Enterprise Fund includes federal government donated food commodities 
that are valued at estimated market value. The remaining enterprise fund inventories are 
accounted for under the consumption method and are stated at average cost. 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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Capital Assets – Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type 
activity columns in the government-wide financial statements. Governmental activities 
capital assets are defined by the Board as assets which have a cost of $5,000 or more at the 
date of acquisition and have a useful life of two years or more. The business-type activity 
capitalizes assets with a cost of $1,000 or more at the date of acquisition and have a useful 
life of two years or more. Such assets are stated at historical cost or estimated historical cost 
if actual cost is not known. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value 
at the date of donation. The Board has no infrastructure assets. 
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value or materially extend 
the useful life of an asset are not capitalized. Building improvements with a cost greater than 
$100,000 are capitalized.   
 
Capital assets utilized in the governmental funds are recorded as expenditures in the 
governmental fund financial statements. Depreciation expense is recorded in the government-
wide financial statements, as well as the proprietary fund financial statements.  
 
Capital assets are depreciated over the useful life of an asset using the straight-line method. 
There is no depreciation recorded for land and construction in progress. Generally, estimated 
useful lives are as follows: 
 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment   5 – 25 years 
Buildings & Improvements            20 – 50 years 
 
 

Compensated Absences – Employees of the Board, excluding ten-month employees, may 
earn annual vacation leave at various rates depending on the bargaining unit that represents 
them and their length of service. Unused annual leave may be accrued up to a maximum of 
45 days. All accrued annual vacation leave is payable upon separation from employment. 
The governmental fund financial statements record expenditures when employees are paid 
for leave taken, on a first-in first-out (FIFO) method. The government-wide and proprietary 
fund financial statements present the cost of accumulated vacation leave and related payroll 
taxes as a liability. A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental fund 
financial statements only if they have matured due to resignations or retirements. There is no 
liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave since the Board does not pay this amount when an 
employee separates from service.  
 
 
Long-term Obligations – The Board has no authority to issue bonded debt. Debt incurred by 
the County or State governments to finance school construction is a debt of the issuing 
government and, along with the related debt service, is not reported in the Board’s financial 
statements. The long-term obligations of the Board include capital leases and compensated 
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absences as discussed above. The capital leases represent obligations for financing the 
purchase of school buses and other vehicles, over periods ranging from three to five years. In 
the government-wide financial statements, the long-term debt is presented in the column for 
governmental activities. The Board’s Food Services business-type activity has no long-term 
obligations other than compensated absences previously discussed.  
 
In prior years, governmental fund long-term liabilities have been liquidated through the 
General Fund and Special Revenue Funds. Compensated absences have been liquidated 
based on where an employee’s salary has been funded, while payments on capital leases have 
been liquidated through the General Fund.  
 
 
Deferred Revenue – Deferred revenue occurs when potential revenue does not meet the 
available criterion for recognition in the current period. Deferred revenue also arises when 
the Board receives funds before it has a legal claim to them. Deferred revenue for 
governmental activities consists of tuition payments received in advance of summer school 
and restricted grant funds advanced to the Board. Deferred revenue for the business-type 
activity represents prepaid accounts for school lunches and donated food commodities. 
Revenue is recognized for the donated commodities as the commodities are used.  
 
 
Net Assets and Fund Balance – In the Statement of Net Assets, net assets are reported as 
invested in capital assets net of related debt, restricted, or unrestricted. Restricted net assets 
are based on externally imposed restrictions on the use of the funds, such as grant funding for 
a specific purpose.  
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance for 
amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for 
use for a specific purpose. Designations of fund balance represent tentative management 
plans that are subject to change.  Fund balance reservations include reserves for inventory 
and prepaids, and reserves for encumbrances. 
 



Board of Education of Baltimore County 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2004 

 

 58

NOTE 2. BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 
A. BUDGET REQUIREMENTS 

 
The Board operates within the following budget requirements for local educational agencies 
as specified by State law: 
 
1. The Board must submit an annual budget, for its governmental funds, in writing to the 

County Executive within 120 days prior to the end of the current fiscal year.  The 
General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service funds have legally adopted annual 
budgets. The Capital Projects Fund has a legally adopted project budget. 

 
2. The County Executive must submit his recommended school system budget to the 

County Council not later than 75 days prior to the end of the current fiscal year. 
 
3. The County Council must approve the budget ordinance by June 1 of each year. 

Subsequent supplemental appropriations also require County Council approval. 
 
4. The General Fund budget is prepared and approved by major expenditure categories 

as specified in the State law. Actual expenditures may not exceed appropriations for a 
category. These categories include: 

 
Administration  Mid-Level Administration 
Instructional Salaries  Instructional Textbooks and Supplies 
Instructional Other  Student Personnel Services 
Health Services  Student Transportation 
Operation of Plant  Maintenance of Plant 
Fixed Charges   Special Education 
Capital Outlay   Community Services 

 
 The Special Revenue Fund and Debt Service Fund appropriations are authorized 

annually by the County Council at the Fund level. 
 
5. The Board may transfer funds between major categories with the approval of the 

County Council. The Board has the authority to transfer funds between objects of 
expenditures (i.e., salaries and wages, contracted services, supplies and materials, 
other charges, and equipment) within the major categories, but must notify the 
County Council of such action at the end of each month.  In accordance with 
Education Article, Title 5, §5-105, of Maryland Annotated Code, the Board may not 
exceed the appropriation by category. Failure by the County Council to take action 
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within thirty days of receipt of written requests for transfers constitutes Council 
approval.  

 
6. The management staff of Baltimore County Public Schools are responsible for 

preparing the budget, monitoring budgetary expenditures, reporting on the status of 
the budget, and making recommendations for transfers between objects of 
expenditure and major categories of expenditures. All such recommendations are 
subject to Board and/or County Council approval.  

 
7. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at the end of each fiscal year, except in the 

Capital Projects Fund where appropriations do not lapse. Encumbered appropriations 
are liquidated through expenditures in the subsequent fiscal year. The portion of fund 
balance related to lapsed appropriations must be re-appropriated to be spent. 

 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for 
the expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable 
appropriation, is employed in the governmental funds for Budgetary Basis financial reporting 
purposes.  Open encumbrances are treated as reservations of fund balances since the 
commitments will be honored through subsequent years’ expenditures. 
 
During the year, the County Council approved certain significant transfers between General 
Fund categories. The County government also reduced the Debt Service appropriation during 
the year. The approved categorical transfers are presented below: 
 
 
 
 

General Fund
Categorical transfers

Administration 213,277$                        
Mid-level administration (70,353)                          
Instructional salaries (1,443,280)                    
Instructional textbooks & supplies 1,100,000                     
Special education 155,488                         
Student personnel services 400,000                         
Health services 277,868                         
Student transportation (900,000)                        
Operation of plant 2,400,000                     
Maintenance of plant 500,000                         
Fixed charges (2,883,000)                    
Capital outlay 250,000                         

-$                                

Debt Service Fund inter-agency transfer (1,805,000)$                   
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B. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN GAAP AND BUDGETARY BASIS 
 
The Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – 
Budget and Actual for the General, Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds have been 
prepared on a legally prescribed budgetary basis of accounting that differs from GAAP.  The 
primary difference is that the budgets are prepared using encumbrance accounting where 
encumbrances are treated as expenditures of the current period. In addition, for budgetary 
purposes revenues related to encumbrances are recorded in the Special Revenue Fund and in 
the General Fund in certain cases. Other differences are shown below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       
 

Excess/(Deficiency)
of Revenue and

Other Other Financing
Financing Sources Over Fund

General Fund Revenues Expenditures Sources/(Uses) Expenditures Balance
Reported on the basis of GAAP 915,099,551$   (912,788,113)$   2,744,748$         5,056,186$                 14,372,449$   

Effect of encumbrances 2,817,407         (3,405,680)         -                      (588,273)                     (6,928,100)     
Retirement costs paid on the Board's
     behalf by the State of Maryland (48,239,310)     48,239,310        -                      -                              -                 

 Reappropriation of prior year fund 
     balance 1,000,000         -                     -                      1,000,000                   -                 

 Operating transfer to Employee  
     Benefit Trust -                   (704,088)            704,088              -                              -                 

 Purchase of equipment on capital 
     leases -                   3,448,836          (3,448,836)          -                              -                 
Other GAAP adjustments -                       23,160               -                      23,160                        23,160            

Reported on the Budgetary Basis of
      Accounting 870,677,648$   (865,186,575)$   -$                    5,491,073$                 7,467,509$     

Special Revenue Fund
Reported on the basis of GAAP 68,028,023$     (67,022,359)$     -$                    1,005,664$                 7,756,696$     

Effect of encumbrances 600,374            (600,374)            -                      -                              -                 
Reported on the Budgetary Basis of

     Accounting 68,628,397$     (67,622,733)$     -$                    1,005,664$                 7,756,696$     
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C. DEBT SERVICE BUDGETARY SCHEDULE 
 
As discussed in note 1, debt issued by the County government to fund school construction 
and related debt service is not reported in the Board’s Basic Financial Statements. The 
authorization for the annual debt service expenditures related to this debt emanates from the 
Baltimore County Government Operating Budget, and is included in the Board’s annual 
authorized budget. The schedule below reports the budget basis debt service activity for the 
current fiscal year. 
 
 

DEBT SERVICE FUND                                                                        
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Variance with
Final Budget-

Original Final
Actual 

Amounts
Positive  

(Negative)

Revenues - Baltimore County 18,056,162$        16,251,162$  15,252,627$  (998,535)$        

Expenditures:
    Current - 
        Principal 9,587,000            9,587,000      9,587,000      -                       
        Interest 8,469,162            6,664,162      5,665,627      998,535           
          Total expenditures 18,056,162          16,251,162    15,252,627    998,535           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures -$                         -$                  -                    -$                     

Fund balance, July 1, 2003 -                    

Fund balance, June 30, 2004 -$                  

Budgeted Amounts
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NOTE 3.  CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS 
 
A.   CASH DEPOSITS 
 
The Board’s bank deposits are insured either by Federal depository insurance or by surety 
bonds.  The reported amounts of cash at June 30, 2004, consist of cash balances and a 
liability for cash overdrafts. The liability for cash overdrafts of $8,802,014 results primarily 
from outstanding checks in the Board’s operating account. The Board’s policy is to maximize 
the investment of cash balances available for investment according to depository bank 
records.  Short-term investments included in cash and cash equivalents are available to meet 
cash disbursement requirements. 
 
 
B.  INVESTMENTS 
 
The Board’s investments include the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool (Pool), 
which is under the administrative control of the State Treasurer, and US Treasury money 
market mutual funds held by Fidelity Investments and M&T Bank. The Pool is designed to 
give local government units of the State an investment vehicle for short-term investment of 
funds. The investment objectives of the Pool are: to preserve the capital value of the dollars 
invested; to provide a competitive rate of return; and to provide a readily available source of 
daily liquidity. The Pool is rated “AAAm” by Standard and Poor’s (their highest rating). The 
US Treasury portfolios held by Fidelity Investments and M&T Bank are also rated “AAAm” 
by Standard and Poor’s. 

 
The investments of the Employee Benefit Trust are not restricted by State statutes. The 
Board-adopted plan investment policy allows investments in U.S. Government and Agency 
obligations, money market mutual funds, SEC registered mutual funds, and equities. 
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C.  SUMMARY OF DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT BALANCES 
 
 

 The following is a reconciliation of the Board's deposit and investment balances
as of June 30, 2004:

Pooled Cash
and Investments Other Total

Deposits 1,612,626$              3,604,002$           5,216,628$      
Investments:
   State Investment Pool 4,578,924                -                        4,578,924        
   US Treasury mutual funds 4,501,339                1,018,082             5,519,421        
   Money market fund -                           153,515                153,515           
   US government agencies -                           36,642                  36,642             
   Equity funds -                           4,638,402             4,638,402        
   Government bond funds -                           2,543,615             2,543,615        
     Total 10,692,889$            11,994,258$         22,687,147$    

Government-wide Fiduciary Funds
Statement Statement

of Net Assets of Net Assets Total
Unrestricted
   Cash and cash
      equivalents 8,380,256$              -$                      8,380,256$      

Restricted
   Cash and cash   
      equivalents -                           3,757,517             3,757,517        
    Investments 1,018,082                9,531,292             10,549,374      

     Total cash and 
investments 9,398,338$              13,288,809$         22,687,147$    
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NOTE 4.  INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS  
 
The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2004, is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A summary of interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 follows: 
 
 
 

Due to/from other funds:

Payable Fund Purpose Amount

General Capital Projects Deficit cash balance 5,516,499$      

General Food Service Deficit cash balance 1,129,343        

Special Revenue General Deficit cash balance 996,407           

Fiduciary - School 
Activity General

Reimbursement of 
expenditures 61,166             

Total 7,703,415$      

Receivable Fund

Transfers from Transfers to Purpose Amount

Capital Projects Fund Food Service Proprietary Cafeteria equipment 614,219$       
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NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS  
 
A. ACTIVITY 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2004 was as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 21,138,346$    -$                 -$                  21,138,346$    
Construction in progress 216,782,221    41,394,416      (100,102,250)    158,074,387    
Total capital assets not being depreciated 237,920,567    41,394,416      (100,102,250)    179,212,733    

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 623,144,368    101,526,903    (1,603,351)        723,067,920    
Improvements other than buildings 10,335,862      4,142,882        -                    14,478,744      
Machinery and equipment 22,677,093      3,074,505        (17,495)             25,734,103      
Vehicles 44,584,045      3,242,430        -                    47,826,475      
Total capital assets being depreciated 700,741,368    111,986,720    (1,620,846)        811,107,242    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings (234,088,212)   (10,318,405)     1,603,351         (242,803,266)   
Improvements other than buildings (5,736,818)       (363,828)          -                    (6,100,646)       
Machinery and equipment (10,716,315)     (7,740,199)       17,495              (18,439,019)     
Vehicles (18,440,566)     (3,776,831)       -                    (22,217,397)     
Total accumulated depreciation (268,981,911)   (22,199,263)     1,620,846         (289,560,328)   

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 431,759,457    89,787,457      -                    521,546,914    

Governmental activities capital assets, net 669,680,024$  131,181,873$  (100,102,250)$  700,759,647$  
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During the fiscal year the Board acquired assets under capital lease agreements totaling 
$3,448,836. The assets acquired are described below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Description Class Amount
School buses Vehicles 2,395,266$      
Trucks Vehicles 847,167           
Copiers Machinery and Equipment 206,403           
     Total vehicles acquired under capital leases 3,448,836$      

Governmental activities:
Administration 376,713$         
Mid-level administration 97,538             
Instruction 17,373,247      
Special education 386,924           
Student health services 3,230               
Transportation 3,033,758        
Operation of plant 40,831             
Maintenance of plant 887,022           
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 22,199,263$    

Business-type activity:
Food Services 1,206,313$      

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-type activity/ Food Services
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 762,500$         -$                 -$                  762,500$         
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 14,954,322      1,120,793        (149,304)           15,925,811      
Total capital assets being depreciated 15,716,822      1,120,793        (149,304)           16,688,311      

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings & improvements (552,050)          (30,500)            -                    (582,550)          
Machinery and equipment (6,745,448)       (1,218,735)       96,410              (7,867,773)       
Total accumulated depreciation (7,297,498)       (1,249,235)       96,410              (8,450,323)       

Business-type activty capital assets, net 8,419,324$      (128,442)$        (52,894)$           8,237,988$      

The changes in Business-type capital assets reflect certain immaterial physical inventory adjustments.
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B. CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS 
 
The Board has active construction projects as of June 30, 2004. The projects include new 
school construction, additions, and renovations to school buildings. At year end the Board’s 
commitments with contractors are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All school capital project construction is financed primarily from County and State grants. 
 
 
NOTE 6.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; illness and injuries to employees, students and the 
public; natural disasters; and employee health benefits.  
 
Effective July 1, 1995, the Board began to participate in the County self-insurance program 
for employee and retiree health and dental insurance and workers’ compensation. The Board 
pays premiums to the County for the Board’s share of expense based upon prior years’ 
claims and anticipated enrollment. The County serves as the administrator of the plans and 
estimates outstanding claims and required reserves. The Board’s ultimate liability is limited 
to premiums paid to the County, with the exception of salary costs related to lost time for 
workers compensation incidents, which is paid by the Board. 
 
The Board also participates in a self-insured pool with other boards of education for property 
and casualty insurance. Casualty programs in which the Board participates include 
comprehensive general liability, automobile liability and physical damage, bus contractors’ 
and drivers’ liability, and Board of Education legal liability. Property insurance programs 
include real and personal property (replacement cost), boiler and machinery, natural 
disasters, employees’ dishonesty blanket bond, theft and disappearance, and computer and 
electronic funds transfer fraud. The pool is administered by the Maryland Association of 
Boards of Education (MABE), a public entity risk pool. MABE serves as an independent 
administrator, processing and settling claims, establishing liability limits, setting premiums, 
and establishing and maintaining reserves. The Board’s liability is limited to premiums paid 

Remaining
Projects Spent-to-Date Commitment

New school construction 49,274,158$       4,610,600$      
Additions 20,657,387         365,800           
Improvements and renovations 169,535,024       23,149,900      
     Total 239,466,569$     28,126,300$    
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to MABE and a deductible which ranges from $0 to $15,000 per incident. The pool limits its 
exposure by purchasing excess coverage from commercial carriers. 
 
Outside of the MABE pool, the Board carries underground tank and catastrophic student 
accident insurance. The Board pays all of the premiums for this coverage.  
 
There have been no reductions in insurance coverage from the previous year, and the amount 
of settlements over the last three years has not exceeded insurance coverage.  
 
 
NOTE 7. OPERATING LEASES  
 
The Board has long-term commitments as lessee under various non-cancelable operating 
leases for warehouse space, office space, and bus parking facilities.  Total rent expense under 
the operating leases for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004, amounted to $3,842,627. These 
lease periods extend through 2012. The aggregate future rental payments under these 
commitments is $9,370,478 as summarized below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE 8. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS  
 
The Board’s long-term obligations include capital leases and compensated absences. Details 
of these obligations and the current year changes follow. 
 
A. CAPITAL LEASES 
 
The Board’s capital leases represent obligations incurred to finance the purchase of school 
buses and other vehicles, over a period ranging from three to five years. These lease 

Fiscal year ending June 30:
2005 2,058,293$    
2006 2,099,372      
2007 1,674,428      
2008 1,205,938      
2009 1,097,899      

2010-2012 1,234,548      
Total 9,370,478$    
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agreements qualify as capital leases for accounting purposes and, therefore, have been 
recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the inception date. 
The assets acquired through capital lease are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The following are the future minimum lease payments under the Board’s capital lease 
agreements, and the present value of the minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2004: 
 

 
 
B. CHANGES IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Long-term liabilities reported in the Statement of Net Assets include capital leases and 
compensated absences. The schedule below presents the current year activity and year-end 
balances for the Board’s long-term liabilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governmental
Fiscal years ending June 30: Activities
2005 3,442,620$        
2006 3,382,907          
2007 2,548,002          
2008 747,359             
2009 24,010               
     Total minimum lease payments 10,144,898        
     Less: amount representing interest (412,090)           
     Present value of future minimum lease payments 9,732,808$        

Governmental
Asset Activities
     Vehicles 14,956,215$      
     Less: accumulated depreciation (2,135,182)       
          Total 12,821,033$      
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NOTE 9.  RETIREMENT AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
A.   TEACHERS RETIREMENT AND PENSION SYSTEMS OF THE STATE OF 

MARYLAND 
 
Teachers and employees of the Board in related positions are covered by either the Teachers 
Retirement System of the State of Maryland or the Teachers Pension System of the State of 
Maryland.  These Systems are part of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System, 
and are cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement systems. The State of 
Maryland pays substantially all required employer contributions on behalf of the Board. The 
Systems were established in accordance with the State Personnel and Pension Article of the 
Annotated Code of Maryland. Responsibility for administration and operation of the Systems 
is vested in a 15-member Board of Trustees (the Trustees). The Trustees also have the 
authority to establish and amend the respective benefit provisions. The Systems provide 
retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to 
system members and beneficiaries. Members of the Systems may retire with full benefits 
after completing 30 years of creditable service, regardless of age, or after attaining age 60 for 
members of the Teachers Retirement System, or age 62 or older with specified years of 
creditable service for members of the Teachers Pension System.  Both Systems provide for 
reduced benefit allowances upon completing five years of creditable service provided the 
member lives to attain age 60 or age 62 for the Teachers Retirement System and Teachers 
Pension System, respectively. The State Retirement Agency issues a publicly available, 
comprehensive annual financial report that includes the System’s financial statements and 
required supplementary information. That report may be obtained by writing to the State 
Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, State Retirement Agency, 301 Preston Street, 
Baltimore, Maryland 21201-2363, or by calling (800) 492-5909. 
  

Due
Beginning Ending Within

Governmental Activities Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
     Capital leases 10,327,452$    3,448,836$      (4,043,480)$      9,732,808$      3,294,422$      
     Compensated absences 12,314,093      8,664,834        (8,661,877)        12,317,050      8,661,877        
          Governmental activity
              Long-term liabilities 22,641,545$    12,113,670$    (12,705,357)$    22,049,858$    11,956,299$    

Business-type Activity/ Food 
Services

     Compensated absences 234,732$         180,012$         (189,333)$         225,411$         189,333$         
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Members of the Teachers Retirement System are required to contribute either 7% or 5% of 
earnable compensation depending upon the retirement option selected.  Members of the 
Teachers Pension System are required to contribute 2% of earnable compensation. Employer 
contribution rates are determined actuarially. The current contribution rate is 9.35% of 
covered payroll. The State makes employer contributions on behalf of the Board. The State’s 
contributions on behalf of the Board for the years ended June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were 
$48,239,310, $45,261,219, and $42,267,659, respectively. Such cost applicable to Fiscal 
Year 2004 has been recognized as both a revenue and an expense in the Government-wide 
Statement of Activities, and in the General Fund in the combined statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balance. Such amount has not been recognized for 
budgetary purposes. 
 
 
B.    EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF BALTIMORE COUNTY  
 
Custodians, bus drivers, mechanics, maintenance workers, tradesmen, cafeteria workers, and 
employees in related positions are covered by the Employees Retirement System of 
Baltimore County (the System), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee 
retirement system. The System was established in accordance with the Section 5-1-101 of the 
Baltimore County Code (the Code) and placed under the management of the Board of 
Trustees. The administration of this system is vested in the Director of Budget and Finance of 
Baltimore County as specified in Section 5-1-238 of the Code. The Director of Budget and 
Finance has the responsibility to implement policies of the eight member Board of Trustees 
as they pertain to the System and to ensure the System operates within the guidelines as set 
forth in those policies. The System provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-
of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. Members of this 
System may retire with full benefits after completion of 30 years of creditable service or after 
attaining age 60. The System issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial 
report that includes the System’s financial statements and required supplementary 
information. That report may be obtained by writing to the Employees Retirement System of 
Baltimore County, 400 Washington Ave., Towson, Maryland 21204. 
 
Plan members are required to contribute an actuarially determined percentage of covered 
salary based upon age at the time the employee is hired. The Board is required to contribute 
to the System at an actuarially determined rate. The contribution requirements for Plan 
members and the Board are established and may be amended by the Board of Trustees in 
accordance with Section 5 of the Code. The Board’s contributions to the System for the years 
ended June 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $1,013,759, $927,351, and $150,975, 
respectively, all of which were 100% of the required contribution. 
  
 



Board of Education of Baltimore County 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2004 
 

 72

 C.    POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
In addition to pension benefits provided by the State or County, the Board presently provides 
certain health care and prescription drug benefits for retired employees.  Employees 
receiving a Board approved retirement are eligible, in accordance with bargaining unit 
agreements between the Board and employee associations, to participate in the Baltimore 
County Public Schools employees benefit plan.  Currently, approximately 5,600 retirees meet 
the eligibility requirements.  The Board contributes a percentage of the cost for health care 
and Medicare part B for retirees and their dependents.  The rate of contribution for health 
care is determined by the retiree’s years of service and by the terms of any retirement 
incentive program that may have been in effect at the time of retirement. Such benefits are 
financed partly on a pay-as-you-go basis, and by participating in the self-insured program as 
described in note 6. During the year ended June 30, 2004, the Board contributed $24,627,603 
toward the cost of these benefits.   
 
 
NOTE 10.  CONTINGENCIES 
 
In the normal course of operations, the Board is subject to various lawsuits and claims. Based 
upon advice of counsel, the Board has established an appropriate liability for such items 
where a loss is deemed probable. In total these losses are not expected to exceed $550,000. In 
the opinion of management and legal counsel, the ultimate disposition of other unresolved 
claims and litigation matters will not have a material effect on the Board’s financial position 
or results of operations. 
 
The Board receives grant funds, principally from the United States Government and the State 
of Maryland, for various programs.  Certain expenditures of these funds are subject to audit 
by the grantors, with the Board being contingently liable for amounts received in excess of 
allowable expenditures.  In the opinion of management, no material refunds will be required 
as a result of expenditures disallowed by the grantors, except as described below. 
 
The Office of the Inspector General (OIG) for the U. S. Department of Health and Human 
Services conducted an audit of Medicaid cost claims in the State of Maryland submitted by 
Local Education Agencies (LEA). The OIG has recommended repayment by the State of $19 
million. The audit is currently under appeal by the State. When this audit is ultimately 
resolved, the State may assess Maryland LEAs to repay some of the costs. Depending on 
how the State assesses the LEAs the Board’s assessment could be in the range of $3 to $6 
million. No provision for this contingency has been recorded by the Board as of June 30, 
2004. 
 
 



Balance Balance

July 1, 2003 Additions Deductions June 30, 2004
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3,302,675$        16,857,573$       16,556,246$       3,604,002$         
Investments 2,377,474          62,403              127,243             2,312,634          
Due from external parties 76,993               550,493            566,320             61,166               
Inventories 246,550             262,993            246,550             262,993             
        Total assets 6,003,692$        17,733,462$       17,496,359$       6,240,795$         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 106,063$           493,763$           532,592$            67,234$             
Due to school organizations 5,897,629          15,192,798        14,916,866        6,173,561          
        Total liabilities 6,003,692$        15,686,561$       15,449,458$       6,240,795$         

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

SCHOOL ACTIVITIES AGENCY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004
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Kendall Strong, 5th grade, Rodgers Forge Elementary 



Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Enrollment by Grades

SEPTEMBER
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

Elementary:
Preschool 3,469 3,404     3,176     3,182   3,454   3,400   3,052   3,085     2,952   2,711 
Kindergarten 6,748 6,654     6,665     6,722   6,917   6,631   7,213   7,645     7,707   7,502 
Grade         1 7,325 7,492     7,431     7,449   7,739   7,867   8,442   8,559     8,375   8,262 

2 7,484 7,580     7,505     7,705   8,184   8,004   8,468   8,431     8,401   8,241 
3 7,753 7,671     7,802     8,212   8,449   8,397   8,397   8,411     8,262   8,216 
4 7,841 7,982     8,258     8,553   8,559   8,599   8,483   8,319     8,246   7,818 
5 8,160 8,363     8,591     8,501   8,552   8,374   8,324   8,276     7,792   7,940 

Non Graded* -            -           -          -          -          -           -            -          144    
     Total Elementary 48,780   49,146   49,428   50,324 51,854 51,272 52,379 52,726   51,735 50,834

Middle:
Grade          6 8,483 8,738     8,579     8,613   8,422   8,361   8,237   7,945     7,949   7,636 

7 8,847 8,784     8,655     8,590   8,362   8,328   7,976   8,030     7,668   7,709 
8 8,777 8,759     8,504     8,361   8,231   8,027   7,802   7,606     7,618   7,240 

     Total Middle 26,107   26,281   25,738   25,564 25,015 24,716 24,015 23,581   23,235 22,585

High:
Grade        9 9,453 9,298     8,907     8,715   8,307   8,064   7,963   8,060     7,694   7,336 

10 8,625 8,349     8,262     7,996   7,551   7,760   7,623   7,318     6,759   6,686 
11 7,710 7,766     7,441     7,282   6,545   6,920   6,855   6,328     6,150   5,676 
12 7,581 7,261     7,021     6,708   6,503   6,564   6,130   5,943     5,410   5,570 

     Total High 33,369   32,674   31,631   30,701 28,906 29,308 28,571 27,649   26,013 25,268

Special Education:
Special Education schools 536       503       525      544     649     909     555      513       532     557    
     Total Special Education 536       503       525      544     649     909     555      513       532     557    

          Total enrollment 108,792 108,604 107,322 107,133 106,424 106,205 105,520 104,469 101,515 99,244

 

* Includes only Level IV and V students who are coded "non-graded"
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Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Enrollment by Schools

SEPTEMBER SEPTEMBER
2003 2002 2003 2002

Elementary: Hillcrest 642 646
Arbutus 412 418 Jacksonville 584 586
Baltimore Highlands 576 580 Johnnycake 571 648
Battle Grove 348 324 Joppa View 585 604
Bear Creek 479 517 Kingsville 393 427
Bedford 376 367 Lansdowne 451 439
Berkshire 378 368 Logan 491 499
Campfield ECLD Ctr. 381 318 Lutherville 421 429
Carney 525 554 Mars Estates 468 489
Carroll Manor 321 313 Martin Boulevard 317 341
Catonsville 408 397 McCormick 445 449
Cedarmere 530 524 Middleborough 324 329
Chadwick 479 486 Middlesex 525 468
Chapel Hill 664 621 Milbrook 349 359
Charlesmont 359 354 New Town 881 984
Chase 346 357 Norwood 594 610
Chatsworth 448 418 Oakleigh 510 495
Chesapeake Terrace 215 245 Oliver Beach 293 294
Church Lane 512 481 Orems 323 332
Colgate 356 329 Owings Mills 741 721
Cromwell Magnet 423 425 Padonia 329 312
Deep Creek 526 521 Perry Hall 533 547
Deer Park 485 511 Pine Grove 494 523
Dogwood 601 625 Pinewood 496 497
Dundalk 681 690 Pleasant Plains 528 504
Eastwood Center 196 205 Pot Spring 560 580
Edgemere 494 482 Powhatan 327 358
Edmondson Heights 724 740 Prettyboy 433 452
Elmwood 557 545 Randallstown 391 374
Essex 432 432 Red House Run 466 478
Featherbed Lane 759 748 Reisterstown 459 473
Fifth District 291 279 Relay 445 457
Fort Garrison 429 457 Riderwood 500 542
Franklin 506 485 Riverview 538 543
Fullerton 520 512 Rodgers Forge 474 493
Glenmar 399 388 Sandalwood 542 488
Glyndon 515 480 Sandy Plains 551 559
Grange 430 456 Scotts Branch 595 562
Gunpowder 528 520 Seneca 425 418
Halethorpe 422 420 Seven Oaks 428 472
Halstead Academy 550 540 Seventh District 377 367
Hampton 344 348 Shady Spring 551 580
Harford Hills 374 349 Sparks 491 496
Hawthorne 517 518 Stoneleigh 555 535
Hebbville 547 550 Summit Park 335 312
Hernwood 454 457 Sussex 394 420
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SEPTEMBER SEPTEMBER
2003 2002 2003 2002

Timber Grove 598        631    High and Alternatives:  
Timonium 418           417    Carver Center 713         711      
Victory Villa 343           382    Catonsville 1,462       1,455   
Villa Cresta 530           574    Catonsville Alternative 77           70        
Warren 395           391    Chesapeake 992         909      
Wellwood 534           517    Dulaney 1,941       1,840   
Westchester 492           487    Dundalk 1,392       1,418   
Westowne 460           458    Eastern School of Technology 1,290       1,339   
Winand 581           588    Franklin 1,548       1,482   
Winfield 405           424    Hereford 1,298       1,237   
Woodbridge 425           456    Inverness Ctr. High 74           75        
Woodmoor 654           673    Kenwood 1,846       1,775   
Misc. Elementary Programs 3             3       Lansdowne 1,212       1,167   

Elementary total: 48,780     49,146  Loch Raven 1,036       999      
Milford Mill 1,473       1,585   

Middle and Alternatives: New Town 443         
Arbutus 941         960    Overlea 1,192       1,219   
Catonsville 643         657    Owings Mills 1,343       1,375   
Cockeysville 813         812    Parkville 1,968       1,973   
Deep Creek 859         924    Patapsco 1,576       1,482   
Deer Park 1,336       1,396 Perry Hall 2,283       2,281   
Dumbarton 908         896    Pikesville 1,109       1,176   
Dundalk 622         612    Randallstown 1,503       1,664   
Franklin 1,444       1,463 Rosedale Alternative 73           76        
General John Stricker 934         951    Sparrows Point 838         805      
Golden Ring 864         901    Towson 1,450       1,410   
Hereford 1,035       996    Western School of Technology 1,082       1,046   
Holabird 776         778    Woodlawn 2,000       1,914   
Inverness Center 35           55      Misc. Secondary Programs 155         191      
Lansdowne 802         793    High total: 33,369    32,674     
Loch Raven Technical Academy 1,047       1,006 
Meadowwood Educ. Ctr. 60           68      Special Education:
Middle River 908         907    Battle Monument 66           71        
Old Court 1,108       1,136 Catonsville Education Center 43           31        
Parkville 1,154       1,184 Ridge Ruxton School 145         141      
Perry Hall 1,537       1,504 Maiden Choice School 117         121      
Pikesville 1,171       1,116 White Oak School 165         139      
Pine Grove 1,197       1,185 Special Education total: 536          503          
Rosedale Alt. Middle 70           53      
Ridgely 1,043       1,070 
Southwest Academy 1,334       1,338     Total enrollment: 108,792   108,604   
Sparrows Point 571         579      
Stemmers Run 964         960    
Sudbrook Magnet 1,025       1,028 
Woodlawn 902         937    
Misc. Middle Programs 4             16      

Middle total: 26,107     26,281  

77



Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Government-wide Expenses by Function
        Last Three Fiscal Years

Student
Fiscal Mid-Level Special Personnel Health Student
Year Administration Administration Instruction Education Services Services Transportation

2002 26,905,160$   75,465,782$       521,615,258$  136,155,182$     6,390,363$       13,920,397$       40,765,587$      

2003 30,122,551     77,999,357         542,517,774    149,637,586       7,192,998         14,794,844         43,232,218        

2004 31,385,272     79,959,923         564,490,688    153,331,934       7,624,553         14,496,111         45,010,546        
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Interest on
Operation of Maintenance Community Capital Long-term Food 

Plant of Plant Services Outlay Debt Services Total

67,103,609$    21,308,751$    461,832$          7,691,229$       165,846$          29,837,536$     947,786,532$     

68,402,143      22,717,006      636,934            641,023            149,757            31,776,828       989,821,019       

71,793,980      21,727,587      392,493            6,267,347         239,413            30,794,626       1,027,514,473    
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Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Government-wide Revenues
        Last Three Fiscal Years

Operating Capital
Charges Grants Grants

Fiscal for and and Baltimore State
Year Services Contributions Contributions County of Maryland Other Total

2002 15,856,891$   124,339,716$     170,110,883$  544,998,339$     241,792,730$   5,516,707$         1,102,615,266$ 

2003 15,946,496     141,418,802       109,213,128    547,626,716       260,402,217     6,002,947           1,080,610,306   

2004 15,788,273     123,738,859       51,298,554      560,856,040       305,964,754     7,318,610           1,064,965,090   

Program Revenues General Revenues
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Owen Ward, 3rd grade, Fullerton Elementary 



Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Governmental Funds Expenditures by Function ¹
        Last Ten Fiscal Years

Student
Fiscal Mid-Level Textbooks Special Personnel Health
Year Administration Administration ² Salaries and Supplies ² Other Costs Education Services Services

1995 18,942,145$    -$                        270,633,319$   -$                      37,640,963$   55,298,544$   1,898,153$   6,029,973$   

1996 18,181,380      -                          281,249,649     -                        39,484,675     60,341,299     2,335,316     6,103,268     

1997 18,826,846      -                          292,018,189     -                        36,147,352     62,934,320     2,421,394     6,518,895     

1998 15,190,595      49,111,082          263,600,999     10,971,846        16,800,924     72,391,141     3,096,313     6,868,373     

1999 16,708,370      49,971,499          288,946,493     15,839,180        17,843,607     81,304,732     4,270,766     7,432,642     

2000 20,633,950      53,029,176          308,157,478     18,877,262        21,838,975     91,270,432     4,346,503     8,279,514     

2001 22,094,426      55,029,696          332,229,092     28,816,025        26,046,792     98,298,722     4,539,246     9,739,199     

2002 22,066,578      57,850,164          355,055,442     23,025,249        21,195,554     110,296,729   4,809,557     10,794,769   

2003 24,407,915      58,663,175          363,198,921     19,816,267        20,665,460     119,326,648   5,434,548     11,278,815   

2004 25,801,576      60,476,646          373,784,666     22,502,652        20,420,895     121,737,473   5,690,750     10,944,273   

¹ Includes general, special revenue, capital projects, and debt service funds.

² New category as of July 1, 1997.  Mid-Level Administration and Instructional Textbooks and Suplies reported as Instructional

    Salaries and Other Costs prior to July 1, 1997.

³ Prior Fiscal Year 1999, special revenue funds were reported by grant not function.  

Instruction
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Student Operation of Maintenance Fixed Community Capital Debt Special
Transportation Plant of Plant Charges Services Outlay Service Revenue ³ Total

23,021,454$     45,489,230$   15,785,860$   143,632,444$   -$               38,748,667$   10,052,067$   24,367,332$   691,540,151$    

24,767,784       43,832,361     16,357,121     145,866,799     -                 25,615,142     12,027,585     22,272,518     698,434,897      

28,567,322       45,083,170     18,851,950     153,621,984     -                 39,983,602     13,294,995     31,385,904     749,655,923      

28,972,684       50,037,398     15,561,633     153,290,470     -                 58,203,332     5,723,001       38,333,924     788,153,715      

30,406,790       49,518,846     15,771,466     166,348,336     60,238        59,542,467     6,602,928       -                     810,568,360      

29,980,602       52,020,476     16,973,565     159,915,684     559,894      69,320,270     6,582,537       -                     861,786,318      

32,625,646       57,572,583     18,110,159     171,296,688     128,688      113,932,799   5,013,932       -                     975,473,693      

39,211,738       57,194,006     18,999,445     181,283,508     395,817      172,014,990   4,902,162       -                     1,079,095,708   

37,156,345       57,473,451     19,501,483     207,339,264     569,643      111,385,609   4,128,800       -                     1,060,346,344   

35,903,596       60,431,092     18,637,256     216,614,987     347,410      53,132,861     4,282,893       -                     1,030,709,026   
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Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Governmental Funds Revenues by Source ¹
        Last Ten Fiscal Years

United

Fiscal Baltimore State of States

Year County Maryland Government Other Total

1995 445,263,686$       216,376,766$       20,102,533$         17,227,454$         698,970,439$        

1996 438,749,768         229,690,289         17,918,502           7,360,128             693,718,687          

1997 452,373,596         256,189,375         26,924,406           7,438,159             742,925,536          

1998 470,320,589         277,681,077         27,539,665           7,665,396             783,206,727          

1999 488,442,156         290,997,194         28,010,581           7,204,006             814,653,937          

2000 516,610,997         299,122,673         32,513,031           7,134,967             855,381,668          

2001 617,473,421         310,987,788         38,059,413           8,640,993             975,161,615          

2002 683,935,144         341,625,771         42,248,327           6,742,966             1,074,552,208       

2003 626,125,897         366,581,091         51,171,898           7,543,947             1,051,422,833       

2004 598,229,296         373,213,656         54,235,933           8,347,243             1,034,026,128       

¹ Includes general, special revenue, capital projects, and debt service funds.
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Trent Weidman, 2nd grade, Catonsville Elementary 
 



Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Final Approved Operating Budgets
        Expenditures
        Last Ten Fiscal Years

General Fund

Instruction Instructional Student

Fiscal Mid-Level Salaries and Textbooks Special Personnel Health Student

Year Administration Administration* Other Costs and Supplies* Education Services Service Transportation

1995 18,350,385$   -$                      305,134,751$ -$                   54,416,353$ 1,897,937$ 6,023,275$ 22,039,225$    

1996 19,005,701     -                        315,702,560  60,195,202   2,336,931   6,099,547   22,994,918      

1997 18,428,305     -                        328,959,177  -                     63,135,276   2,419,717   6,525,289   23,886,597      

1998 15,691,687     49,448,087        280,193,469  11,774,602     72,896,611   3,096,316   6,867,287   26,708,995      

1999 16,617,311     49,564,848        287,900,423  14,196,478     73,854,469   3,456,450   7,271,789   29,272,208      

2000 16,837,339     52,900,626        301,632,131  15,501,518     80,164,025   3,590,531   7,764,027   30,910,997      

2001 19,061,194     54,638,532        326,763,165  26,767,899     87,975,847   3,555,116   8,445,512   34,685,586      

2002 19,059,273     57,428,974        345,037,640  19,064,302     95,926,970   3,597,464   9,308,563   35,053,877      

2003 19,380,416     58,113,968        342,779,212  16,209,975     101,804,957 3,525,679   9,347,822   35,162,932      

2004 22,722,109     59,672,055        372,296,810  19,129,870     108,030,169 4,315,005   9,533,635   35,256,012      

*New category as of July 1, 1997.  Mid-Level Administration and Instructional

 Textbooks and Supplies reported as Instruction prior to July 1, 1997.
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General Debt Special

Fund Service Revenue

Total Fund Fund

Federal and

Operation Maintenance Fixed Capital General Debt Restricted

of Plant of Plant Charges Outlay Fund Service Programs Total

41,813,401$ 16,268,649$ 90,886,813$ -$                556,830,789$ 11,057,068$ 23,207,191$ 591,095,048$ 

43,956,447   16,284,981   92,071,717   -                  578,648,004  12,800,458   25,377,595   616,826,057  

44,877,804   16,485,924   96,182,650   -                  600,900,739  13,774,638   31,155,137   645,830,514  

50,786,581   16,822,752   97,432,683   1,681,273    633,400,343  16,805,748   44,373,664   694,579,755  

51,691,556   17,792,010   100,028,975 1,663,535    653,310,052  14,604,599   56,082,322   723,996,973  

52,560,098   16,772,442   103,213,052 1,735,822    683,582,608  15,990,017   55,394,596   754,967,221  

58,087,389   18,775,272   115,907,167 1,808,849    756,471,528  14,657,556   73,336,327   844,465,411  

56,947,585   18,984,360   129,112,128 1,889,312    791,410,448  13,649,638   77,559,014   882,619,100  

58,062,293   19,587,235   148,999,832 2,132,949    815,107,270  22,397,209   97,490,642   934,995,121  

61,022,241   19,923,172   158,765,061 2,321,990    872,988,129  16,251,162   71,031,343   960,270,634  
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Board of Education of Baltimore County
        General Fund - Revenue and Expenditures - Budgetary Basis
        Last Five Fiscal Years
        

2004 2003
Percent Percent

Amount of Total Amount of Total
Revenues by Source:
          Baltimore County 560,233,962$           64.3                   547,235,002$       67.2                   
          State of Maryland 301,396,223             34.6                   255,781,324         31.4                   
          United States Government 99,964                      0.1                     -                            -                      
          Other 8,947,499                 1.0                     11,230,423           1.4                     

Total revenue 870,677,648             100.0                 814,246,749         100.0                 

Current Expenditures
     by Function:
          Administration 22,110,705               2.6                     19,375,229           2.4                     
          Mid-Level Administration 59,652,313               6.8                     58,101,429           7.1                     
          Instructional costs:
               Salaries 355,293,991             41.1                   330,818,641         40.6                   
               Instr textbooks & supp 18,670,557               2.2                     16,208,730           2.0                     
               Other costs 14,405,688               1.7                     11,824,501           1.5                     
          Special education 104,621,643             12.1                   101,801,531         12.5                   
          Student personnel services 4,243,711                 0.5                     3,524,318             0.4                     
          Health services 9,527,711                 1.1                     9,347,750             1.1                     
          Student transportation 35,178,773               4.1                     34,734,858           4.3                     
          Operation of plant 60,822,017               7.0                     58,023,616           7.1                     
          Maintenance of plant 19,745,331               2.3                     19,465,492           2.4                     
          Fixed charges 158,675,838             18.3                   148,827,245         18.3                   
          Capital outlay 2,238,297                 0.3                     2,129,660             0.3                     
         Total expenses 865,186,575             100.1                 814,183,000         100.0                 

Excess of revenue
     over expenditures 5,491,073$               63,749$                
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2002 2001 2000
Percent Percent Percent

Amount of Total Amount of Total Amount of Total

544,998,339$       68.9                   522,360,340$       69.2                   465,841,420$       68.1                   
237,128,540         30.0                   220,768,532         29.2                   208,334,064         30.4                   

-                            -                      -                            -                      -                            -                      
9,089,210             1.1                     11,769,338           1.6                     10,017,706           1.5                     

791,216,089         100.0                 754,898,210         100.0                 684,193,190         100.0                 

19,024,880           2.4                     19,053,680           2.5                     16,837,131           2.4                     
57,428,471           7.3                     54,632,832           7.2                     52,895,255           7.8                     

325,357,465         41.2                   305,892,732         40.5                   286,083,298         41.9                   
19,064,287           2.4                     26,766,966           3.6                     15,476,944           2.3                     
17,578,639           2.2                     20,792,157           2.8                     15,536,211           2.3                     
95,748,801           12.1                   87,823,837           11.6                   79,660,783           11.7                   

3,597,463             0.5                     3,551,587             0.5                     3,536,303             0.5                     
9,308,554             1.2                     8,428,275             1.1                     7,667,698             1.1                     

35,047,524           4.5                     34,677,115           4.6                     30,710,114           4.5                     
56,908,710           7.2                     58,065,167           7.7                     52,536,205           7.7                     
18,980,277           2.4                     18,318,799           2.4                     16,772,097           2.5                     

129,107,200         16.4                   115,088,804         15.3                   103,209,514         15.1                   
1,888,642             0.2                     1,806,251             0.2                     1,666,855             0.2                     

789,040,913         100.0                 754,898,202         100.0                 682,588,408         100.0                 

2,175,176$           8$                          1,604,782$           

89



Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Cost Per Pupil - Budgetary Basis
        Last Five Fiscal Years
        

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Total Number of Pupils Enrolled 108,792        108,604      107,322      107,133       106,424       

Current Expense
General Fund:
      Administration 203$             208$            177$            178$             158$            
      Mid-Level Administration 548              549            535            510             497             
       Instruction (1):
             Salaries 3,266            3,271          3,032          2,855           2,688           
             Instr textbooks & supplies 172              176            178            250             145             
             Other costs 132              140            164            194             146             
     Special education 962              963            892            820             749             
     Student personnel services 39                39              34              33               33               
     Health services 88                88              87              79               72               
     Student transportation 323              324            327            324             289             
     Operation of plant 559              560            530            542             494             
     Maintenance of plant 181              182            177            171             158             
     Fixed charges 1,459            1,461          1,203          1,074           970             
     Capital outlay 21                21              18              17               16               

Total General Fund 7,953            7,982          7,354          7,047           6,415           

Special Revenue Fund: 622              787            670            585             511             

Debt Service Fund:
     Principal liquidation 88                138            79              85               94               
     Interest payments, etc. 52                51              48              51               56               

Total Debt Service Fund 140              189            127            136             150             

     Total operating budget 8,715$          8,958$         8,151$         7,768$          7,076$         

The cost per pupil is based on the total number of pupils enrolled in the fall of each school year.

(1) Costs that are not applicable to the basic educational program or that are not charged to the Board of Education are
not included in the above computation.  For the year ended June 30, 2004, these were as follows:

*        Contributions by the State of Maryland to the teachers retirement and pension systems.  The amount
           of these contributions is estimated to be $48,239,310.
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Board of Education of Baltimore County
        Other Data
        Last Five Fiscal Years

2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002 2000/2001 1999/2000
Number of Schools
Elementary 103           104           104           103          101          
Middle 26             26             26             26            26            
High 24             23             23             23            23            
Special education schools and centers 5               5               5               5              5              
Vocational education centers 1               1               1               1              1              
Alternative education centers 3               4               4               4              6              

Total 162           163           163           162          162          

Operating Data of Food Service Fund
Number of days lunch served 179           177           180           180          176          
Number of free lunches served to pupils annually 3,085,437  2,903,427  2,756,967  2,654,801 2,651,849 
Average number of free lunches served to pupils daily 17,237       16,404       15,316       14,749     15,067     
Number of paid lunches served to pupils annually: 
     At reduced price 1,027,733  1,025,523  991,252     950,811   884,181   
     At regular price 4,795,265  4,537,225  4,429,283  4,357,889 4,085,839 
Average number of paid lunches served to pupils daily: 
     At reduced price 5,742        5,794        5,507        5,282       5,024       
     At regular price 26,789       25,634       24,607       24,210     23,215     
Total number of lunches served to pupils annually 8,908,435  8,466,175  8,177,502  7,963,501 7,621,869 
Average number of lunches served to pupils daily 49,768       47,831       45,431       44,242     43,306     
Charge per lunch to students
     Elementary $1.50 $1.50 $1.50 $1.50 $1.50
     Secondary 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60
Charge per lunch to adults 2.70 2.55 2.55 2.45 2.45

Student Transportation Data
Estimated number of eligible riders daily 78,277       79,044       75,988       76,341     74,552     
Number of bus routes:
     County 693           690           663           624          596          
     Private contractor 91             91             91             124          126          

High School Graduates      
Day school 7,286        6,996        6,784        6,674       6,543       
Evening school 43             29             113           50            89            
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KPMG LLP 
111 South Calvert Street 
Baltimore, MD 21202 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on  
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards  

Board of Education of Baltimore County 
Towson, Maryland 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activity, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Board of Education of Baltimore County 
(the Board), a component unit of Baltimore County, Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2004, 
which collectively comprise the Board’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon 
dated September 27, 2004. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Board’s internal control over financial reporting 
in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the basic 
financial statements and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting. 
However, we noted certain matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation 
that we consider to be reportable conditions. Reportable conditions involve matters coming to our attention 
relating to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the internal control over financial reporting 
that, in our judgment, could adversely affect the Board's ability to record, process, summarize, and report 
financial data consistent with the assertions of management in the financial statements. Reportable 
conditions are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 04-01, 
04-02, and 04-03. 

A material weakness is a reportable condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the 
internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by 
error or fraud in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may 
occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions. Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily 
disclose all matters in the internal control that might be reportable conditions and, accordingly, would not 
necessarily disclose all reportable conditions that are also considered to be material weaknesses. However, 
of the reportable conditions described above, we consider items 04-02 and 04-03 to be material 
weaknesses. 

KPMG LLP. KPMG LLP, a U.S. limited liability partnership, is 
a member of KPMG International, a Swiss association. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Board’s basic financial statements are free 
of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance or other matter that is 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards and which is described in the 
accompanying findings and questioned costs as item 04-03. 

We also noted certain matters that we reported to management of the Board in a separate letter dated 
September 30, 2004. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board, management and Federal 
awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 

 

 

September 27, 2004 
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KPMG LLP 
111 South Calvert Street 
Baltimore, MD 21202 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance 
With Requirements Applicable to Each Major Program, Internal Control 
Over Compliance, and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

in Accordance With OMB Circular A-133 

Board of Education of Baltimore County 
Towson, Maryland: 

Compliance 

We have audited the compliance of the Board of Education of Baltimore County (Board), a component 
unit of Baltimore County, Maryland, with the types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to 
each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2004. The Board’s major federal 
programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to each of its major federal programs is the responsibility of the Board’s management. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Board’s compliance based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of 
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect 
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
Board’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures, as we consider 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Board’s compliance with those requirements. 

As described in item 04-04, 04-07, 04-08 and 04-09 in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs, the Board did not comply with requirements regarding allowable costs and cost 
principles and reporting requirements that are applicable to its Child Nutrition and Special Education 
clusters. Compliance with such requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for the Board to comply with 
the requirements applicable to that program. 

In our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the preceding paragraph, the Board complied, 
in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that are applicable to its Child Nutrition 
and Special Education clusters for the year ended June 30, 2004. 

KPMG LLP. KPMG LLP, a U.S. limited liability partnership, is 
a member of KPMG International, a Swiss association. 
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As described in items 04-04 and 04-11 in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, 
the Board did not comply with requirements regarding allowable costs and cost principles and special 
tests and provisions that are applicable to its Title I, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
program. Compliance with such requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for the Board to comply with 
requirements applicable to that program. 

In our opinion, because of the effects of the noncompliance described in the preceding paragraph, the 
Board did not comply in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that are applicable 
to Title I, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies.  

In our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the preceding paragraphs, the Board 
complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that are applicable to each of 
its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2004.  

Internal Control Over Compliance 

The management of the Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal 
programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Board’s internal control over 
compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program in 
order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and 
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133.  

We noted certain matters involving internal control over compliance and its operation that we consider 
to be reportable conditions. Reportable conditions involve matters coming to our attention relating to 
significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over compliance that, in our 
judgment, could adversely affect the Board’s ability to administer a major federal program in accordance 
with the applicable requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants. Reportable conditions are 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 04-04 through 04-12. 

A material weakness is a reportable condition in which the design or operation of one or more internal 
control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that noncompliance with the 
applicable requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants caused by error or fraud that would be 
material in relation to a major federal program being audited may occur and not be detected within a 
timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. Our 
consideration of internal control over compliance would not necessarily disclose all matters in internal 
control that might be reportable conditions and, accordingly, would not necessarily disclose all 
reportable conditions that are also considered to be material weaknesses. However, of the reportable 
conditions described above, we consider item 04-04 to be a material weakness. 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Board as of and for the year ended June 30, 2004, 
and have issued our report thereon dated September 27, 2004. Our audit was performed for the purpose 
of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by OMB 
Circular A-133 and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our 
opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board, management, and federal 
awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 

 

November 29, 2004, except for our report on the 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards which is 
as of September 27, 2004 



BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year ended June 30, 2004

 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number Expenditures

U. S. Department of Agriculture:
Pass-through programs from Maryland State Department of Education:

Federal Donations of Food Commodities 10.550 — $ 1,651,012    
National School Lunch Program                  10.555 — 9,603,753    
After-School Snack Program 10.555 23,395         
National School Breakfast Program                  10.553 — 2,522,273    
National School Summer Food Service Program                  10.559 — 232,223       

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 14,032,656  

U. S. Department of Commerce:
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Direct Program:

Bay Quest FY 03 11.457 NA17FU2862 5,508           
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Schoolyard Habitat FY 04 11.457 401798-01 6,658           

Total Department of Commerce 12,166         

National Security Agency:
Mathematical Sciences Program

Pass-through program From University of Maryland –
Eastern Shore

Project TEAM FY 04 12.901 — 11,842         
Direct Program:

SEIST FY 04 – 05 12.901 H98230-04-02-0001 3,971           
SEIST FY 2002 – 2003 12.901 MDA904-02-2-003 82                
SEIST FY 03 12.901 MDA904-03-2 38,685         

Total National Security Agency 54,580         

U.S. Department Of Justice:
Pass-through Baltimore County Local Management Board:

Project FACE FY 03 16.523 JAIB-2001-104 8,706           
Project FACE FY 04 16.523 JAIB-2001-1079 101,832       

Total U.S. Department of Justice 110,538       

U.S. Department of Labor:
Job Training and Partnership Act:

Pass-through programs from Baltimore County, Maryland:
Schools to Careers FY 03 17.249 302159 41,785         
WIA Youth Activities:

Steps to Success FY 04 17.259 BC 42052 163,445       

Total U. S. Department of Labor 205,230       

Grantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 
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BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year ended June 30, 2004

 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number ExpendituresGrantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 

National Science Foundation:
Direct Program:

NSF SUPER STEM FY 03 47.076 EHR-0227256 $ 603,351       

U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency:
Pass-through Maryland Emergency Management Agency

Federal Emergency Management Agency Grant FY 04
(formerly 83.544) 97.036 005-03D7F-00 99,964         

U. S. Department of Education:
Adult Education State Grant program:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
NALS 1 and 2 FY 04 84.002 400403-01 8,332           
NALS 3 FY 04 84.002 400403-02 2,240           
Local Institutionalized FY 04 84.002 400403-03 3,406           

Total Adult Education Programs 13,978         

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

FY 02 Title I 84.010A 232456-01 4,660           
Title I FY 03 84.010 330693-01 6,446,965    
FY 03 Delinquent at Risk Youth 84.010 330693-04 44,577         
Title I FY 04 84.010 400571-01 9,616,439    
Delinquent and At Risk Youth FY 04 84.010 400572-01 29,498         
School Improvement FY 04 84.010 400903-01 100,732       
Title I School Improvement FY 04 84.010 401780-01 30,328         

Total Title I Grant 16,273,199  

Special Education:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Behavioral Intervention  FY 03 84.027 301368-01 32,821         
Preschool Inclusive Collaboration FY 03 84.027 330808-01 9,954           
Interschool Partnership FY 03 84.027 301851-01 35,258         
Towson University Outreach FY 03 84.027 302331-02 12,720         
CSPD/MSPP FY 03 84.027 330364-03 29,910         
LRE FY 03 84.027 330364-04 43,590         
Supplemental Pass-through FY 04 84.027 400255-07 16,000         
Pass-through FY 04 84.027 400255-01 15,501,676  
Infants and Toddlers Part B FY 04 84.027 400026-05 123,214       
Effective Environment 84.027 400496-02 20,553         
Interschool Partnership FY 04 84.027 400490-02 23,377         
Disproportional FY 04 84.027 400800-01 8,600           

7 (Continued)



BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year ended June 30, 2004

 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number ExpendituresGrantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 

U. S. Department of Education, continued:
Special Education, continued:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education, 
continued:

Alt. – MSA FY 04 84.027 400255-11 $ 1,998           
CSPD/MSPP FY 04 84.027 400255-08 34,156         
LRE FY 04 84.027 400255-10 169,546       
SIG YR 5 – Subs FY 04 84.027 400255-09 5,738           

Total Special Education 16,069,111  

Vocational Education Basic Grants To States:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Perkins FY 03 84.048 330860-01 103,973       
Perkins FY 04 84.048 400783 1,077,542    
NATEF Eastern Tech FY 04 84.048 401977 3,166           
NATEF Milford Mill FY 04 84.048 401976 2,019           
Print Ed Sollers Point FY 04 84.048 401990 1,850           
Print Ed Overlea HS FY 04 84.048 401991 1,850           
Print Ed Kenwood HS FY 04 84.048 401992 1,850           

Total Perkins 1,192,250    

Special Education: Preschool – IDEA Part B:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Department of Education:
Infants and Toddlers Part B 619 84.173 400026-03 9,000           
Preschool Pass-through FY 04 84.173 400255-04 801,863       

Total IDEA Part B 810,863       

Special Education: Preschool – IDEA Part C:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Out of County FY 03 84.181A 302023 151              
Infants and Toddlers Part C FY 03 84.181A 301811-01 604              
Infants and Toddlers Part C FY 04 84.181A 400026-01 776,060       

Total IDEA Part C 776,815       

Safe and Drug Free Schools and Communities:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

FY 04 Title IV – Safe and Drug Free Schools 84.186 400576-01 493,772       
FY 03 Title IV – Safe and Drug Free Schools 84.186 330693-02 107,646       

8 (Continued)



BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year ended June 30, 2004

 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number ExpendituresGrantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 

U. S. Department of Education, continued:
Safe and Drug Free Schools and Communities, continued:

Pass-Through Baltimore County Local Management Board:
Behavior Management Training FY 03 84.186 SDFS-2002-1020 $ 2,869           
Behavior Management Training FY 04 84.186 SDFS-2003-1008 242,758       

Total Safe and Drug Free Schools 847,045       

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
Education for  Homeless Children and Youth FY 03 84.196A 301783 24,396         
Education for  Homeless Children and Youth FY 04 84.196A 400925-01 76,014         

Total Education for  Homeless Children and Youth 100,410       

Even Start Educational Agencies:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Even Start FY 04 84.213C 400965-01 12,756         

Fund for Improvement of  Education – ESEA Title X
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Summer Pilot Program FY 03 84.215K 301762-03 4,972           
Direct Program:

FY 02 Teaching American History 84.215X S215X010213 201,965       
Smaller Learning Communities FY 04 84.215L V215L030130 93,434         

Total Fund for Improvement of Education 300,371       

Foreign Language Assistance Program:
Direct Program:

FLAP FY 04 84.293B T293B030170 20,727         

Foreign Language Incentive Program:
Direct Program:

French Immersion Program FY 03 84.294A T294A020078 1,567           

Innovative Education Program Strategies:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Title V FY 03 84.298 330387-01 110,517       
Title V FY 04 84.298 400577-01 608,380       

Total Innovative Education Program Strategies 718,897       

Technology Innovation Challenge Grants:
Pass-through program from Montgomery County Public Schools:

Technology Innovation Challenge YR5 FY 03 84.303A — 157,919       
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BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year ended June 30, 2004

 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number ExpendituresGrantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 

U. S. Department of Education, continued:
Technology Literacy Challenge Fund Grant:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
Education Technology Formula FY 03 84.318 330849-01 $ 195,221       
Online Technology Assessment Tools FY 03 84.318 301176-01 64,272         
Maryland Students Online FY 03 84.318 301177-01 156,969       
Education Technology Formula FY 04 84.318 400574-001 143,100       
MD K – 12 Digital Library FY 04 84.318 301178-01 8,838           
Maryland Students Online FY 04 84.318 401495-01 1,440           

Pass-through program from Prince George's County Public Schools:
Project OPEN FY 03 84.318 301767 9,029           
Curriculum Management Consortium FY 03 84.318 301766 15,000         
Project OPEN FY 04 84.318 301767 4,584           

Pass-through program from Carroll County Public Schools:
Learning Management Systems FY 03 84.318 301497 4,995           

Pass-through program from Montgomery County:
Student Technology Literacy FY 04 84.318 401494 1,173           

Pass-through program from Washington County:
Ed Tech Research FY 03 84.318 301515-01 7,312           

Total Technology Literacy Challenge Fund 611,933       

Advanced Placement Incentive Program:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Advanced Placement : Great Expectations FY 04 84.330C 401656-01 3,181           
Baldrige Advanced Placement Woodlawn HS FY 04 84.330A 401769-01 2,220           
Baldrige Advanced Placement Lansdowne HS FY 04 84.330A 401954-01 1,110           

Total Advanced Placement 6,511           

Comprehensive School Reform Demonstration:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Comprehensive School Reform FY 03 84.332A 330303-01 22,799         
Comprehensive School Reform FY 04 84.332A 400991-01 96,271         

Total Comprehensive School Reform 119,070       

Gaining Early Awareness and Readiness for Undergraduate Program:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Gear Up  FY04 84.334A 400852-01 131,277       
Gear Up  FY 03 84.334A 331008-01 53,329         
Gear Up Summer FY 03 84.334A 400841-01 4,000           

Total Gear Up 188,606       
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 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number ExpendituresGrantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 

U. S. Department of Education, continued:
Reading Excellence Act:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
Reading Excellence Act II FY 02 84.338 302298-01 $ 14,485         

Title I Accountability Grants:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

New School Improvement Funds FY 02 84.348 232456-02 583              

School Renovation Grants:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Assistive Technology FY 02 84.352A 234304 50,207         
Assistive Technology Support FY 02 84.352A 301364 345              
Assistive Technology Support FY 04 84.352A 400845-01 19,975         

Total School Renovation Grants 70,527         

Reading First State Grants:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Reading First FY 04 84.357A 401857-01 36,444         

English Language Acquisition:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

English Language Acquisition FY 03 84.365A 330888-01 12,896         
Title III - Language Acquisition FY 04 84.365A 400575-01 250,870       

Total English Language Acquisition 263,766       

Improving Teacher Quality State Grants:
Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:

Title II FY 03 84.367 330563-02 2,393,374    
Title II FY 04 84.367 400573-01 496,459       

Total Improving Teacher Quality State Grants 2,889,833    

Total U. S. Department of Education 41,497,666  

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services:
Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) Activity:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
FY 03 Sexual Harassment and Assault Prevention 93.126 301691-01 7,397           
Sexual Harassment and Assault Prevention FY 04 93.126 400371-01 11,113         
Sexual Harassment and Assault Prevention FY 04 93.126 400946-01 3,556           

Total Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) Activity 22,066         
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 Grant or
Federal Pass-Through
CFDA Entity Identifying Federal 

Number Number ExpendituresGrantor/Program or Cluster Title
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, continued:
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
FY 03 SAFE – Dropout Prevention 93.558 330693-03 $ 102,168       
Dropout Prevention FY 04 93.558 400445-01 402,439       

Total Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 504,607       

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 526,673       

Corporation for National and Community Service:
Learn and Service America:

Pass-through program from Maryland State Department of Education:
FY 03 Learn and Service America 94.004 331068-01 218              
FY 04 Learn and Service America 94.004 400983-01 8,338           

Total Corporation for National and Community Service 8,556           

Other Federal Award Programs:
Direct Programs:

Troops to Teachers Recruitment 12.000 — 9,007           
NASA Woodlawn High First FY 03 43.000 NCC5-618 4,865           
NASA Woodlawn High First FY 04 43.000 NCC5-618 11,000         

Total Other Federal  Award Programs 24,872         

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 57,176,252  

See accompanying notes to schedule
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(1) Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Schedule) includes the federal grant 
activity of the Board of Education of Baltimore County, Maryland (Board), a component unit of Baltimore 
County, Maryland and is presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting, except for the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture programs which are presented using the accrual basis. These bases are 
described in note 1 to the Board’s basic financial statements. The value of food commodities donated by 
the United States Department of Agriculture (Department) is determined by the Department and is 
included in revenues and expenditures in the year used. 

(2) Relation to Basic Financial Statements and Federal Financial Reports 

Except as noted in the following reconciliation, amounts reported in the accompanying Schedule agree 
with amounts reported in the Board’s basic financial statements and the related federal financial reports 
submitted by the Board. 

The following is a reconciliation of federal awards reported in the Schedule to federal revenue reported in 
the Board’s basic financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2004: 

Total federal expenditures reported in the 
Schedule $ 57,176,252   

Federal revenues included in the basic financial 
statements that are not required to be included in 
the Schedule:

Medicaid funds under contract for services 10,613,329   
R.O.T.C. funds under contract for services  481,821   

Other miscellaneous items (2,813)  
Total $  68,268,589   

Total federal revenues reported in the basic
financial statements:

Special Revenue fund $ 54,135,969   
Food Service fund 14,032,656   
General fund  99,964   

$  68,268,589    

(3) Subrecipients 

Of the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule, the Board provided a federal award to a subrecipient 
as follows: 

Federal CFDA Amount provided to
number subrecipient

School-University Partnership for Excellence in 
Research-based Science, Technology, Enginneering
and Math Program (NSF SUPERSTEM FY03) 47.076 $ 327,201       

Program title
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Section I — Summary of Auditors’ Results: 

Type of auditors’ report issued  Unqualified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 
• Material weakness(es) identified? Yes 
• Reportable condition(s) identified that are not 

considered to be material weaknesses? Yes 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs: 
• Material weakness(es) identified? Yes 
• Reportable condition(s) identified that are not 

considered to be material weaknesses? Yes 

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs?  Unqualified, except for Child 
Nutrition and Special Education 
Clusters which were qualifed and 
Title I, Part A which was adverse 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 
accordance with section 510(a) of Circular A-133? 

 
Yes 

Identification of major programs: 

CFDA
Number

Special Education Cluster  84.027      
84.173      

Child Nutrition Cluster  10.553      
10.555      
10.559      

Improving Teacher Quality
State Grants (Title II, Part A) 84.367      

Title I Grants to Local Educational 
Agencies (LEAs) 84.010      

Program Cluster or Name

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B 

programs? 
 

$1,715,288 

Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee?  No 
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Section II — Financial Statement Findings 

Finding 04-01 Lack of Journal Entry Approval  

Criteria: Controls must be in place to ensure amounts recorded in the general ledger and the 
financial statements are materially correct and properly supported. 

Condition: Effective November 1, 2003, the Board implemented control procedures to ensure 
that journal entries are accurately prepared, contain adequate supporting 
documentation and are properly approved by someone other than the original 
preparer.  

Of the thirty journal entries selected for testwork, ten entries that were prepared 
prior to November 1, 2003, were not approved by someone other than the original 
preparer.  

Effect: The Board’s procedures and controls were not adequate to ensure amounts 
recorded in the general ledger and the financial statements were materially correct 
and properly supported for the period of July 1, 2003 through November 1, 2003. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board continue to maintain the newly implemented 
procedures and controls over the amounts recorded in the general ledger and the 
financial statements by continuing to require review and approval of all manual 
journal entries by an appropriate level person other than the original preparer. 

Management’s Response: The Controller’s Office will continue to enforce the procedures that were 
implemented on November 1, 2003. 
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Finding 04-02 Incorrect Reporting Of Encumbrances 

Criteria: Controls must be in place to ensure that amounts recorded in the general ledger 
and the financial statements are materially correct and properly supported and that 
the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). 

National Council on Governmental Accounting Statement No. 1, Governmental 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Principles (NCGAS 1), ¶91 states that 
encumbrance accounting should be used to the extent necessary to assure effective 
budgetary control and accountability and to facilitate effective cash planning and 
control. NCGAS 1, ¶91 also states that encumbrances outstanding at year-end 
represent the estimated amount of expenditures ultimately to result if unperformed 
contracts in process at year-end are completed. Encumbrances at year-end do not 
constitute expenditures or liabilities. 

Condition: The Board’s methodology for recording encumbrances is not in accordance with 
GAAP. Specifically, the Board recorded encumbrances in the general fund for 
purchases of goods and services supported by contracts and purchase orders 
entered into subsequent to June 30, 2004, totalling approximately $1,723,000. The 
Board subsequently adjusted the reserve for encumbrances in the general fund for 
the full $1,723,000 of encumbrances noted above. 

Effect: The Board’s procedures and controls should be adjusted because encumbrances 
recorded in the general ledger and the financial statements after June 30, 2004, 
were not in accordance with GAAP. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board revise its methodology and controls to limit the 
recording of encumbrances to only those items for which an executed contract or 
purchase order exists as of year-end.  

Management’s Response: Management will adjust its methodology related to encumbrances made 
subsequent to the end of the fiscal year. 
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Finding 04-03 Lack Of Time and Effort Reporting For Costs Charged to Federal Programs  

Criteria: In accordance with OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and 
Indian Tribal Governments Notice, in order to support salary and related costs 
charged to Federal programs, monthly effort reports of actual time spent on federal 
programs are required for employees engaged in two or more federal programs or 
activities and semi-annual reports are required for employees engaged in only one 
federal program or other project or activity that could affect the charges to Federal 
programs.  

Per Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No.5 (FASB No.5), 
Accounting for Contingencies, ¶ 8, an estimated loss from a loss contingency shall 
be accrued by a charge to income if information available prior to issuance of the 
financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or 
a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount 
of loss can be reasonably estimated. 

Condition: Of the thirty-four payroll transactions tested for the Title I Program, Grants to 
Local Educational Agencies, twenty-three of the individuals did not prepare the 
required effort certification reports.  

In addition, of the forty payroll transactions tested for the Child Nutrition Cluster, 
five of the individuals did not prepare the required effort certification reports.  

Effect: Costs submitted for reimbursement are not supported in accordance with OMB 
A-87. Unsupported charges to Federal programs may result in the request for 
repayment of such charges to the Federal government and the potential accrual of 
a liability in the Board’s financial statements in accordance with FASB No. 5. 

Known Questioned Costs: $392,698 representing salaries and related costs charged to the Title I, Part A 
Program for the twenty-three individuals that were not in compliance with OMB 
A-87. 

$33,829 representing salaries and related costs charged to the Child Nutrition 
Cluster for the five individuals that were not in compliance with OMB A-87.  

Likely Questioned Costs: $8,120,856 representing the error rate of 68% for the individuals that were not in 
compliance with OMB A-87 multiplied by total salaries and related costs charged 
to the Title I, Part A Program of $11,942,435. 

$513,590 representing 41.9% for the total Federal reimbursement for the severe 
need breakfast labor costs of $1,225,751.  

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board implement procedures to ensure that the necessary 
effort certification reports are prepared in accordance with OMB Circular A-87 for 
all of its Federal programs.  
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Management’s Response: Management concurs that the necessary effort certification reports be prepared in 
accordance with OMB Circular A-87 for all of its Federal programs. 

Upon notification of the possible finding related to time certification, management 
began development and implementation of a Title I time and effort (T&E) 
certification corrective action plan. In addition, on September 2, 2004, 
management met with officials of Maryland State Department of Education 
(MSDE) to clarify their reporting expectations. Based on the audit findings and 
clarification from MSDE, management has aggressively pursued a detailed 
corrective action plan. The plan includes retroactive documentation of the Title I 
audit sample, system-wide training, updating of all existing procedures and 
processes, and an increase in on-going monitoring procedures. In addition, some 
of the questioned costs noted in the audit have been resolved within the grant 
period. 

Management changed time and effort certification procedures in the Child 
Nutrition Cluster during the fiscal year. No errors were found after the new 
procedures were established. Management will continue to operate with the newly 
implemented and effective controls. 
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Section III — Federal Awards Findings and Question Costs 

Finding 04-04  Lack Of Time and Effort Reporting For Costs Charged to Federal Programs 
(A similar finding was noted in the prior year as finding # 03-06) 

Programs: U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) (Pass-Through Program from Maryland 
State Department of Education (MSDE)) 
Child Nutrition Cluster 
CFDA Numbers 10.553, 10.555 and 10.559 

U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Title I, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
CFDA Number 84.010 

Criteria: In accordance with OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and 
Indian Tribal Governments Notice, in order to support salary and related costs 
charged to Federal programs, monthly effort reports of actual time spent on federal 
programs are required for employees engaged in two or more federal programs or 
activities and semi-annual reports are required for employees engaged in only one 
federal program or other project or activity that could affect the charges to Federal 
programs.  

Per discussion with USDA, for the Child Nutrition Cluster, effort certification 
reports are only required for the federal reimbursement of severe needs breakfast 
costs. 

Condition: Of the thirty-four payroll transactions tested for the Title I, Part A program, Grants 
to Local Educational Agencies, twenty-three of the individuals did not prepare the 
required effort certification reports.  

In addition, of the forty payroll transactions tested for the Child Nutrition Cluster, 
five individuals reimbursed for severe needs breakfast costs did not prepare the 
required effort certification reports for the first six months of the fiscal year. 

Effect: Costs submitted for reimbursement are not supported in accordance with OMB 
A-87. 

Known Questioned Costs: $392,698 representing salaries and related costs charged to the Title I, Part A 
Program for the twenty-three individuals that were not in compliance with OMB 
A-87. 

$33,829 representing salaries and related costs charged to the Child Nutrition 
Cluster for the five individuals that were not in compliance with OMB A-87.  

Likely Questioned Costs: $8,120,856 representing the error rate of 68% for the individuals that were not in 
compliance with OMB A-87 multiplied by total salaries and related costs charged 
to the Title I, Part A Program of $11,942,435. 
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Effective January 1, 2004, the Board implemented a corrective action plan to 
address the lack of time and effort reporting in its severe needs breakfast program, 
the only part of the Child Nutrition Cluster that requires time and effort reporting. 
The fiscal year 2004 total federal reimbursement for severe need breakfast labor 
costs was $1,225,751 and it is estimated that 41.9% of the total severe need 
breakfast program salaries and related costs were incurred from July 1, 2003 
through December 31, 2003. Since time and effort reporting was not performed 
from July 1, 2003 through December 31, 2003 for the severe needs breakfast 
program, likely questioned costs are calculated as 41.9% of $1,225,751 or 
$513,617. 

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board implement procedures to ensure that the necessary 
effort certification reports are prepared in accordance with OMB Circular A-87 for 
all of its Federal programs. 

Management’s Response:  Management concurs that the necessary effort certification reports be prepared in 
accordance with OMB Circular A-87 for all of its Federal programs. 

Upon notification of the possible finding related to time certification, management 
began development and implementation of a Title I time and effort (T & E) 
certification corrective action plan. In addition, on September 2, 2004, 
management met with officials of Maryland State Department of Education 
(MSDE) to clarify their reporting expectations. Based on the audit findings and 
clarification from MSDE, management has aggressively pursued a detailed 
corrective action plan. The plan includes retroactive documentation of the Title I 
audit sample, system-wide training, updating of all existing procedures and 
processes, and an increase in on-going monitoring procedures. In addition, some 
of the questioned costs noted in the audit have been resolved within the grant 
period. 

Management changed time and effort certification procedures in the Child 
Nutrition Cluster during the fiscal year. No errors were found after the new 
procedures were established. Management will continue to operate with the newly 
implemented and effective controls. 



BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year ended June 30, 2004 

21 

Finding 04-05 Lack of Approval Over Transfer of Funds 
 (A similar finding was noted in the prior year as finding # 03-02) 

Programs: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Special Education Cluster  
CFDA Numbers 84.027 and 84.173 

U.S. Department of Agriculture (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Child Nutrition Cluster 
CFDA Numbers 10.553, 10.555 and 10.559 

U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Title I, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
CFDA Number 84.010 

U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Title II, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
CFDA Number 84.367 

Criteria: Per Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local 
Governments and Non-Profit Organizations (OMB A-133), recipients of Federal 
awards are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal controls 
over the activities allowed or unallowed and allowable costs/cost principles 
compliance requirements related to Federal awards, including transfers of funds to 
and from program accounts. 

Condition: The Board transfers funds to and from program accounts via journal entries. 

Effective November 1, 2003, the Board implemented control procedures to ensure 
that journal entries are accurately prepared, contain adequate supporting 
documentation and are properly approved by someone other than the original 
preparer.  

Of the forty journal entries tested in the Special Education Cluster, one entry that 
was prepared prior to November 1, 2003 was not approved by someone other than 
the original preparer. 

Of the forty journal entries tested in the Child Nutrition Cluster, four entries that 
were prepared prior to November 1, 2003 were not approved by someone other 
than the original preparer. 

Of the forty journal entries tested in the Title I, Part A program, six entries that 
were prepared prior to November 1, 2003 and one entry that was prepared in 
November 2003 were not approved by someone other than the original preparer. 

Of the twenty-four journal entries tested in the Title II program, three entries that 
were prepared prior to November 1, 2003 were not approved by someone other 
than the original preparer. 



BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year ended June 30, 2004 

22 

Effect: The Board’s procedures and controls were not adequate to ensure amounts 
recorded in the general ledger were materially correct and properly supported for 
the period of July 1, 2003 through November 1, 2003. 

The Board is not in compliance with the OMB A-133 requirement of maintaining 
effective internal controls over the compliance requirements related to Federal 
awards. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Recommendation:  We recommend that the Board continue to maintain the newly implemented 
procedures and controls over the amounts recorded in the general ledger, including 
transfers to and from program accounts by continuing to require review and 
approval of all manual journal entries by an appropriate level person other than the 
original preparer. 

Management’s Response: The Controller’s Office will continue to enforce the procedures that were 
implemented on November 1, 2003. 
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Finding 04-06 Prompt Transfer of Federal Reimbursement Into the Food Service Account  

Program: U.S. Department of Agriculture (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Child Nutrition Cluster 
CFDA Numbers 10.553, 10.555 and 10.559 

Criteria: Per the U.S. Department of Agriculture Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 
Title 7, Subtitle B, Chapter II, Subchapter A, Part 210.14 (c) Financial Assurances, 
the Board is required to operate its food service on a non-profit basis; all revenue 
generated by the Board must be used to operate and improve its food services. 
This requires the Board to provide a separate accounting for school food service 
by maintaining a separate food service account. In addition, the Board is required 
to promptly credit Federal reimbursement payments to its school food service 
account.  

Controls must be properly designed, in place and operating effectively to ensure 
that these requirements are met. 

Condition: The Board receives Federal reimbursement for program expenditures passed 
through from the Maryland Department of Education (MSDE) on a monthly basis. 
Reimbursed funds are deposited into the Board’s general fund via wire transfer. 
MSDE notifies the Board’s Office of Nutrition Services when the wire transfer 
occurs. The Office of Food and Nutrition Services prepares a journal entry to 
transfer the funds into the separate food service account in accordance with 
program requirements. 

Of the three months selected for testwork, we noted that two monthly transfers did 
not occur promptly. Specifically, for the months of September 2003 and April 
2004, the completion of the transfers took eight and fourteen days, respectively.  

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the program requirements regarding the 
prompt transfer of Federal reimbursements into a separate food service account. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Recommendations: We recommend that the Board implement procedures and controls to ensure that 
Federal reimbursements are promptly transferred from its general fund into the 
school food service fund to ensure compliance with 7 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter II, 
Subchapter A, Part 210.14 (c) Financial Assurances. 

Management’s Response: Management has established a new revenue account in the Food Service fund 
where cash receipts identified as belonging to the Food Service enterprise fund 
will be recorded as received. These funds will no longer flow through the general 
fund. 
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Finding 04-07 Failure to Submit Bi-annual Progress Reports by the Required Deadline 

Programs: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Special Education Cluster  
CFDA Numbers 84.027 and 84.173 

Criteria: Per OMB A-133, recipients of Federal awards are responsible for complying with 
reporting requirements, including the submission of accurate information and with 
establishing and maintaining effective internal controls. 

Entities that pass-through Federal funds to subrecipients may establish separate 
reporting requirements. MSDE requires the submission of a mid-term progress 
report and a final progress report for the Special Education program. These reports 
summarize the Board’s activities, objectives, milestones that were scheduled, 
accomplished and planned during the period. 

Condition:  Due to turnover in the Director’s position of the Special Education program, the 
Board was unaware of this reporting requirement and the required reports were not 
filed by the required deadline. There are no controls in place to ensure that all 
Special Education program reporting requirements are met. 

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the reporting requirements of MSDE. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Recommendations: We recommend that the Board implement procedures and controls to track the 
submission of required reports to ensure compliance with all Special Education 
reporting requirements. 

Management’s Response: The Office of Special Education will implement procedures and controls to track 
the submission of required progress reports. Last year, the newly appointed 
Director of Special Education was unaware of this reporting requirement and will 
assume responsibility for timely submissions in the future. 
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Finding 04-08 Inaccurate Data Submitted on the SSIS Verification Report 
(A similar finding was noted in the prior year as finding # 03-03) 

Programs: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Special Education Cluster  
CFDA Numbers 84.027 and 84.173 

Criteria: Per OMB A-133, recipients of Federal awards are responsible for complying with 
special tests and provisions related to reporting, including the submission of 
accurate information and with establishing and maintaining effective internal 
controls. 

Entities that pass-through Federal funds to subrecipients may establish separate 
reporting requirements. This special test and provision related to reporting is 
required by MSDE. 

Condition: The Board is responsible for electronically submitting the Special Services 
Information System (SSIS) Verification Report to MSDE annually. This report 
provides certain demographic information from the Individualized Education 
Program (IEP) of students receiving program services. In order to ensure the 
accuracy of the SSIS Verification report, thirty students were selected for testwork 
from the SSIS Verification Report submitted in February 2004. Of the thirty 
students selected, the IEP information for 10 students did not agree to the 
information entered on the SSIS Verification Report for one or more data elements 
listed on the report. 

These inaccuracies are the result of the Board inconsistently following the 
established procedures that ensure the accuracy of the information reported to 
MSDE. 

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the OMB A-133 requirement related to the 
submission of accurate information. 

Questioned Costs: Not determinable 

Recommendations: We again recommend that the Board reassess its existing internal controls over the 
preparation of the SSIS Verification Report to ensure the accuracy of information 
reported to MSDE. 

Management’s Response: The Office of Special Education has revised its program review and support 
process which extends increased accountability to local schools to maintain 
accurate special education data. The system is implementing a web-based IEP 
system that will allow for the electronic transfer of real-time data. 
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Finding 04-09 Inaccurate Data Submitted on the SSIS Exit Verification Report 
(A similar finding was noted in the prior year as finding # 03-04)  

Programs: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Special Education Cluster  
CFDA Numbers 84.027 and 84.173 

Criteria: Per OMB A-133, recipients of Federal awards are responsible for complying with 
special tests and provisions related to reporting, including the submission of 
accurate information and with establishing and maintaining effective internal 
controls. 

Entities that pass-through Federal funds to subrecipients may establish separate 
reporting requirements. This special test and provision related to reporting is 
required by MSDE. 

Condition: The Board is required to submit an annual Exit Verification Report to MSDE. This 
report represents a collection of data elements for all students who exited the 
Special Education program from July 1 2003 through June 30, 2004. All of the 
required data elements are contained in the Special Services Information System 
(SSIS), which is used by MSDE as a major source of information to meet its 
planning, monitoring and accounting responsibilities for the Special Education 
Cluster. The Board maintains its own database system, MIPES, which is used to 
maintain demographic and other student information.  

In order to ensure the accuracy of the information reported on the Exit Verification 
Report, thirty student records were selected from the Exit Verification Report and 
the information reported for selected data elements was traced to the information 
reported in MIPES. In addition, ten of the same thirty student records were 
selected and traced to source documentation located in the related student’s file to 
ensure the validity of the information reported in the selected data elements. 

When the thirty student records were traced from the Exit Verification Report to 
MIPES, it was noted that information for several of the required data elements 
needed to be converted for the preparation of the Exit Verification Report. We also 
noted that the preparation of the Exit Verification Report required the use of 
multiple data sources. Of the ten student records traced to source documentation in 
the related student’s file, four records contained inconsistencies between one or 
more data elements and the source documentation. Consequently, there was no 
indication of which data source was correct. 

These inaccuracies are the result of the Board not having a single data source to 
ensure the accuracy of the information reported to MSDE. 

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the OMB A-133 requirement related to the 
submission of accurate information. 
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Questioned Costs: Not determinable 

Recommendation: We again recommend that the Board reassess its internal controls over the 
compliance requirements related to Federal awards to ensure the accuracy of 
information reported to MSDE.  

Management’s Response: The Office of Special Education has reassessed its internal controls over the 
compliance requirements related to Federal awards to ensure the accuracy of 
information reported to MSDE. The system is implementing a web-based IEP 
system that will allow for the electronic transfer of real-time data. 
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Finding 04-10 Inaccurate Financial Status Reports 

Programs: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Special Education Cluster  
CFDA Numbers 84.027 and 84.173 

Criteria: Per OMB A-133, recipients of Federal awards are responsible for complying with 
reporting requirements, including the submission of accurate information and with 
establishing and maintaining effective internal controls. 

Entities that pass-through Federal funds to subrecipients may establish separate 
reporting requirements. This reporting requirement is required by MSDE. 

Condition: The Board submits monthly Financial Status Reports (FSR) to MSDE to request 
reimbursement for expenditures incurred and paid during the reported month. 
MSDE uses these reports to determine the amount of reimbursement for program 
expenditures. The FSR is reviewed and approved by appropriate level personnel 
prior to submission to MSDE. 

In order to prepare the FSR, a report is generated from the general ledger system, 
which summarizes expenditures incurred and paid during the month. During our 
testwork of all monthly reimbursement requests made during the year, we noted 
that the Board erroneously included expenditures related to a grant that is not part 
of the Special Education Cluster to prepare the monthly FSRs instead of including 
expenditures related to the proper grant. Consequently, the monthly requests for 
reimbursement of program expenditures were incorrect. The incorrect amounts 
requested for reimbursement were less than the amounts actually incurred and paid 
for program expenditures.  

Although there was evidence of review and approval of each monthly FSR by 
appropriate level personnel, these controls were not operating effectively over 
program reporting requirements.  

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the OMB A-133 requirement related to the 
submission of accurate information. 

Questioned Costs: None 

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board strengthen existing controls over the compliance 
requirements related to Federal awards to ensure the accuracy of information 
reported to MSDE.  

Management’s Response: Management has improved the internal controls to ensure the accuracy of the 
Financial Status Report. An additional step has been added to the review process 
to ensure that the report is correct before it is sent to the State. 
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Finding 04-11 Teachers Not Meeting the Definition of Highly Qualified  

Program: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Title I, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
CFDA Number 84.010 

Criteria: Any teacher who is hired after the first day of the 2002- 2003 school year to teach 
a core academic subject and who works in a program supported with program 
funds must be highly qualified as defined by the Code of Federal Regulations 
(CFR) Title 34, Section 200.56. 

In addition, controls must be properly designed, in place and operating effectively 
to ensure that this requirement is met. 

Condition: Of the forty teacher files selected, six did not meet the definition of highly 
qualified as defined by CFR Title 34, Section 200.56. 

Controls are not in place and operating effectively to ensure that this requirement 
is met. 

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the requirements of hiring highly qualified 
teachers as defined by CFR Title 34, Section 200.56. 

Questioned Costs: Undeterminable 

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board establish effective internal controls to ensure that 
teachers hired after the first day of the 2002 – 2003 school year to teach a core 
academic subject and who work in a program supported with program funds are 
highly qualified as defined by CFR Title 34, Section 200.56. 

Management’s Response: Management will implement controls that will effectively monitor and ensure 
compliance with this requirement. 
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Finding 04-12 Inaccurate Information Submitted on the Comparability Report 

Program: U.S. Department of Education (Pass-Through Program from MSDE) 
Title I, Part A Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
CFDA Number 84.010 

Criteria: Per OMB A-133, recipients of Federal awards are responsible for complying with 
reporting requirements, including the submission of accurate information and with 
establishing and maintaining effective internal controls. 

Per Title I, Part A Section 1120A(c) of the Elementary and Secondary Education 
Act (ESEA), a Local Educational Agency (LEA) may receive funds under Title I, 
Part A only if local funds used in participating schools to provide services that, 
taken as a whole, are at least comparable to services that the LEA is providing in 
schools not receiving Title I, Part A funds. An LEA may determine comparability 
by comparing the average number of students per instructional staff or the average 
staff salary per student in each school receiving Title I, Part A funds with those in 
schools that do not receive Title I, Part A funds.  

Each LEA is required to develop procedures for complying with the comparability 
requirements and implement the procedures annually. The LEA must maintain 
records, which are updated biennially, documenting compliance with the 
comparability requirements. The State Educational Agency (SEA), however, is 
ultimately responsible for ensuring that LEAs remain in compliance with the 
comparability requirement. 

Controls must be properly designed, in place and operating effectively to ensure 
that this requirement is met. 

Condition: Information used to prepare the Comparability Report is extracted from a database 
maintained by the Board. Although the Comparability Report documented 
compliance with the comparability requirement, the information on the report did 
not agree to the supporting documentation for two of the seventeen schools 
selected. This is the result of an error in the data extraction methodology that 
caused the enrollment data for the Board’s middle schools to be added twice.  

Controls are not in place and operating effectively to ensure that this requirement 
is met. 

Effect: The Board is not in compliance with the OMB A-133 requirement related to the 
submission of accurate information. 

Questioned Costs: None  

Recommendation: We recommend that the Board reassess its internal controls over the compliance 
requirements related to Federal awards to ensure the accuracy of information 
reported to MSDE. 
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Management’s Response: Management concurs that the Board must reassess its internal controls over the 
compliance requirements related to Federal awards to ensure the accuracy of 
information reported to MSDE. In January 2005, Federal and State Program, 
Position Management, and Instructional Technology staff will compile a formal 
written process that will indicate the responsibility for annual training of new staff 
and an annual review of the process. 
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BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 

DATE: December 21, 2004 
 
TO:   BOARD OF EDUCATION 
 
FROM:  Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 
 
SUBJECT: REVISED FY 2006 STATE & COUNTY CAPITAL BUDGET 

RECOMMENDATION

ORIGINATOR: J. Robert Haines, Deputy Superintendent, Business Services 

RESOURCE  Barbara Burnopp, Executive Director, Fiscal Services 
PERSON(S):  Mike Goodhues, Director, Budget and Reporting 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Education review the Superintendent’s FY 2006 State & 
County Capital budget recommendations in preparation for Board action 
on January 11, 2005. 
 
Changes to the previous County request include adjustments for the 
proposed County supplement for Windsor Mill MS, allowable State 
funding for Kenwood Technical HS and adjusted calculations in State 
funding formulas based on requested changes from the State of Maryland 
Public School Construction Program. 
 
The total funding for the majority of projects did not change, just the mix 
of funding between the State and County.  However at the State’s request, 
funding for the renovation projects at Sudbrook Magnet MS and Arbutus 
MS was reduced because of prior work completed at those schools and 
funded by the State. 

 

Attachment I – FY 2006 Capital Budget – State and County Summary 
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Board of Education - Final Adopted Budget Request
October 7, 2004 - Revised - December 13, 2004

Initial State State Request State Proposed Initial County Revised County Revised Total Original FY 06 County
Miscellaneous Projects Request (Note #1) For FY 06 Request Request Request Adopted Budget
Kenwood Technical HS - Renovation & Addition 3,931,000$ 4,900,000$ -$ 7,069,000$ 6,100,000$ 11,000,000$ 8,700,000$
Milford Mill Academy Cafeteria - New Construction - - - 1,385,000 1,385,000 1,385,000 1,385,000
Food Service Warehouse - Renovation - - - 3,140,000 3,140,000 3,140,000 2,280,000
Rosewood School Site - Acquisition - - - 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000
Kitchen Equipment Upgrades - - - 1,615,000 1,615,000 1,615,000 1,615,000
Transportation Improvements - - - - - - 2,000,000
Woodholme ES - New Construction (Note #2) 1,390,000 1,390,000 1,390,000 - - 1,390,000 -
Windsor Mill MS - New Construction (Note #3) 10,391,000 10,391,000 - 3,242,000 - 10,391,000 -
Carver Center - Addition 5,087,000 5,337,000 - 6,913,000 6,663,000 12,000,000 -
Site Acquisition - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 -
Americans with Disabilities Act - - - 800,000 800,000 800,000 800,000
Maiden Choice ES - ADA Improvements - - - 700,000 700,000 700,000 -
Subtotal 20,799,000$ 22,018,000$ 1,390,000$ 30,664,000$ 26,203,000$ 48,221,000$ 19,580,000$

Initial State State Request State Proposed Initial County Revised County Revised Total Original FY 06 County
Major Maintenance Request (Note #1) For FY 06 Request Request Request Adopted Budget
Sudbrook Magnet MS - Renovation (Note #4) 300,000 213,000 - - - 213,000 -
Arbutus MS - Renovation (Note #5) 1,770,000 1,445,000 1,000,000 - - 1,445,000 -
Ridgely MS - Renovation (Note #6) 5,847,000 5,247,000 - - 600,000 5,847,000 -
Southwest Academy - Renovation (Note #7) 3,508,000 3,183,000 - - 325,000 3,508,000 -
Holabird MS - Renovation 5,661,000 5,725,000 - 6,889,000 6,825,000 12,550,000 -
Loch Raven Academy - Renovation 5,220,000 5,239,000 - 6,358,000 6,339,000 11,578,000 -
Woodlawn MS - Renovation 5,725,000 5,743,000 - 6,912,000 6,894,000 12,637,000 -
Catonsville MS - Renovation 4,111,000 4,144,000 - 5,029,000 4,996,000 9,140,000 -
Deep Creek MS - Renovation 4,061,000 4,048,000 - 4,886,000 4,899,000 8,947,000 -
Perry Hall MS - Renovation 6,155,000 6,185,000 - 7,467,000 7,437,000 13,622,000 -
Stemmers Run MS - Windows - - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 -
Loch Raven Academy - Boiler Replacement 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 300,000 -
Hereford MS - Boiler Replacement 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 300,000 -
Pine Grove MS - Boiler Replacement 150,000 150,000 - 150,000 150,000 300,000 -
Red House Run ES - Chiller & Tower 200,000 200,000 - 200,000 200,000 400,000 -
Perry Hall HS - Treated Air Distribution System 750,000 675,000 - 750,000 825,000 1,500,000 -
Milbrook ES - Chiller & Tower 187,000 187,000 - 188,000 188,000 375,000 -
Subtotal 43,945,000$ 42,684,000$ 1,300,000$ 39,129,000$ 41,978,000$ 84,662,000$ 45,450,000$

FY 06 Capital Budget - State & County Summary



Initial State State Request State Proposed Initial County Revised County Revised Total Original FY 06 County
Alterations/Code Updates/Restoration Request (Note #1) For FY 06 Request Request Request Adopted Budget
Miscellaneous Projects - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 -
Environmental Projects - - - 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 -
Glyndon ES - ADA Bathroom Upgrades - - - 75,000 75,000 75,000 -
Red House Run ES - ADA Bathroom Upgrades - - - 75,000 75,000 75,000 -
Johnnycake ES - ADA Bathroom Upgrades - - - 75,000 75,000 75,000 -
Oliver Beach ES - ADA Bathroom Upgrades - - - 75,000 75,000 75,000 -
Warren ES - ADA Bathroom Upgrades - - - 75,000 75,000 75,000 -
Powhatan ES - ADA Bathroom Upgrades - - - 75,000 75,000 75,000 -
Western HS - Cafeteria Air Handling Upgrade - - - 120,000 120,000 120,000 -
Various Schools - Elevator Modifications - - - 700,000 700,000 700,000 -
Kenwood HS - Elevator Replacement - - - 250,000 250,000 250,000 -
Dulaney HS - Elevator Modifications - - - 45,000 45,000 45,000 -
Perry Hall HS - Elevator Modifications - - - 45,000 45,000 45,000 -
Various MS - Install Card Access Systems - - - 105,000 105,000 105,000 -
Various HS - Install Closed Circuit Security System - - - 1,127,000 1,127,000 1,127,000 -
Various MS - Install Closed Circuit Security System - - - 2,254,000 2,254,000 2,254,000 -
Elementary Schools - Electronic Doors - - - 1,900,000 1,900,000 1,900,000 -
Subtotal -$ -$ -$ 12,496,000$ 12,496,000$ 12,496,000$ 2,000,000$



Initial State State Request State Proposed Initial County Revised County Revised Total Original FY 06 County
Site Improvements Request (Note #1) For FY 06 Request Request Request Adopted Budget
Wabash Bus Facility - Provide Utilities to Site - - - 120,000 120,000 120,000 -
Rosedale Bus Facility - Construct Two Bay Garage - - - 400,000 400,000 400,000 -
Dundalk Bus Facility - Canopy for Fuel Island - - - 100,000 100,000 100,000 -
Dundalk Bus Facility - Enclose Outdoor Lube Bay - - - 120,000 120,000 120,000 -
Inwood Bus Facility - Construct Two Bay Garage - - - 400,000 400,000 400,000 -
Kenwood Bus Facility - Enclose Steam Bay - - - 175,000 175,000 175,000 -
Cockeysville Bus Facility - Construct Service Bay - - - 225,000 225,000 225,000 -
Randallstown ES - Rebuild Multi-Use Court - - - 120,000 120,000 120,000 -
Deep Creek MS - Resurface Multi-Use & Tennis - - - 180,000 180,000 180,000 -
Patapsco HS - Resurface Multi-Use & Tennis - - - 180,000 180,000 180,000 -
Franklin HS - Resurface Tennis Court - - - 120,000 120,000 120,000 -
Baltimore Highlands ES - Resurface Multi-Use - - - 80,000 80,000 80,000 -
Hampton ES - Resurface Multi-Use Court - - - 80,000 80,000 80,000 -
Middleborough ES - Resurface Multi-Use Court - - - 80,000 80,000 80,000 -
Ft. Garrison ES - Modify Drop Loop - - - 150,000 150,000 150,000 -
Southwest Academy - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 350,000 350,000 350,000 -
Mars Estates ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 300,000 300,000 300,000 -
Old Court MS - Driveway & Drop Loop Expansion - - - 120,000 120,000 120,000 -
Sandy Plains ES - Modify Drop Loop - - - 250,000 250,000 250,000 -
Cedarmere ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 220,000 220,000 220,000 -
Lansdowne ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 260,000 260,000 260,000 -
Charlesmont ES - Drop Loop & Overlay - - - 250,000 250,000 250,000 -
Norwood ES - Modify Drop Loop - - - 180,000 180,000 180,000 -
Scotts Branch ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 190,000 190,000 190,000 -
Winard ES - Parking Lot & Modify Drop Loop - - - 200,000 200,000 200,000 -
Woodbridge ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 160,000 160,000 160,000 -
Chapel Hill ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 280,000 280,000 280,000 -
Carney ES - Parking Lot Expansion - - - 300,000 300,000 300,000 -
McCormick ES - Slope Failure Repair - - - 350,000 350,000 350,000 -
Dulaney HS - Concrete Step Replacement - - - 80,000 80,000 80,000 -
Lutherville Lab. - Driveway - - - 250,000 250,000 250,000 -
Chatsworth ES - Alternate Access - - - 230,000 230,000 230,000 -
Carroll Manor ES - Drain Work - - - 80,000 80,000 80,000 -
Woodmore ES - Construct Ramp at Food Service - - - 15,000 15,000 15,000 -
Pikesville HS - Track Replacement - - - 285,000 285,000 285,000 -
Overlea HS - Track Replacement - - - 285,000 285,000 285,000 -
Miscellaneous Projects - - - 817,000 817,000 817,000 -
Subtotal -$ -$ -$ 7,982,000$ 7,982,000$ 7,982,000$ 2,500,000$



Initial State State Request State Proposed Initial County Revised County Revised Total Original FY 06 County
Roof Replacements Request (Note #1) For FY 06 Request Request Request Adopted Budget
Dundalk ES 211,000 211,000 - 255,000 255,000 466,000 -
Carroll Manor ES 244,000 244,000 - 295,000 295,000 539,000 -
Baltimore Highlands ES 342,000 342,000 - 412,000 412,000 754,000 -
Perry Hall ES 236,000 236,000 - 320,000 320,000 556,000 -
Hebbville ES 353,000 353,000 - 425,000 425,000 778,000 -
Pine Grove ES 879,000 879,000 - 1,060,000 1,060,000 1,939,000 -
Bedford ES 289,000 289,000 - 349,000 349,000 638,000 -
Cockeysville MS 985,000 985,000 - 1,188,000 1,188,000 2,173,000 -
Deep Creek MS 603,000 788,000 - 1,135,000 950,000 1,738,000 -
Maiden Choice School 253,000 323,000 - 460,000 390,000 713,000 -
Eastern Tech HS 769,000 1,009,000 - 1,457,000 1,217,000 2,226,000 -
Subtotal 5,164,000$ 5,659,000$ -$ 7,356,000$ 6,861,000$ 12,520,000$ 7,331,000$

Initial State State Request State Proposed Initial County Revised County Revised Total Original FY 06 County
Fuel Tank Replacements Request (Note #1) For FY 06 Request Request Request Adopted Budget
Fuel Tank Replacements - Various Sites - - - 300,000 300,000 300,000 1,800,000
Subtotal -$ -$ -$ 300,000$ 300,000$ 300,000$ 1,800,000$

Total 69,908,000$ 70,361,000$ 2,690,000$ 97,927,000$ 95,820,000$ 166,181,000$ 78,661,000$

Notes:

1. The State request has been changed to include technical financial revisions requested by the State of Maryland Public School Construction Program.
2. Woodholme ES previously received $4,500,000 in State funding in FY 04, and $7,560,000 in County funding in FY 04 and FY 05.
3. Windsor Mill MS previously received County funding of $750,000 in FY 02 and $13,150,000 in FY 04. Additional County funding of $18,185,000 will be provided in FY 05 through a

supplemental appropriation. This supplement will include $10,391,000 in forward funding that has been requested from the State in FY 06.
4. Sudbrook Magnet MS previously received $$4,763,000 in State funding in FY 04 and $5,063,000 in County funding in FY 04 and FY 05.
5. Arbutus MS previously received $2,300,000 in State funding in FY 04 and $4,070,000 in County funding in FY 04 and FY 05.
6. Ridgely MS previously received $5,847,000 in County funding in FY 04 and FY 05.
7. Southwest Academy previously received $3,508,000 in County funding in FY 04 and FY 05.
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Report on School Staffing 
2004-2005 

I.   Introduction 
 

The Baltimore County Public Schools (BCPS) instituted a plan in April, 2004 for 
Staffing Title I and Priority 1 and 2 Schools for the 2004-2005 school year. This plan 
addressed performance goals and indicators approved by the Board of Education in 
the Blueprint for Progress and the Master Plan. 

 
The plan stated that prior to June 1, 2004, the staffing of teachers in critical shortage 
areas for Title I (elementary/middle schools) and Priority 1 and 2 secondary schools 
would be considered first. Vacancies in non-critical shortage areas would be filled 
based on performance goals, indicators, and individual school needs. After May 31, 
2004, the Department of Human Resources would review and assess vacancies in all 
schools and assign teachers to schools based on individual school needs. The staffing 
plan outlined staffing timelines for hiring and teacher transfers. (Staffing Title I and 
Priority 1 and 2 Schools-2004-2005)   See Addendums 1-5 

II. Hiring of Teachers for the 2004-2005 School Year 
 

Despite an extremely competitive employment market characterized by a significant 
teacher shortage, the Baltimore County Public Schools opened for students with 
nearly a full complement of certificated staff and a relatively small number of 
vacancies in most support services areas. 

 
In the area of teacher employment, as of September 07, 2004, The Office of 
Personnel had hired 974 teachers from a pool of over 4,200 applicants.  On that date, 
there were 6.7 instructional classroom vacancies.  This number of vacancies 
represents less than one-quarter of one percent of teacher positions.  The large 
majority of these vacancies were the result of last-minute resignations. Critical 
shortages were apparent this year in the areas of mathematics, science, special 
education, reading, and several special areas such as Spanish and vocal music.   

 
Even with the persistent challenges of teacher supply and demand, we have been able 
to attract and hire well-qualified, strong candidates for its teaching positions.  On 
September 21, 2004, our evaluation of credentials reflected that it was requesting 
conditional certificates for 193 new teachers. This represented a decrease from the 
284 requested in 2003-2004 and reflects continued focus on attracting and hiring 
highly qualified teachers for all BCPS schools. In addition, efforts to complete an 
early initial credential review promise to improve the rate at which BCPS conditional 
teachers achieve regular certification.  Consequently, BCPS projects that the majority 
of these conditionally certificated new teachers will be eligible for regular 
certification before the end of the current school year.  In many cases, new 
conditional teachers hired hold or are eligible for certification in other states or need 
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one or more Praxis tests and/or one or two courses to meet Maryland’s requirements.  
The following tables reflect the number of new teachers hired with conditional 
certification for the past three years and the total number of conditional teachers 
employed in the school system for the 2003-2004 and 2004-2005 school years. 
(Certification Reports) 

Total  Conditional Hired Teachers 
FY 03 through FY 05
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Total Teachers Hired Conditionally 
 

2002-2003 330 
2003-2004 284 
2004-2005 193 
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Total Conditional Teachers 
 

Schools 
Total 

Teachers 
FY04 

Total 
Conditional 

FY04 

Total 
 Teachers 

FY05 

Total 
Conditional

FY05 

Elementary 
Schools 

3,555 158 3,685  88 

Middle Schools 1,801 292 1,845 208 
High Schools 2,307 406 2,395 353 

Totals 7,663 856 7,925 649 

Over the past two years, the total number of conditional teachers in Baltimore County 
Public Schools has decreased from 856 to 649, a decrease of 24.2%.  
It is important to note that successful hiring is the direct result of committed, year-round 
recruitment conducted by Personnel staff, school administrators, and central office 
administrators.  Systemwide participation in teacher recruitment continues to pay 
dividends for our students, and the Office of Personnel is grateful for the efforts of the 
entire school system’s staff.  Despite an increasingly competitive market and candidate 
shortages, minority hiring for the 2004-2005 school year increased significantly over last 
year; 19.6% of BCPS newly hired teachers this year are minorities.   
 

Minority Hiring Patterns - Systemwide 
 

2004-2005 19.6% 
2003-2004 15.7% 
2002-2003 16.1% 
2001-2002 17.8% 
2000-2001 17.5% 
1999-2000 18.4% 

The advent of  No Child Left Behind renews and supports our challenge of hiring “highly 
qualified” teachers and paraprofessionals for Title I schools.  Summary information 
regarding teacher hiring for these schools is attached.  As of September 21, a total of 23 
teachers in core subject areas who are not considered “highly qualified” have been hired 
for these schools; in many cases, they will achieve the required certification status 
retroactively to July 1 once tests are completed or out-of-state certificates are received.   
There were 104 total teachers in Title I schools with conditional certification. This was 
down from 127 teachers in 2003-2004. This reduction would have been more dramatic 
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had it not been for the fact that five additional schools (one elementary and four middle 
schools) were designated as Title I for the 2004-2005 school year.  All paraprofessionals 
hired for Title I schools for the 2004-05 school year were “highly qualified” as defined 
under NCLB. 
 

Teaching Certificates Held By Title I Teachers 
 

School Year Professional Conditional Total Conditional 

2004-2005 94.5% 5.5% 104 
2003-2004 92.3% 7.7% 127 

We have made significant progress in reducing the percentage of conditional teachers in 
our priority middle and high schools; however, there are  
some middle and high schools that continue to have high percentages of conditional 
teachers. 

 
An analysis of the data indicates that Southwest Academy, Old Court Middle School, 
Woodlawn High School, and Randallstown High School have more than twice the school 
system average of provisionally certified teachers.  The data also indicates that there are 
additional priority middle and high schools identified that continue to need assistance to 
reduce the number of non-highly qualified teachers. (see table on next page) 

 

The Baltimore County Public Schools will continue to hire highly qualified teachers for 
all schools. 
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Middle Schools 

 

School         

 Total 

Conditionals 

FY04 

 Total 

Conditionals

FY05 

New Hire 

Conditionals 

FY04 

New Hire 

Conditionals

FY05 

Old Court MS 45.3% 29.3% 8.0 2.0 

Southwest Academy 43.2%  35.6% 11.0 9.0 

Deer Park Magnet 
MS 

25.9% 17.6% 11.0 3.0 

Woodlawn MS 29.2% 17.4% 8.0 1.0 

Deep Creek MS 18.3% 16.7% 2.0 4.0 

County Average 16.2% 11.3% 

High Schools 

 

School 

 Total 

Conditionals 

 FY04 

 Total 

Conditionals 

 FY05 

New Hire 

Conditionals

FY04 

 New Hire 

Conditionals

FY05 

Woodlawn HS 
 

40.5% 
 

31.6% 16.0 
 

7.0 

Randallstown HS 44.7% 32.6% 16.0 9.0 
Milford Mill 
Acad. 

33.7% 24.5% 13.0 2.0 

Overlea HS 26.2% 21.8% 8.0 3.0 
Kenwood HS 16.8% 14.7% 6.0 5.0 
Dundalk HS 20.6% 17.5% 15.0 8.0 
County Average      17.6%       15.4%  
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III. Incentives for Hiring of Highly Qualified Teachers for Title I and Priority   
 Schools.  
 

All new teachers hired for the 2004-2005 school year must be highly qualified or 
complete requirements for highly qualified status by August, 2006. All teachers 
employed in the Baltimore County Public Schools for the 2006-2007 school year 
must meet the MSDE certification requirements. 

 
Hiring Initiatives 

 
A. Tuition reimbursement for teachers at Title I Schools 

 
Conditional teachers employed at Title I Schools will be eligible for additional 
tuition assistance to complete requirements for highly qualified status. 
 

B.  Great Beginnings Program 
 

The school system will continue the very successful Great Beginnings  
 Program. This program will allow for the hiring of highly qualified  
 December graduates in critical shortage areas who will be placed in 

 selected priority secondary schools. These highly qualified teachers will  
 be assigned to team-teach with highly qualified experienced teachers.  

 
C.  Signing Bonuses 

 
The Baltimore County Public Schools will offer signing bonuses and  

 relocation stipends to highly qualified teachers hired for critical shortage    
 areas in priority middle and secondary schools and Title I schools in 
 school improvement. Eighty-one (81) teachers received signing bonuses to 
 teach at priority schools for the 2004-2005 school year. Included within  
 these eighty-one were twenty-six (26) Math and twenty-eight (28) science  
 teachers. 

IV.   Recruitment Strategies 

As we move into a new school year, the Office of Personnel will continue to 
aggressively recruit and expand upon the successes while developing additional 
strategies to address shortage areas.  The focus continues to be that of providing the 
best educational professionals and related support for students in pursuit of 
Baltimore County Public Schools’ goals of educational excellence. To ensure that 
our efforts reflect the need for recruitment of highly qualified teacher candidates 
across core and critical need subject areas and that recruiting trips are reflective of 
programs which produce highly qualified educators, the Office of Personnel will 
increase the focus on hiring special education, English, math, and science teachers.  
At the same time, the Office will not neglect the need to recruit and hire highly 
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qualified elementary and non-critical need teachers.  This will be accomplished 
utilizing the following strategies:   

 

1. Significantly increase the number of advanced contracts offered to 
highly qualified candidates.  

 
2. Increase the number of National Council for Accreditation in Teacher 

Education (NCATE) schools from which we recruit.  In 2003-04, 
47.73% of the schools from which we recruited were NCATE 
accredited.  The 2004-05 recruiting schedule includes 87.27% NCATE 
accredited colleges and universities.  The remaining 12.73% is 
primarily composed of local colleges and universities and schools with 
which we plan to maintain established relationships and, while not 
NCATE accredited, have in the past produced candidates who are 
eligible for certification.  

 
3. The Executive Directors of Schools, principals, and teachers of Title I 

and Priority Schools will be an integral part of the recruiting plan for 
2004-05.     

 
4.   The Office of Personnel will increase its recruiting at the historically  

black colleges and universities (HBCU) from five (5) in 2003-2004 to 
twenty one (21) in 2004-05. The recruitment plan includes one 
Hispanic Serving Institution (Texas State – San Marcos) and four 
universities which have been identified by Asian Nation as “Best 
Colleges for Asian American.”   The Office of Personnel has also 
added one of the most ethnically diverse universities in the country 
(Florida International University) to its schedule and, locally, will 
focus strong recruiting efforts on the University of Maryland – 
Baltimore County, as UMBC has a very ethnically diverse student 
population. 

 
5.   The use of technology has been expanded with the implementation  
 of a certification website, the utilization of a recruitment website  
 (Teacher.Teacher.com), and the development and implementation 

 of the BCPS recruitment CD. 
 
6.  The Office of Personnel will expand the Resident Teachers   

Certification Program (RTC) for Math, Science, English and Special 
Education. 
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V.  Conclusions 
 

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001(NCLB) requires that all teachers of core 
academic subjects working in Title I and non-Title I schools be highly qualified or 
complete all requirements for highly qualified status by August, 2006.  Additionally, 
Baltimore County Public Schools has independently mandated that all teachers 
employed in Baltimore County Public Schools for the 2006-2007 school year must 
meet the requirements for “highly qualified.”  
 
The Baltimore County Public Schools will continue to recruit and place highly 
qualified teachers in all schools, with priority given to Title I schools and Priority 1 
schools. We believe that the above initiatives will enable the school system to 
accomplish the goals of recruiting and retaining a high quality teaching staff. 
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Staffing Title I and Priority 1 and 2 Schools 
2004-2005 School Year 

 

The Baltimore County Public School System is committed to recruiting and hiring highly 
qualified teachers for all schools according to State law and as approved by the Board of 
Education in the Blueprint for Progress and the Master Plan.   As part of this 
commitment, the following performance goals and performance indicators will be 
addressed: 
 

Performance Goal 1 
 

By 2007, all students will reach high standards, as established by the Baltimore 
County Public Schools and State proficiency levels in reading/language arts, 
mathematics, science, and social studies. 

Performance Indicators for Goal 1 
 

1.1 All diploma-bound students in grades 3-8 and 10 will meet or exceed 
Maryland School Assessment (MSA) standards. (State standard) 

 
1.4 All students who earn a certificate of attendance will have documented 

evidence of their attainment of knowledge and skills within their 
prescribed programs. (State standard) 

 
1.12 All students will acquire one fine arts credit by passing a course that is 

driven by the Maryland Content Standards.  (State standard) 
 

1.13 All students successfully completing Algebra I, biology, English 9, 
geometry, and government will pass the Maryland High School 
Assessment on their first attempt.  (BCPS standard) 

Performance Goal 3 
 

By 2005-2006, all students will be taught by highly qualified teachers. 

Performance Indicators for Goal 3 
 

3.1 All teachers and paraprofessionals will meet the requirements for “highly 
qualified,” as defined by No Child Left Behind and the Bridge to 
Excellence in Public Schools Education Act. (BCPS standard) 

 
3.3 All mathematics teachers in middle schools will demonstrate content 

mastery through comprehensive testing or will possess a Maryland State 
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Department of Education teaching certificate with an endorsement in 
secondary mathematics.  (BCPS standard) 

 
3.4 All new teachers in Title I schools will meet the standard of “highly 

qualified” when hired.  (State standard) 
 
Prior to June 1, 2004, the staffing of teachers in critical shortage areas for Title I 
(elementary/middle schools) and Priority 1 and 2 secondary schools will be considered 
first. Vacancies in non-critical shortage areas will be filled based on performance goals 
and indicators and individual school needs. After May 31, 2004, the Department of 
Human Resources will review and assess vacancies in all schools and assign teachers to 
schools based on individual school needs. The Executive Director of Human Resources 
will monitor and report the transfer, assignment, and hiring of teachers based on 
performance goals and indicators and individual school needs. 
 

Classroom Subjects identified as Critical Shortage Areas for this process are:

• Mathematics 
• English 
• Science 
• Special Education (content) 
• World Languages (Spanish) 
• Reading Specialists 

 
All other classroom subjects will be reviewed and assessed on a school-by-school basis. 
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Staffing Timelines

April 9 Principals’ Organizational Worksheets are to be completed. 

• Executive Director of Schools will review and approve the 
instructional component of each school’s organization. 

• Upon the completion of the Executive Directors’ review and 
approval, the personnel officers will identify and begin to fill 
vacancies in critical shortage subject areas by transfers and new hires 
in Title I (elementary/middle schools) and Priority 1 and 2 Secondary 
Schools. 

• All other vacancies will begin to be filled based upon performance 
goals and indicators and individual school needs. 

 
May 4 Annual Transfer Meeting 
 

• Transfers between Title 1 (elementary/middle schools) or Priority 1 or 
2 Schools will be allowed based upon individual school needs. 

 
• Transfers from a Title 1 (elementary/middle schools) or Priority 1 or 2 

School to a non-Title 1 or non-Priority 1 or 2 School will be allowed 
when a highly qualified replacement is available to fill the resultant 
vacancy. 

 
• Transfers of highly qualified teachers from non-Priority or non-Title 1 

Schools to Title 1 or Priority 1 or 2 Schools will be based upon 
performance goals and indicators and individual school needs. 

 
• Transfers of highly qualified teachers between non-Priority and non-

Title 1 Schools will be allowed based on performance goals and 
indicators and individual school needs. 

 
• Transfers of non-critical shortage areas will be allowed based on 

performance goals and indicators and individual school needs. 
 
• All highly qualified teachers returning from leave or being surplused 

will be considered first by principals of Title 1 (elementary/middle 
schools) or Priority 1 or 2 Schools before being assigned to other 
vacancies. 

 

June 1  Review and assessment of existing vacancies will be conducted in all  
 schools. 
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Title I Conditional New Hire Information
Comparison by Area

HALSTEAD ACADEMY CN 1 39 2 37 4.4% 95.6% 6 1.0
WHITE OAK SCHOOL CN 1 46 3 43 6.5% 93.5% 7 2.0

Total Central Area Title I 2 85 4.7 80.3 6.5% 93.5% 13 3 23.1%
ELMWOOD ELEM NE 1 40 0 40 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
GLENMAR ELEM NE 1 28 1 27 3.6% 96.4% 6.0 1.0
GOLDEN RING MIDDLE NE 1 65 6 59 9.2% 90.8% 8.0 2.0
MARTIN BLVD ELEM NE 1 25 0 25 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
MCCORMICK ELEM NE 1 29 0 29 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
MIDDLE RIVER MIDDLE NE 1 70 3 67 4.3% 95.7% 2.0 1.0
MIDDLESEX ELEM NE 1 41 0 41 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
SHADY SPRING ELEM NE 1 37 1 36 2.7% 97.3% 5.0 0.0
VICTORY VILLA ELEM NE 1 26 0 26 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0

Total Northeast Area Title I 9 361 11 350 3.0% 97.0% 33 4 12.1%
MILBROOK ELEM NW 1 27 2 25 7.4% 92.6% 3.0 0.0
OLD COURT MIDDLE NW 1 75 22 53 29.3% 70.7% 7.0 2.0
OWINGS MILLS ELEM NW 1 48 0 48 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
SCOTTS BRANCH ELEM NW 1 42 1 41 2.4% 97.6% 6.0 0.0

Total Northwest Area Title I 4 192 25 167 13.0% 87.0% 18 2 11.1%
BATTLE GROVE ELEM SE 1 31 1 30 3.2% 96.8% 5.0 1.0
BATTLE MONUMENT SCHOO SE 1 23 1 22 4.3% 95.7% 2.0 0.0
BERKSHIRE ELEM SE 1 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
CHARLESMONT ELEM SE 1 26 2 24 7.7% 92.3% 1.0 0.0
CHASE ELEM SE 1 26 1 25 3.8% 96.2% 1.0 0.0
COLGATE ELEM SE 1 26 0 26 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
DEEP CREEK ELEM SE 1 36 0 36 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
DEEP CREEK MIDDLE SE 1 66.0 11.0 55 16.7% 83.3% 13.0 3.0
DUNDALK ELEM SE 1 42 0 42 0.0% 100.0% 4.0 0.0
DUNDALK MIDDLE SE 1 51.0 2.0 49 3.9% 96.1% 8.0 2.0
HAWTHORNE ELEM SE 1 38 0 38 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
HOLABIRD MIDDLE SE 1 60 5 55 8.3% 91.7% 10.0 2.0
LOGAN ELEM SE 1 36 1 35 2.8% 97.2% 2.0 0.0
MARS ESTATES ELEM SE 1 31 0 31 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
NORWOOD ELEM SE 1 39 3 36 7.7% 92.3% 2.0 1.0
SANDALWOOD ELEM SE 1 36 1 35 2.8% 97.2% 4.0 1.0
SANDY PLAINS ELEM SE 1 45 0 45 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
SUSSEX ELEM SE 1 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0

Total Southeast Area Title I 18 666 28 638 4.2% 95.8% 69 10 14.5%

Total New
Teachers

New
Conditional

Hires

%
Conditional

Conditional Professional
%

Conditional
% ProfessionalSchools September 21, 2004 Area

Title
I

Total
Teachers
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Title I Conditional New Hire Information
Comparison by Area

BALTO HIGHLANDS ELEM SW 1 41 0 41 0.0% 100.0% 6.0 0.0
CHADWICK ELEM SW 1 34 1 33 2.9% 97.1% 5.0 1.0
DOGWOOD ELEM SW 1 41 1 40 2.4% 97.6% 5.0 0.0
EDMONDSON HGHTS ELEM SW 1 50 3 47 6.0% 94.0% 4.0 0.0
FEATHERBED LANE ELEM SW 1 52 4 48 7.7% 92.3% 10.0 1.0
HEBBVILLE ELEM SW 1 40 1 39 2.5% 97.5% 7.0 0.0
JOHNNYCAKE ELEM SW 1 39 1 38 2.6% 97.4% 7.0 0.0
LANSDOWNE ELEM SW 1 33 2 31 6.1% 93.9% 3.0 0.0
LANSDOWNE MIDDLE SW 1 62.0 4.0 58 6.5% 93.5% 8.0 2.0
MAIDEN CHOICE SCHOOL SW 1 24 1 23 4.2% 95.8% 2.0 1.0
POWHATAN ELEM SW 1 24 0 24 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
RIVERVIEW ELEM SW 1 36 0 36 0.0% 100.0% 12.0 0.0
WINFIELD ELEM SW 1 29 3 26 10.3% 89.7% 3.0 1.0
WOODLAWN MIDDLE SW 1 69.0 12.0 57 17.4% 82.6% 11.0 1.0
WOODMOOR ELEM SW 1 42 3 39 7.1% 92.9% 6.0 1.0
Total Southwest Area Title I 15 616 36 580 5.8% 94.2% 94 8 8.5%

Total System 48 1920 104.7 1815.3 5.5% 94.5% 227 27 11.9%

Total New
Teachers

New
Conditional

Hires

%
Conditional

Conditional Professional
%

Conditional
% ProfessionalSchools September 21, 2004 Area

Title
I

Total
Teachers
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Baltimore County Public Schools
Elementary School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

9/21/2004

CARROLL MANOR ELEM CN 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 0 0.0
CROMWELL ELEM MAGNET CN 27 1 26 3.7% 96.3% 0 0.0
FIFTH DISTRICT ELEM CN 21 0 21 0.0% 100.0% 0 0.0
HALSTEAD ACADEMY CN 1 39 2 37 5.1% 94.9% 6 1.0
HAMPTON ELEM CN 25 0 25 0.0% 100.0% 1 0.0
JACKSONVILLE ELEM CN 38 0 38 0.0% 100.0% 1 0.0
LUTHERVILLE LAB TECH CN 28 0 28 0.0% 100.0% 0 0.0
OAKLEIGH ELEM CN 36 0 36 0.0% 100.0% 2 0.0
PADONIA ELEM CN 25 2 23 8.0% 92.0% 1 0.0
PINEWOOD ELEM CN 35 1 34 2.9% 97.1% 2 1.0
PLEASANT PLAINS ELEM CN 35 1 34 2.9% 97.1% 3 0.0
POT SPRING ELEM CN 34 0 34 0.0% 100.0% 1 0.0
PRETTYBOY ELEM CN 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 0 0.0
RIDERWOOD ELEM CN 32 1 31 3.1% 96.9% 1 0.0
RIDGE-RUXTON SCHOOL CN 31 2 29 6.5% 93.5% 0 0.0
RODGERS FORGE ELEM CN 31 0 31 0.0% 100.0% 1 0.0
SEVENTH DIST ELEM CN 26 0 26 0.0% 100.0% 3 0.0
SPARKS ELEM CN 32 1 31 3.1% 96.9% 2 1.0
STONELEIGH ELEM CN 36 1 35 2.8% 97.2% 3 0.0
TIMONIUM ELEM CN 30 0 30 0.0% 100.0% 0 0.0
VILLA CRESTA ELEM CN 38 0 38 0.0% 100.0% 3 0.0
WARREN ELEM CN 25 0 25 0.0% 100.0% 0 0.0
WHITE OAK SCHOOL CN 1 46 3 43 6.5% 93.5% 7 2.0

Totals: Central Area 2 724 15 709 2.1% 97.9% 37 5 13.5%

Conditional
%

Conditional

ELEM School Certification Report New Teachers FY05

Schools September 21, 2004 Area Title I
Total

Teachers
Conditional Professional

%
Conditional

% Professional
Total New
Teachers
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Baltimore County Public Schools
Elementary School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

CARNEY ELEM NE 35 1 34 2.9% 97.1% 0 0
CHAPEL HILL ELEM NE 40 1 39 2.5% 97.5% 4.0 1.0
ELMWOOD ELEM NE 1 40 0 40 0.0% 100.0% 4.0 0.0
ESSEX ELEM NE 31 1 30 3.2% 96.8% 1.0 0.0
FULLERTON ELEM NE 33 0 33 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
GLENMAR ELEM NE 1 28 1 27 3.6% 96.4% 6.0 1.0
GUNPOWDER ELEM NE 33 1 32 3.0% 97.0% 0.0 0.0
HARFORD HILLS ELEM NE 29 1 28 3.4% 96.6% 2.0 1.0
JOPPA VIEW ELEM NE 37 0 37 0.0% 100.0% 1.0 0.0
KINGSVILLE ELEM NE 26 1 25 3.8% 96.2% 1.0 0.0
MARTIN BLVD ELEM NE 1 25 0 25 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
MCCORMICK ELEM NE 1 29 0 29 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
MIDDLESEX ELEM NE 1 41 0 41 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
OREMS ELEM NE 24 0 24 0.0% 100.0% 3.0 0.0
PERRY HALL ELEM NE 25 0 25 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
PINE GROVE ELEM NE 33 0 33 0.0% 100.0% 1.0 0.0
RED HOUSE RUN ELEM NE 34 2 32 5.9% 94.1% 3.0 0.0
SEVEN OAKS ELEM NE 30 1 29 3.3% 96.7% 2 0.0
SHADY SPRING ELEM NE 1 37 1 36 2.7% 97.3% 5.0 0.0
VICTORY VILLA ELEM NE 1 26 0 26 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0

Totals: Northeast Area 7 636 11 625 1.7% 98.3% 44 3.0 6.8%

Total New
Teachers

Conditional
%

Conditional
Conditional Professional % Conditional % ProfessionalSchools September 21, 2004 Area Title I

Total
Teachers
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Baltimore County Public Schools
Elementary School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

BEDFORD ELEM NW 25 1 24 4.0% 96.0% 6.0 0.0
CAMPFIELD ECLD CTR NW 32 0 32 0.0% 100.0% 1.0 0.0
CEDARMERE ELEM NW 37 0 37 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
CHATSWORTH SCHOOL NW 38 2 36 5.3% 94.7% 3.0 0.0
CHURCH LANE ELEM TECH NW 33 2 31 6.1% 93.9% 4.0 1.0
DEER PARK ELEM NW 32 1 31 3.1% 96.9% 2.0 0.0
FORT GARRISON ELEM NW 29 0 29 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
FRANKLIN ELEM NW 36 0 36 0.0% 100.0% 3.0 0.0
GLYNDON ELEM NW 35 0 35 0.0% 100.0% 4.0 0.0
HERNWOOD ELEM NW 35 0 35 0.0% 100.0% 4.0 0.0
MILBROOK ELEM NW 1 27 2 25 7.4% 92.6% 3.0 0.0
NEW TOWN ELEM NW 56 2 54 3.6% 96.4% 8.0 1.0
OWINGS MILLS ELEM NW 1 48 0 48 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
RANDALLSTOWN ELEM NW 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
REISTERSTOWN ELEM NW 33 1 32 3.0% 97.0% 5.0 0.0
SCOTTS BRANCH ELEM NW 1 42 1 41 2.4% 97.6% 6.0 0.0
SUMMIT PARK ELEM NW 26 1 25 3.8% 96.2% 2.0 0.0
TIMBER GROVE ELEM NW 41 0 41 0.0% 100.0% 3.0 0.0
WELLWOOD INTL SCHOOL NW 40 4 36 10.0% 90.0% 2.0 0.0
WINAND ELEM NW 36 2 34 5.6% 94.4% 4.0 2.0

Totals: Northwest Area 3 708 19 689 2.7% 97.3% 69.0 4.0 5.8%

% Professional
Total New
Teachers

Conditional
%

Conditional
Schools September 21, 2004 Area Title I

Total
Teachers

Conditional Professional % Conditional
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Baltimore County Public Schools
Elementary School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

BATTLE GROVE ELEM SE 1 38 1 37 2.6% 97.4% 5.0 1.0
BATTLE MONUMENT SCHOOL SE 1 33 1 32 3.0% 97.0% 2.0 0.0
BEAR CREEK ELEM SE 46 1 45 2.2% 97.8% 5.0 1.0
BERKSHIRE ELEM SE 1 33 0 33 0.0% 100.0% 2.0 0.0
CHARLESMONT ELEM SE 1 35 2 33 5.7% 94.3% 2.0 0.0
CHASE ELEM SE 1 34 1 33 2.9% 97.1% 1.0 0.0
CHESAPEAKE TERR ELEM SE 25 1 24 4.0% 96.0% 4.0 1.0
COLGATE ELEM SE 1 33 0 33 0.0% 100.0% 1.0 0.0
DEEP CREEK ELEM SE 1 46 0 46 0.0% 100.0% 6.0 0.0
DUNDALK ELEM SE 1 52 0 52 0.0% 100.0% 4.0 0.0
EASTWOOD CENTER SE 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 0.6 0.0
EDGEMERE ELEM SE 38 1 37 2.6% 97.4% 1.0 0.0
GRANGE ELEM SE 36 1 35 2.8% 97.2% 3.0 0.0
HAWTHORNE ELEM SE 1 50 0 50 0.0% 100.0% 6.0 0.0
LOGAN ELEM SE 1 44 1 43 2.3% 97.7% 3.0 0.0
MARS ESTATES ELEM SE 1 40 0 40 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
MIDDLEBOROUGH ELEM SE 34 1 33 2.9% 97.1% 1.0 1.0
NORWOOD ELEM SE 1 48 3 45 6.3% 93.8% 2.0 1.0
OLIVER BEACH ELEM SE 31 0 31 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
SANDALWOOD ELEM SE 1 52 1 51 1.9% 98.1% 5.0 1.0
SANDY PLAINS ELEM SE 1 57 0 57 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
SENECA ELEM SE 29 1 28 3.4% 96.6% 5.0 1.0
SUSSEX ELEM SE 1 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0

Totals: Southeast Area 15 888 16 872 1.8% 98.2% 63.6 7.0 11.0%

Total New
Teachers

Conditional
%

Conditional
Conditional Professional % Conditional % ProfessionalSchools September 21, 2004 Area Title I

Total
Teachers
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Baltimore County Public Schools
Elementary School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

ARBUTUS ELEM SW 26 1 25 3.8% 96.2% 0.0 0.0
BALTO HIGHLANDS ELEM SW 1 38 0 38 0.0% 100.0% 6.0 0.0
CATONSVILLE ELEM SW 30 4 26 13.3% 86.7% 4.0 1.0
CHADWICK ELEM SW 1 34 1 33 2.9% 97.1% 5.0 1.0
DOGWOOD ELEM SW 1 41 1 40 2.4% 97.6% 5.0 0.0
EDMONDSON HGHTS ELEM SW 1 50 3 47 6.0% 94.0% 4.0 0.0
FEATHERBED LANE ELEM SW 1 52 4 48 7.7% 92.3% 10.0 1.0
HALETHORPE ELEM SW 32 2 30 6.3% 93.8% 3.0 0.0
HEBBVILLE ELEM SW 1 30 1 29 3.3% 96.7% 7.0 0.0
HILLCREST ELEM SW 40 0 40 0.0% 100.0% 1.0 0.0
JOHNNYCAKE ELEM SW 1 39 1 38 2.6% 97.4% 7.0 0.0
LANSDOWNE ELEM SW 1 33 2 31 6.1% 93.9% 3.0 0.0
MAIDEN CHOICE SCHOOL SW 1 24 1 23 4.2% 95.8% 2.0 1.0
POWHATAN ELEM SW 1 24 0 24 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
RELAY ELEM SW 33 0 33 0.0% 100.0% 4.0 0.0
RIVERVIEW ELEM SW 1 36 0 36 0.0% 100.0% 12.0 0.0
WESTCHESTER ELEM SW 33 0 33 0.0% 100.0% 1.0 0.0
WESTOWNE ELEM SW 36 0 36 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
WINFIELD ELEM SW 1 29 3 26 10.3% 89.7% 3.0 1.0
WOODBRIDGE ELEM SW 27 0 27 0.0% 100.0% 0.0 0.0
WOODMOOR ELEM SW 1 42 3 39 7.1% 92.9% 6.0 1.0

Totals: Southwest Area 13 729 27 702 3.7% 96.3% 93.0 6.0 6.5%
TOTALS 40 3,685 88 3,597 2.4% 97.6% 306.6 25.0 8.2%

% Professional
Total New
Teachers

Conditional
%

Conditional
Schools September 21, 2004 Area Title I

Total
Teachers

Conditional Professional % Conditional
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Baltimore County Public Schools
Middle School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

9/21/2004

COCKEYSVILLE MIDDLE CN 57.0 3.0 54.0 5.3% 94.7% 5.0 3.0
DUMBARTON MIDDLE CN 67.0 0.0 67.0 0.0% 100.0% 5.0 0.0
HEREFORD MIDDLE CN 69.0 5.0 64.0 7.2% 92.8% 4.0 2.0
LOCH RAVEN TECH ACAD CN 77.0 13.0 64.0 16.9% 83.1% 12.0 2.0
RIDGELY MIDDLE CN 70.0 2.0 68.0 2.9% 97.1% 5.0 1.0

Totals: Central 0 340.0 23.0 317.0 6.8% 93.2% 31.0 8.0 26%
GOLDEN RING MIDDLE NE 1 65.0 6.0 59.0 9.2% 90.8% 8.0 2.0
MIDDLE RIVER MIDDLE NE 1 69.0 3.0 66.0 4.3% 95.7% 2.0 1.0
PARKVILLE MIDDLE NE 78.0 6.0 72.0 7.7% 92.3% 5.0 1.0
PERRY HALL MIDDLE NE 101.0 5.0 96.0 5.0% 95.0% 6.0 2.0
PINE GROVE MIDDLE NE 81.0 4.0 77.0 4.9% 95.1% 4.0 1.0
STEMMERS RUN MIDDLE NE 70.0 6.0 64.0 8.6% 91.4% 13.0 6.0
Totals: Northeast Area 2 464.0 30.0 434.0 6.5% 93.5% 38.0 13.0 34%
DEER PARK MID/MAGNET NW 85.0 15.0 70.0 17.6% 82.4% 12.0 3.0
FRANKLIN MIDDLE NW 95.0 13.0 82.0 13.7% 86.3% 7.0 2.0
OLD COURT MIDDLE NW 1 75.0 22.0 53.0 29.3% 70.7% 8.0 2.0
PIKESVILLE MIDDLE NW 78.0 5.0 73.0 6.4% 93.6% 12.0 3.0
SUDBROOK MAGNET MDL NW 75.0 12.0 63.0 16.0% 84.0% 15.0 8.0

Totals: Northwest Area 1 408.0 67.0 341.0 16.4% 83.6% 54.0 18.0 33%
DEEP CREEK MIDDLE SE 1 66.0 11.0 55.0 16.7% 83.3% 13.0 3.0
DUNDALK MIDDLE SE 1 51.0 2.0 49.0 3.9% 96.1% 8.0 2.0
GEN JOHN STRICKER MID SE 69.0 4.0 65.0 5.8% 94.2% 8.0 1.0
HOLABIRD MIDDLE SE 1 60.0 5.0 55.0 8.3% 91.7% 10.0 2.0
SPARROWS PT MIDDLE SE 42.0 5.0 37.0 11.9% 88.1% 5.0 1.0

Totals: Southeast Area 3 288.0 27.0 261.0 9.4% 90.6% 44.0 9.0 20%
ARBUTUS MIDDLE SW 67.0 8.0 59.0 11.9% 88.1% 6.0 1.0
CATONSVILLE MIDDLE SW 46.0 3.0 43.0 6.5% 93.5% 4.0 0.0
LANSDOWNE MIDDLE SW 1 62.0 4.0 58.0 6.5% 93.5% 8.0 2.0
MEADOWOOD EDUC CTR SW 14.0 3.0 11.0 21.4% 78.6% 3.0 1.0
SOUTHWEST ACADEMY SW 87.0 31.0 56.0 35.6% 64.4% 21.0 9.0
WOODLAWN MIDDLE SW 1 69.0 12.0 57.0 17.4% 82.6% 11.0 1.0
Totals: Southwest Area 2 345.0 61.0 284.0 17.7% 82.3% 53.0 14.0 26%
Totals: System 8 1,845.0 208.0 1,637.0 11.3% 88.7% 220.0 62.0 28%

%
Conditional

%
Professional

Total New
Teachers

Conditional
%

Conditional

Middle School Certification Report New Teachers FY05

Schools September 21, 2004 Area Title I
Total

Teachers
Conditional Professional
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Baltimore County Public Schools
High School Staffing Report

Conditional and Provisional Certification (By Areas)

CARVER CTR ARTS TECH CN 64.0 10.0 54.0 15.6 84.4 4.0 2.0
DULANEY HIGH CN 123.0 10.0 113.0 8.1 91.9 13.0 4.0
HEREFORD HIGH CN 89.0 9.0 80.0 10.1 89.9 12.0 5.0
LOCH RAVEN HIGH CN 72.0 4.0 68.0 5.6 94.4 7.0 1.0
TOWSON HIGH CN 96.0 16.0 80.0 16.7 83.3 12.0 5.0
Central Totals 444.0 49.0 395.0 11.0% 89.0% 48.0 17.0 35.4%
EASTERN TECH HIGH NE 84.0 9.0 75.0 10.7 89.3 8.0 3.0
KENWOOD HIGH NE 129.0 19.0 110.0 14.7 85.3 9.0 5.0
OVERLEA HIGH NE 87.0 19.0 68.0 21.8 78.2 8.0 3.0
PARKVILLE HIGH NE 137.0 14.0 123.0 10.2 89.8 14.0 5.0
PERRY HALL HIGH NE 147.0 15.0 132.0 10.2 89.8 12.0 5.0
ROSEDALE CTR NE 54.0 7.0 47.0 13.0 87.0 5.0 2.0
Northeast Totals 638.0 83.0 555.0 13.0% 87.0% 51.0 23.0 45.1%
FRANKLIN HIGH NW 105.0 9.0 96.0 8.6 91.4 14.0 3.0
MILFORD MILL ACADEMY NW 94.0 23.0 71.0 24.5 75.5 9.0 2.0
NEW TOWN HIGH NW 52.0 13.0 39.0 25.0 75.0 12.0 9.0
OWINGS MILLS HIGH NW 90.0 5.0 85.0 5.6 94.4 6.0 1.0
PIKESVILLE HIGH NW 76.0 10.0 66.0 13.2 86.8 4.0 2.0
RANDALLSTOWN HIGH NW 95.0 31.0 64.0 32.6 67.4 22.0 9.0
Northwest Totals 512.0 91.0 421.0 17.8% 82.2% 67.0 26.0 38.8%
CHESAPEAKE HIGH SE 74.0 12.0 62.0 16.2 83.8 11.0 4.0
DUNDALK HIGH SE 101.0 18.0 83.0 17.8 82.2 18.0 8.0
PATAPSCO HIGH SE 106.0 10.0 96.0 9.4 90.6 10.0 2.0
SOLLERS PT TECH HIGH SE 31.0 5.0 26.0 16.1 83.9 1.0 1.0
SPARROWS POINT HIGH SE 65.0 10.0 55.0 15.4 84.6 2.0 1.0
Southeast Totals 377.0 55.0 322.0 14.6% 85.4% 42.0 16.0 38.1%
CATON CTR ALT STUDY SW 17.0 2.0 15.0 11.8 88.2 3.0 2.0
CATONSVILLE HIGH SW 98.0 11.0 87.0 11.2 88.8 11.0 7.0
LANSDOWNE HIGH SW 91.0 9.0 82.0 9.9 90.1 14.0 4.0
WESTERN SCH/TECHNOL SW 82.0 10.0 72.0 12.2 87.8 6.0 4.0
WOODLAWN HIGH SW 136.0 43.0 93.0 31.6 68.4 22.0 7.0

Southwest Totals 424.0 75.0 349 17.7% 82.3% 56.0 24.0 42.9%
Totals 2395.0 353.0 2,042 14.7% 85.3% 264.0 106.0 40.2%

%
Professional

Total New
Teachers

High School Certification Report New Teachers FY05

Conditional
%

Conditional
Professional

Teachers
Schools September 21, 2004 Area

Total
Teachers

Conditional
%

Conditional:



Exhibit E

DOP:  12/22/2004 

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
TOWSON, MARYLAND 21204 

 
December 21, 2004 

 
SABBATICAL LEAVES - Effective July 1, 2005

SABBATICAL LEAVE

SHARON C. HARRIS  – Lansdowne High School
Years in Baltimore County:  11 years  
Degree Status:  Master’s Equivalent 
Effective School Year:  2005-2006; to pursue a Masters of Music Education at Towson University 
 

These sabbatical leaves are contingent upon funding.  



Exhibit F
BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

TOWSON, MARYLAND 21204 

December 21, 2004 
 

RETIREMENTS

YRS. OF EFFECTIVE 
 NAME POSITION SCHOOL/OFFICE SERVICE DATE

Carolyn Auld Paraprofessional Chesapeake High 19.3 12-01-04 
 
Karen Barnes Principal Deer Park Magnet MS 12.4 1-01-05 
 
Nola Cromer Supervisor ESS/Fed & State Program 6.3 2-01-05 
 
Deborah Erickson Assist. Principal Franklin Elementary 24.7 3-01-05 
 
Roger Holliman Teacher Randallstown High 9.4 1-01-05 
 
Sandra Knode Social Worker Dogwood Elementary 10.3 1-01-05 
 
Anthony Mikula    Teacher Owings Mills High 30.5 2-01-05 
 
Patricia Shelton Teacher White Oak School 30.1 1-01-05 
 
June Troyer Bus Attendant Transportation 12.4 1-01-05 
 
Katherine Warner Teacher Hereford Middle 29.4 1-01-05 
 
John Watkins Assist. Principal Dundalk High 37.0 7-01-05 
 

As of 12/6/04 
 



Exhibit G

DOP:  12/22/04 

 
BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

TOWSON, MARYLAND 21204 
 

December 21, 2004 
 

RESIGNATIONS

ELEMENTARY – 3

Dogwood Elementary School
Mary L. Dugan, 11/18/04, 3.0 mos. 
 
Featherbed Lane Elementary School
Shawnna Y. Thompson, 12/23/04, 4.0 mos. 
 
Scotts Branch Elementary School
Cristina L. Egbert, 12/23/04, 1.1 yr. 
 

SECONDARY – 8

Catonsville High School
Theodore I. Shatagin, 12/23/04, 4.0 mos. 
 
Franklin High School
Karen B. Cicmanec, 11/19/04, 2.3 yrs. 
 
Holabird Middle School
Brian Hoyer, 01/03/05, 14.4 yrs. 
 
Kenwood High School
Barry L Richards, 01/03/05, 7.4 yrs. 
 
Lansdowne High School
Stanley H. Jones, 01/01/05, 3.4 yrs. 
 
Loch Raven Technical Academy
Bridget J. Corey, 12/05/04, 4.0 mos. 
 
Old Court Middle School
Stephen W. Moore, 11/05/04, 3.0 mos. 
 
Overlea High School
Gerald B. Hinkley, 01/21/05, 5.0 mos. 
 



Exhibit H

DOP:  12/22/2004 

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
TOWSON, MARYLAND 21204 

 
December 21, 2004 

 
LEAVES

CHILD REARING LEAVES

DONZELLA WADLINGTON CARTER – Deer Park Middle Magnet School 
Effective February 6, 2005 through February 6, 2007 
 
HELENE COIBION SCHUSTER – Dogwood Elementary School 
Effective January 26, 2005 through June 30, 2006 
 

UNUSUAL OR IMPERATIVE  LEAVE

DAVIDA M. KISSEL – Kenwood High School 
Effective January 3, 2005 through June 30, 2005  
 



Exhibit I

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 

DATE: December 21, 2004 

TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION  
 
FROM: Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 

SUBJECT: NEW NORTHEAST AREA EDUCATIONAL ADVISORY 
COUNCIL MEMBER

ORIGINATOR:  Mr. William Lawrence, Executive Director of Northeast Schools 

RESOURCE  
PERSON(S): Mr. William Lawrence, Executive Director of Northeast Schools 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

That Festus Reynolds be appointed as a member of the 
Northeast Area Educational Advisory Council 
 

***** 
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BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 

DATE: December 21, 2004 

TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION  
 
FROM: Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 

SUBJECT: NEW SOUTHWEST AREA EDUCATIONAL ADVISORY 
COUNCIL MEMBER

ORIGINATOR:  Dr. Richard Milbourne, Executive Director of Southwest Schools 

RESOURCE  
PERSON(S): Dr. Richard Milbourne, Executive Director of Southwest Schools 
 Lisa Orens, Chairperson, Southwest Area Educational Advisory Council 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

That Brian S. Bailey be appointed as a member of the 
Southwest  Area Educational Advisory Council 
 

***** 
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BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 

Date:   December 21, 2004 

TO:   BOARD OF EDUCATION 
 
FROM:  Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 

SUBJECT: NEW ADVISORY COUNCIL MEMBER – NORTHWEST 
ADVISORY COUNCIL

ORIGINATOR:  Dr. H. Scott Gehring, Executive Director of Schools, Northwest Area 
 
RESOURCE  Dr. H. Scott Gehring, Executive Director of Schools, Northwest Area 
PERSON (S): 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Michael Gruber be appointed as a member  
 to the Northwest Advisory Council. 

 

***** 
 

Michael Gruber has been recommended by the Northwest Advisory Council 
to serve as a member on the Council. 

 



Exhibit J

DOP:  12/22/2004 

RECOMMENDED APPOINTMENTS

December 21, 2004 
 

MARTIN, PENELOPE E. Assistant Principal   Principal 
(Effective December 22, 2004)  Deer Park Middle Magnet School Deer Park Middle Magnet School 
 
(Replacing Karen Barnes, retiring) 
 



Exhibit K

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 
DATE: December 21, 2004 
 
TO:  BOARD OF EDUCATION  
 
FROM: Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 

SUBJECT: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR AWARD OF CONTRACTS

ORIGINATOR:  J. Robert Haines, Deputy Superintendent, Business Services 

PERSON(S): Patrick Fannon, Controller; Rick Gay, Purchasing Manager; 
Richard Cassell, Administrator, Engineering & Construction 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Board of Education approves the following contract recommendations. 
 

***** 
 
See the attached list of contract recommendations presented for consideration by the 
Board of Education of Baltimore County. 
 

RLG/caj 
 
Appendix I – Recommendations for Award of Contracts – Board Exhibit 
Appendix II - Baltimore County Bureau of Land Acquisition Plan - Easement at 

Chapel Hill Elementary School 
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Recommendations for Award of Contracts 
Board Exhibit – December 21, 2004 

 

The following contract recommendations are presented for consideration by the Board of 
Education of Baltimore County. 
 
1. Contract: Audio-Visual Equipment Repair 
 Bid #: PCR-270-05 
 
Term: 3 years Extension: 2 years Contract Ending Date: 12/21/09 (tentative) 
Estimated annual award value: $50,000 
Estimated total award value: $250,000 
 
Bid issued: October 21, 2004 
Pre-bid meeting date: November 5, 2004 
Due Date: November 17, 2004 
No. of vendors issued to: 5 
No. of bids received: 1 
No. of no-bids received: 1 
 
Description:       

This contract provides repair services for various brands and types of audio-visual 
equipment, primarily projection equipment, projection viewers/power cords, and LCD 
data/video projectors.  Services are provided on an as-needed basis in a time-and-material 
format.  
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract is recommended to: 
 

Kunz, Inc. Baltimore, MD 
 
Responsible school or office:  Office of Library and Information Services 
 
Contact Person: Art Stritch 

Funding Source: Operating budgets of individual schools/offices 
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2. Contract: Dual Purpose Paper (Copy, Laser Printers & Duplicators) 
 Bid #:  JMI-621-05 
 
Term: 6 months  Extensions: 0 Contract Ending Date: 6/30/05 (tentative) 
 
Estimated total award value: $646,656 
 
Bid issued: October 26, 2004 
Pre-bid meeting date: N/A 
Due Date: December 9, 2004 
No. of vendors issued to: 2
No. of bids received: 2
No. of no-bids received: 0

Description:       

The Baltimore Regional Cooperative Purchasing Committee (BRCPC), with Anne 
Arundel County Public Schools acting as lead agency, conducted a reverse auction for 
paper on December 9, 2004.  The solicitation requested pricing on six types of 8 ½ x 11 
and 8 ½ x 14 legal size paper.  Delivery will be made to Distribution Services on an as-
needed basis over a six-month period.  
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract is recommended to: 
 

RIS Paper Upper Marlboro, MD 
 
Responsible school or office: Distribution Services 

Contact Person: Don Dent 
 
Funding Source: Operating budget for each individual school
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3. Contract: Every Day Counts Calendar Math 
Contract #: RGA-151-04 

Term:  One time purchase  Extension: 0 Contract Ending Date: 12/31/04 (tentative) 
Estimated total award value: $150,000

Quote/bid/proposal issued:                      NA 
Pre-bid meeting date: NA 
Due date: NA 
No. of vendors issued to:                         NA 
No. of quotes/bids/proposals received: NA 
No. of no-bids received: NA 
 
Description:       

The Office of Mathematics PreK-12 is seeking Board of Education approval to purchase 
the Every Day Counts Calendar Math kits for grades 1-5 in all elementary Title I schools. 
The Office of Mathematics PreK-12 originally purchased this program in 1998 for all 
kindergarten classes. It is a very powerful learning program with its unequaled quality in 
the student materials and the quality of the teacher support materials found in the Every 
Day Counts Calendar Math kit. This calendar program is aligned to the BCPS Elementary 
Mathematics curriculum and to the MD Voluntary State Curriculum. 
 
The calendar kit comes with all the components for creating a calendar display that would 
be used to review, reinforce, and introduce a variety of mathematic concepts that are 
found in the BCPS mathematics’ curriculum and are aligned to the Voluntary State 
Curriculum.  The kit includes pre-made materials for creating a display of the calendar, 
creating graphs and other materials needed to implement the program, pre- and post-
assessments, a teacher’s edition with high-level questions, and directions for using the 
calendar to reinforce and review mathematic skills and concepts.  The skills and concepts 
that are addressed include:  basic facts and computation; number sense concepts; 
composing and decomposing numbers; comparing and ordering numbers; place value; 
fractions; decimals; patterns; algebraic thinking; telling time; temperature; money skills; 
gathering data; reading and analyzing graphs; making predictions; communication in 
mathematics; problem solving; reasoning; and probability concepts.  
 
This program is based on the research of best practices for how elementary children learn 
mathematics.  Research has shown that children benefit from learning mathematics: 
 

• incrementally, giving them the opportunity to develop understandings 
over time 

• using visual models 
• using classroom discussions to develop problem solving, reasoning, 

mathematics connections, and communication 
• by developing the technical mathematical vocabulary 
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• by thinking algebraically; 
• by observing and listening to other students thinking and reasoning; 
• based on prior knowledge. 

 
This program will supplement the BCPS mathematics program in our Title I schools and 
allows students to review and reinforce concepts that have been previously taught and 
introduce other concepts prior to a unit being taught.  The program offers multiple 
opportunities throughout the school day to reinforce mathematics concepts and 
vocabulary in a way that requires no additional teacher preparation and builds on 
previously taught content.  All teachers will receive a half-day training on the 
implementation of the calendar program support by the Office of Mathematics PreK-12 
and the publisher. 
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract is recommended to the following firm: 
 

Great Source Education Group Wilmington, MA 
 
Responsible school or office: Office of Mathematics PreK-12  
 
Contact Person:   Patricia Baltzley, Director 

Linda Schoenbrodt, Coordinator  
 
Funding Source: Title I  
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4. Contract:    Professional Development Contract with Dr. Carol Tolman 
 Contract #: RGA-148-05 

 
Term: 3 years        Extension:  2 years  Contract Ending Date: 6/30/09 (tentative) 
Estimated annual award value: $35,000
Estimated total award value: $175,000                            
 
Quote/Bid/Proposal issued: NA 
Pre-bid meeting date: NA 
Due Date: NA 
No. of vendors issued to:  NA 
No. of Quotes/Bids/Proposals received: NA 
No. of no-bids received: NA 
 
Description:       

Ongoing professional development is needed to support reading coaches from the 
following Reading First and Assessment and Intervention Model Schools: 
 
Reading First Schools: Edmondson Heights, Sandalwood, Sandy Plains, Scotts Branch,  
and Winfield 
 
Assessment and Intervention Model Schools: Baltimore Highlands, Chadwick, 
Dogwood, Featherbed, Hebbville, Johnnycake, Powhatan, Woodmoor, Owings Mills, 
Randallstown, Timber Grove, Halstead, Villa Cresta, White Oak, Glenmar, Middlesex, 
Battle Grove, Berkshire, Charlesmont, Chase, Chesapeake Terrace, Deep Creek, 
Dundalk, Logan, Mars Estates, Norwood, Oliver Beach, and Sussex 
 
In addition to school-based coaches, resource teachers and supervisory staff from the 
Offices of Early Childhood Programs, Elementary Reading/Language Arts, and Special 
Education will attend the professional development sessions.   
 
Dr. Carol Tolman will provide Language Essentials for Teachers of Reading and Spelling 
(LETRS) training.  LETRS is designed to provide deep learning and reflection on 
language structure, reading development, reading difficulties, and assessment practices 
that guide research-based instruction.  Dr. Tolman presented DIBELS to teachers during 
Summer 2004, as well as conducted two BCPS administrator workshops on Teaching 
Reading Based on Brain Research. She received outstanding evaluations from teachers 
and administrators for all of these workshops.  In addition, Dr. Tolman is a national 
Dynamic Indicators of Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) and LETRS presenter, has 
contributed to the writing of the LETRS manuals, and has trained with Dr. Louisa Cook 
Moats, national reading expert. 
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract is recommended to: 
 

Dr. Carol Tolman    Spofford, NH. 
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Responsible school or office: Department of Elementary Programs 
 
Contact Person: Jane Lichter 
 
Funding Source: Title II – 05 Grant 
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5. Contract: Professional Development Workshop Contract with Linda Farrell                                               
(Reading Street) 

 Contract #: RGA-149-05 
 
Term: 3 years        Extension: 2 year            Contract Ending Date: 6/30/09 (tentative) 
Estimated annual award value $25,000
Estimated total award value: $125,000                            
 
Pre-bid meeting date:  NA 
Quote/Bid/Proposal issued:      NA 
Due Date: NA 
No. of vendors issued to:  NA 
No. of Quotes/Bids/Proposals received: NA 
No. of no-bids received:  NA 
 
Description:       
Ongoing professional development is needed to support reading coaches from the 
following Reading First and Assessment and Intervention Model Schools: 
 
Reading First Schools: Edmondson Heights, Sandalwood, Sandy Plains, Scotts Branch, 
and Winfield 
 
Assessment and Intervention Model Schools: Baltimore Highlands, Chadwick, 
Dogwood, Featherbed, Hebbville, Johnnycake, Powhatan, Woodmoor, Owings Mills, 
Randallstown, Timber Grove, Halstead, Villa Cresta, White Oak, Glenmar, Middlesex, 
Battle Grove, Berkshire, Charlesmont, Chase, Chesapeake Terrace, Deep Creek, 
Dundalk, Logan, Mars Estates, Norwood, Oliver Beach, Sussex. 
 
In addition to school-based coaches, resource teachers and supervisory staff from the 
Offices of Early Childhood Programs, Elementary Reading/Language Arts, and Special 
Education will attend the professional development sessions.   
 
Linda Farrell, Director of Reading Street, will provide professional development 
workshops focusing on analyzing data from (Dynamic Indicators of Early Literacy Skills) 
DIBELS, and providing differentiated small-group instruction to increase the reading 
achievement of beginning readers.  Ms. Farrell has been selected based on her ability to 
incorporate best practices in instruction and scientific research showing the most 
effective ways to teach reading, writing, and spelling.  In addition, Ms. Farrell is a 
national DIBELS and Language Essentials for Teachers of Reading and Spelling 
(LETRS) presenter, and has trained with Dr. Louisa Cook Moats, national reading expert. 
 
Recommendation:
Award of contract is recommended to: 
 

Linda Farrell, Reading Street  Alexandria, VA.  
 
Responsible school or office: Department of Elementary Programs 
 
Contact Person: Jane Lichter 
 
Funding Source: Title II Grant Funding 
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6. Contract: School Buses 
 Bid #: PCR-276-05 
 
Term: 6 months Extension: N/A Contract Ending Date: 6/30/05(tentative) 
Estimated annual award value: $3,946,454 
Estimated total award value: $3,946,454 
 
Bid issued: October 21, 2004 
Pre-bid meeting date: November 5, 2004 
Due Date: November 17, 2004 
No. of vendors issued to: 4 
No. of bids received: 3 
No. of no-bids received: 1 
 
Description:      

The annual bid for the purchase of school buses was offered as follows: 
 

53 of GROUP I buses that accommodate 64 passengers. 
4 of GROUP IA buses that accommodate 64 passengers, with orthopedic lift 
13 of GROUP III buses that accommodate 48 passengers, with orthopedic lift                               

Recommendation:

Award of contract is recommended to: 
 

GROUP I:  American Bus Sales and Service, Annapolis, MD 
GROUP IA:   American Bus Sales and Service, Annapolis, MD 
GROUP III:   American Bus Sales and Service, Annapolis, MD   

 
Responsible school or office: Office of Transportation 
 
Contact Person: Wayne Hopkins 
 
Funding Source: Multi-year lease purchase agreement 
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7. Contract: Special Education Individual Education Plan Software                             
Management System 

 Bid #: JMI-601-05 
 
Term: Perpetual beginning January 2005 
Extension: N/A 
Contract Ending Date:  N/A   
Estimated total award value: $561,050 (initial implementation)   
Renewed annually for: $43,500 (software maintenance) 
 
Bid issued: June 3, 2004 
Pre-bid meeting date: June 17, 2004 
Due Date: November 4, 2004 
No. of vendors issued to:  21
No. of Final Proposals received: 6 
 
Description:       

This software will efficiently manage the records of BCPS Special Education students 
with Individual Education Plans (IEP), and Section 504 students.  The software supports 
the management of a web-based enterprise solution that is accessible at local sites for 
teachers, school-based administrators, central office administrators, and system 
administrators through the BCPS Intranet.  The application will seamlessly integrate with 
the existing BCPS software platforms and supported databases.  It will also build upon 
the current functionality while maintaining, to the greatest extent possible, the same look 
and feel of our current IEP software (BCPS One System).   
 
This computerized system provides an end-to-end solution for processing and reporting 
on IEP data. 
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract is recommended to: 
 

MAXIMUS, Inc.           Reston, VA 
 
Responsible school or office: Office of Federal and State Programs 
 
Contact Person: Ron Boone 
 
Funding Source: Office of Third Party Billing 
 Operating Budget of Department of Federal and 

State Programs, Office of Special Education 
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8. Contract Modification – Design Services for Systemic Renovations at Arbutus 
Middle School 

 
Estimated award value: $6,426.40 
 
Description: 

On July 13, 2004, the Board of Education approved a Fee Acceptance with Burdette, 
Koehler, Murphy, and Associates to provide consultant services for the systemic 
renovations planned for Arbutus Middle School. Part of this design requires the 
installation of a new fire main for a sprinkler system. To install this new service will 
require a design for the extension of the existing water main in Shelbourne Road.  The 
Department of Physical Facilities has negotiated a lump-sum fee of $6,426.40 with the 
consultant to provide this service. 

 
At this time, the Department of Physical Facilities recommends acceptance of the 
negotiated fee with Burdette, Koehler, Murphy, and Associates to provide the required 
design services associated with the systemic renovations at Arbutus Middle School. 
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract modification is recommended to:  
 

Burdette, Koehler, Murphy, and Associates  Baltimore, MD 
 
Responsible school or office: Department of Physical Facilities 
 
Contact person: Richard H. Cassell 
 Clarence H. Foard 
 
Funding source: Capital Budget – Project #106 – Arbutus Middle School 

Systemic Renovations 
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9. Contract Modification -- Soil Remediation at Windsor Mill Middle School  
 
Estimated award value: $72,972.50 
 
Description: 

On November 23, 2004, the Board of Education approved the bid of Urban N. Zink 
Contractor, Inc., for the 2-B (final grading) contract for the Windsor Mill Middle School 
project.  This approved bid was for $2,702,600. 
 
The Windsor Mill Middle School project is currently under construction.  The 2-B (final 
grading) contractor’s (Urban Zink) schedule calls for the immediate installation of the 
lay-down/staging area in the main parking area.  At this time soil conditions of the entire 
site are unsuitable because of the high moisture content caused by the above-normal rains 
throughout the fall.  In order to provide a stable lay-down area (which will be turned into 
the main parking lot) and to keep the project on schedule, additional remediation to the 
existing soil is required to bring the soil to a suitable condition prior to performing the 
contractual paving as per Urban Zink’s original contract.  Urban Zink has provided a 
price of $72,972.50 to undercut six inches of mud in a 7,500 sq yd area and provide soil 
cement at a 12-foot depth. 
 
Recommendation:

Award of contract modification is recommended to:  
 

Urban N. Zink Chase, Maryland 
 
Responsible school or office: Department of Physical Facilities 
 
Contact person: Richard H. Cassell, P.E. 
 J. Kurt Buckler, P.E. 
 
Funding source: Capital Budget – Project #091 – Windsor Mill Middle 

School 



13

10. Request – Easement at Chapel Hill Elementary School 
 
Estimated award value: N/A 
 
Description: 

The Baltimore County Department of Public Works has requested a utility easement of 
approximately 0.089 acre and two temporary easements of approximately 0.264 acre 
adjacent to Joppa Road along the front of the Chapel Hill Elementary School site for the 
purpose of eliminating one pumping station on this property.  The Department of 
Physical Facilities has reviewed this project and determined that any existing site 
facilities will not be permanently disturbed.  Attached to this exhibit is a plan prepared by 
the Baltimore County Bureau of Land Acquisition to record this easement. 
 
Recommendation:

Request the Board’s approval to enter into an agreement whereby Baltimore County 
Public Schools will grant to Baltimore County a utility easement right of 0.089 acres and 
two temporary easement rights of 0.264 acres of the property of Chapel Hill Elementary 
School.  
 
Responsible school or office: Department of Physical Facilities 

Contact person: Richard H. Cassell  
 
Funding source: N/A 
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11. Contract: Approval of MOU--Secure Our Schools’ Initiative Grant 
 Contract#: RGA-150-05  (Grant #2004CKWX0464)

Term: 1 year     Extension: 0 Contract Ending Date: 2/1/06 (tentative) 
Estimated annual award value: 150,000
Estimated total award value: 150,000 
 
Bid/Proposal issued: NA 
Pre-bid meeting date: NA  
Due Date: NA 
No. of vendors issued to:                               NA  
No. of Bids/Proposals received: NA 
No. of no-bids received: NA 
 
Description:       

The Baltimore County Public Schools’ Office of Safety and Security has been awarded a 
grant from Baltimore County Secure Our Schools’ Initiative Grant to install closed-
circuit television systems for Overlea High School and Catonsville High School.  The 
grant required BCPS to provide matching funds of $75,000. 
 
The project will consist of the installation of a complete turnkey closed-circuit television 
system (CCTV).  Each school will have ten color Interior Pan, Tilt and Zoom cameras 
and five color Exterior Pan Tilt and Zoom cameras.  Each school will also be provided 
with digital video recorders (DVR). 
 
Recommendation:

That a Memorandum of Understanding between Baltimore County Public Schools and 
Baltimore County Government be approved. 
 
Responsible office: Office of Safety and Security 
 
Contact Person: Charles R. Jenkins 
 
Funding source: Secure Our School Initiative Grant 
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Appendix II - Baltimore County Bureau of Land Acquisition Plan - Easement at Chapel 
Hill Elementary School 



Exhibit L

1

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 

DATE: December 21, 2004 
 
TO:   BOARD OF EDUCATION 
 
FROM:  Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 
 
SUBJECT:  FY 2005 CAPITAL BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION

ORIGINATOR: J. Robert Haines, Deputy Superintendent, Business Services 
 
RESOURCE  Barbara Burnopp, Executive Director, Fiscal Services 
PERSON(S):  Mike Goodhues, Director, Budget and Reporting 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Education approve the FY 2005 Capital Budget 
supplemental appropriation for Windsor Mill Middle School and 
Woodholme Elementary School.  These capital projects will be “forward 
funded” by the County in anticipation of State funds to be appropriated 
and available July 1, 2005 (FY 2006), and to cover increased construction 
costs for Windsor Mill.  
 

Attachment I – FY 2005 Capital Budget Supplemental Appropriation 
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Number: 03-05
Date: 12/5/04 Fund: Capital Projects

Present New Present New
Category Appropriation Supplement Appropriation Category Appropriation Supplement Appropriation

13.0091 Windsor Mill MS 13,900,000 18,185,355 32,085,355 County Funds 2,892,000 19,575,355 22,467,355
13.0111 Woodholme ES 8,507,000 1,390,000 9,897,000 

Total Supplement 19,575,355 Total Supplement 19,575,355

Explanation: Signatures Required:

Budget and Reporting Date

Fiscal Services Date

Superintendent Date

Board of Education Date

This is a request for a supplemental appropriation of $19,575,355 from 
Baltimore County.  These funds will be used for construction of Windsor Mill 
MS and to purchase furniture, fixtures and equipment for Woodholme ES.

INCREASE SOURCES OF REVENUE

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS
BUDGET SUPPLEMENT
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13.0091 - Windsor Mill MS

13.0111 - Woodholme ES

 

Local Sources - County Appropriation

This request is for a supplemental appropriation of $19,575,355 from the County government.  The source of funds at the 
County level are from the General Fund unappropriated surplus of$7,794,355, and a receivable from the Maryland School 
Construction program of $11,781,000.

BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Budget Supplement

Summary of Increases by Category

Summary of Revenue Sources

A supplement of $18,185,355 will provide funding for construction and related capital expenses associated with the opening of 
the school in August 2006.

A supplement of $1,390,000 will provide funding for the purchase of all furniture, fixtures and equipment required for the opening 
of the school in August 2005.
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BALTIMORE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 

DATE: December 21, 2004 
 
TO: BOARD OF EDUCATION  
 
FROM: Dr. Joe A. Hairston, Superintendent 

SUBJECT: LEASE FOR BRIDGE CENTER

ORIGINATOR: Rita Fromm, Chief of Staff 

RECOMMENDATION  
 

That the Board of Education approve the lease with Merritt-EC, LLC for 
property to house the Bridge Center.  

 

Background Information:  

Estimated Operating Funds Fiscal Impact: $      $18,600 per month             for FY ___05_____
Possible Funding Source:  Operating Budget__ 

Exhibit M
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THIS LEASE, made this _____ day of ______________, 2004 by and between 
MERRITT-EC, LLC, hereinafter called “Landlord,” and BOARD OF EDUCATION OF 
BALTIMORE COUNTY, hereinafter called “Tenant.” 
 

WITNESSETH, that in consideration of the rental hereinafter agreed upon and the 
performance of all the conditions and covenants hereinafter set forth on the part of the Tenant to be 
performed, the Landlord does hereby lease unto the said Tenant, and the latter does lease from the 
former the following premises (hereinafter sometimes called the “premises”):  
 

BEING those premises containing approximately 14,400 square feet and 
outlined in red on the Plat attached hereto as Exhibit A, said premises being located 
within the building known as 1740 Twin Springs Way, Suites A-D, Baltimore, 
Maryland 21227; 

 
for the term of five (5) years, beginning on the later to occur of (a) March 1, 2005 provided 
Landlord has substantially completed all work and installations to be made by Landlord to the 
premises as provided in the Exhibits hereto (“Landlord’s Work”) or (b) the date of substantial 
completion of Landlord’s Work, and the term shall end sixty (60) months following Lease 
commencement, at and for the following rentals:  
 

Term: Annual Rate: Monthly Rate: Per Sq. Ft.: 
Year 1 $223,200.00 $18,600.00 $15.50 
Year 2 $229,968.00 $19,164.00 $15.97 
Year 3 $236,736.00 $19,728.00 $16.44 
Year 4 $243,936.00 $20,328.00 $16.94 
Year 5 $251,280.00 $20,940.00 $17.45 

(a) As used herein, the “First Rental Year” shall mean the period from the 
commencement of the Lease term to the end of the twelfth (12th) full calendar month thereafter; 
subsequent Lease years shall commence on the first (1st) day of the next month of the Lease term 
and on each anniversary thereafter.  Tenant covenants and agrees to pay all rentals reserved 
hereunder to Landlord, without notice or demand, in advance, on the first (1st) day of each month 
during the term of this Lease, without setoff or deduction.  The rental for any fractional monthly 
periods at the beginning or at the end of each Lease year shall be prorated on a per diem basis and 
shall be payable on the date upon which the Lease term commences, and on the first (1st) day of 
the last partial month of the Lease term, respectively.  Tenant covenants and agrees that it will 
not prepay any rent more than one (1) month in advance without Landlord’s prior written 
consent. 
 

(b) All rentals shall be paid to MERRITT PROPERTIES, LLC at 2066 Lord Baltimore 
Drive, Baltimore, Maryland 21244, or at such other place or to such appointee of the Landlord as 
the Landlord may from time to time designate in writing. 
 

This Lease is made subject to the following additional terms, covenants and 
conditions: 
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1. Payment of Rental. 
Tenant covenants and agrees to pay the rental herein reserved and each installment thereof promptly 
when and as due, without setoff or deduction whatsoever.  Tenant further agrees that it will not 
prepay rent more than one (1) month in advance without Landlord’s prior written consent.  

 2. Use.   
 (a) Tenant covenants and agrees to use and occupy the premises solely for the 
following purposes: 
 

EDUCATIONAL FACILITY 
 
Tenant agrees to comply with all applicable zoning and other laws and regulations, and provide and 
install at its own expense any additional equipment or alterations required to comply with all such 
laws and regulations as required from time to time.  Tenant will not permit, allow or cause any 
public or private auction sales or sheriffs’ or constables’ sales to be conducted on or from the 
premises.  Tenant further covenants and agrees (i) to use the premises in a manner which does not 
interfere with the rights of quiet enjoyment of any other tenants of the building and which is not a 
nuisance, (ii) to maintain all mechanical equipment and sound producing or reproducing equipment 
within the premises in good working order free from vibration or noise which may interfere with 
the quiet enjoyment of other tenants of the building, and (iii) not to make any objectionable use of 
the premises to generate any objectionable odor therefrom. 
 

(b) Tenant has advised Landlord that it intends to hold classes within the 
premises and that it will in no event have more than 120 people occupy the premises.  Such classes 
will be conducted so that the number of people occupying the premises at any one time will not 
overburden the parking facilities adjacent to the building.  All parking is free, unreserved and non-
exclusive for the use of Tenant, its agents, employees and invitees and the other tenants of the 
building and their agents, employees and invitees.  Tenant’s use of the parking facilities shall not 
cause a violation of the parking ratio required by applicable Baltimore County law with respect to 
such facilities. 

 3. Utilities.   
 (a) Tenant agrees to pay as additional rent Tenant’s pro rata share of the water 
rent and sewer service charges chargeable to the total building in which the premises are located, 
based upon the size of the premises in proportion to the total square footage of the building, which 
sum shall be due within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s written demand.  If required by Landlord, 
Tenant agrees that it will, upon written notice from Landlord, install a water meter and sewer 
service meter (if possible) at Tenant’s expense and thereafter pay all water and sewer service 
charges for the premises based on such meter readings. 
 

(b) Tenant shall also pay all costs of electricity, gas, telephone and other utilities 
used or consumed on the premises, together with all taxes, levies or other charges on such utilities.  
If Tenant defaults in payment of any such utilities, charges or taxes, and such default continues 
beyond any applicable notice and cure period herein set forth, Landlord may, at its option, pay the 
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same for and on Tenant’s account, in which event Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord 
therefor. 
 

(c) In addition, Tenant shall pay, as additional rent, 34.29% (being the same 
percentage which the square foot floor area of the premises bears to the entire leasable area of the 
building) of Landlord’s costs of public service electric usage which is not separately metered for 
Tenant’s premise.  Tenant shall also pay 34.29% of the costs of public service electric usage for 
lighting the parking and other common areas, which sum shall be due within thirty (30) days after 
Landlord’s demand. 
 

(d) Landlord represents that utilities for HVAC, electricity and/or gas, water and 
water service which are necessary for the operation of the premises shall be available upon 
commencement of the Lease term and shall be in good working order.  Tenant shall perform its 
own janitorial service within the premises and shall, at Tenant’s sole cost, remove all trash from the 
premises and place it within the dumpster to be located at a location approved by Landlord outside 
the building.  The cost of the dumpster shall be paid by Tenant. 

 4. Compliance with Laws.   
 (a) Tenant covenants and agrees that it will, at its own expense, observe, 
comply with and execute all laws, orders, rules, requirements and regulations of any and all 
governmental departments, bodies, bureaus, agencies and officers, and all rules, directions, 
requirements and recommendations of the local board of fire underwriters and the fire insurance 
rating organizations having jurisdiction over the area in which the premises are situated, or other 
bodies or agencies now or hereafter exercising similar functions in the area in which the premises 
are situated (collectively “Laws”), in any way pertaining to the premises or the use and occupancy 
thereof.  In the event Tenant shall fail or neglect to comply with any of the Laws and such failure 
continues beyond any applicable notice and cure period herein set forth (provided that if such 
failure results in an emergency condition requiring immediate corrective action, no such notice or 
cure period shall be applicable), Landlord or its agents may enter the premises and take all such 
action and do all such work in or to the premises as may be necessary in order to cause compliance 
with such laws, orders, rules, requirements or recommendations, and Tenant covenants and agrees 
to reimburse Landlord promptly upon demand for the expense incurred by Landlord in taking such 
action and performing such work. 
 

(b) Without limiting the generality of paragraph (a) hereof, Tenant shall at all 
times keep the premises in compliance with the Americans With Disabilities Act and its supporting 
regulations, and all similar Laws.  If Landlord’s consent would be required for alterations to bring 
the Premises into compliance, Landlord agrees not to unreasonably withhold its consent.  

 5. Assignment and Subletting.    
 (a) Tenant covenants and agrees not to assign this Lease, in whole or in part, nor 
sublet the premises, or any part or portion thereof, nor grant any license or concession for all or any 
part thereof, without the prior written consent of the Landlord in each instance first had and 
obtained, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  If such 
assignment or subletting is permitted, Tenant shall not be relieved from any liability whatsoever 
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under this Lease.  In the event that the amount of the rent or other consideration to be paid to the 
Tenant by any assignee or sublessee is greater than the rent required to be paid by the Tenant to the 
Landlord pursuant to this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord any such excess as is received by 
Tenant from such assignee or sublessee.  Any consent by Landlord to an assignment or subletting of 
this Lease shall not constitute a waiver of the necessity of such consent as to any subsequent 
assignment or subletting.  An assignment for the benefit of Tenant’s creditors or otherwise by 
operation of law shall not be effective to transfer or assign Tenant’s interest under this Lease unless 
Landlord shall have first consented thereto in writing. 
 

(b) In the event this Lease contains a renewal option exercisable by Tenant, 
Landlord’s consent to an assignment or sublease of the premises or any portion thereof during the 
original Lease term shall be deemed to be conditioned upon the agreement of Tenant and such 
assignee or sublessee that such renewal right or option shall terminate and be of no further force or 
effect unless Landlord’s consent to such assignment or sublease expressly provided otherwise.  
Consequently, unless so provided otherwise, any assignment or sublease during the original Lease 
term shall automatically constitute a termination of the right of Tenant or such assignee or sublessee 
to exercise any renewal option contained herein. 
 

(c) In the event Tenant desires to assign this Lease or to sublease all or any 
substantial portion of the premises, Landlord shall have the right and option to terminate this Lease, 
which right or option shall be exercisable by written notice from Landlord to Tenant within thirty 
(30) days from the date Tenant gives Landlord written notice of its desire to assign or sublease.  
 

(d) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of this Section 5, the use of 
the premises by an agency, department, board or commission of Tenant or of Baltimore County, as 
defined by Section 10-5-102 of the Baltimore County Code, as amended from time to time, or by an 
agency, department, board or commission of the State of Maryland, shall not be considered an 
assignment or subletting and may be done at the sole discretion of Tenant.  Any such use of the 
premises as described in the preceding sentence shall not constitute grounds for Tenant’s loss of its 
renewal rights under paragraph 5(b) or Landlord’s right to terminate this Lease pursuant to 
paragraph 5(c). 

 6. Loading Capacity.   
Tenant covenants and agrees not to load the premises beyond its present carrying or loading 
capacity.  

 7. Increase in Landlord’s Insurance Rates.   
Tenant will not do, or suffer to be done, anything in or about the premises, or keep or suffer to be 
kept, anything in or about the premises which will contravene or affect any policy of insurance 
against loss by fire or other hazards, including, but not limited to, public liability, now existing or 
which the Landlord may hereafter place thereon, or which will prevent the Landlord from procuring 
such policies in companies acceptable to Landlord at standard rates.  Tenant agrees to pay for any 
increases in Landlord’s insurance premiums caused by the occupancy of Tenant, the nature of the 
business carried on by Tenant in the premises, or otherwise resulting from any act of Tenant, its 
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agents, servants, employees or customers, or anything done or suffered to be done by Tenant, its 
agents, servants, employees or customers.   

 8. Insurance - Indemnity.  
 (a) Tenant covenants and agrees that from and after the earlier of the 
commencement of this Lease or the date of delivery of the premises from Landlord to Tenant, 
Tenant will carry and maintain, at its sole cost and expense and in the amounts specified and in the 
form hereinafter provided, the following types of insurance: 
 

(i) Commercial General Liability. Commercial general liability 
insurance covering the premises and Tenant’s use thereof against claims for bodily injury or 
death and property damage occurring upon, in or about the premises, such insurance to 
afford protection to the limit of not less than one  million dollars ($1,000,000) arising out of 
any one occurrence.  The insurance coverage required under this Section 8(a)(i) shall, in 
addition, extend to any liability of Tenant arising out of Tenant’s indemnities hereinafter 
provided, as well as Independent Contractors’ Liability, Products/Completed Operations 
Liability, Personal Injury Liability and Contractual Liability.  If such insurance contains an 
annual aggregate limit, the annual aggregate limit may not be diminished by claims 
occurring at locations other than the premises.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant’s 
Commercial General Liability Insurance shall not be required to exceed the limit of liability 
established under the applicable sovereign immunity statute ($100,000.00 per occurrence as 
of the date of this Lease, provided that if such sovereign immunity statute is not applicable, 
Tenant shall be required to carry a combined single limit of $1,000,000.00 as set forth 
above.  Tenant may carry such insurance as part of group insurance provided Tenant 
furnishes Landlord a certificate as provided below showing that such insurance is in force. 

 
Boilers. If Tenant’s premises shall contain a boiler or other pressure vessel, 

Tenant shall carry Boiler and Machinery Insurance with a direct damage limit not less than 
the full value of the building in which Tenant’s premises are situated.  Such insurance shall 
be written on a “repair and replacement” (replacement cost) basis. 

 
Tenant Improvements and Property. Insurance covering all leasehold 

improvements, and other improvements installed by Tenant upon the premises, trade 
fixtures and personal  property from time to time in, on or upon the premises and any 
alterations, improvements, additions or changes made by Tenant thereto in an amount not 
less than ninety percent (90%) of their full replacement cost from time to time during the 
Lease term, providing protection against special causes of loss as defined within the 
property insurance form promulgated by the Insurance Services Office, Inc.  Such insurance 
shall be on an agreed value (no coinsurance) basis and shall have a deductible of not more 
than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).  Any policy proceeds from such insurance, so long 
as this Lease shall remain in effect, shall be held in trust by Tenant’s insurance company 
first for the repair, reconstruction, restoration or replacement of any covered property in 
which Landlord has an insurable interest, before they are used for any other purpose. 
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(ii) Plate Glass. Plate glass insurance covering all plate glass in the 
premises.  Tenant shall be and remain liable for the repair and restoration of all such plate 
glass. 

 
(iii) Worker’s Compensation. Worker’s compensation insurance 

covering Tenant’s employees for statutory benefits payable in the state in which the 
premises are located and including employer’s liability insurance with limits of not less than 
one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) per accident, one hundred thousand dollars 
($100,000.00) per employee for disease and five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000.00) as 
a policy limit for disease. 

 
(b) All policies of insurance to be provided by Tenant shall be issued in form 

acceptable to Landlord by insurance companies with general policyholder’s rating of not less than 
A:  XI as rated in the most current available “Best’s” Insurance Reports, and qualified to do 
business in the state in which the premises are located.  Tenant shall deliver certificates of all 
insurance required to be carried by Tenant to Landlord within ten (10) days after the earlier of the 
commencement of this Lease or delivery of possession of the premises to Tenant and thereafter at 
least fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of each such policy.  As often as any such policy shall 
expire or terminate, renewal or additional policies shall be procured and maintained by Tenant in 
like manner and to like extent.  All such policies of insurance shall contain a provision that the 
company writing said policy will give to Landlord at least thirty (30) days’ notice in writing in 
advance of any cancellations, or lapse, or the effective date of any reduction in the amounts of 
insurance.  In the event Tenant shall fail to promptly furnish any insurance herein required, 
Landlord may effect the same and Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord upon demand, as 
additional rent, the premium so paid by Landlord.  If, upon Tenant’s failure, rather than purchase 
separate insurance coverage, Landlord chooses to include Tenant’s coverage under Landlord’s 
insurance policies, then Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord upon demand, as additional rent, 
the greater of the increase in Landlord’s premium resulting therefrom or One Thousand Dollars 
($1,000.00).  All such public liability, property damage and other casualty policies shall be written 
as primary policies which do not contribute to and are not in excess of coverage which Landlord 
may carry.  All such public liability and property damage policies shall contain a provision that 
Landlord shall nevertheless be entitled to recover under said policies for any loss occasioned to it, 
its servants, agents and employees by reason of the negligence of Tenant or any other named 
insured.  Any insurance provided for may be affected by a policy or policies of blanket insurance, 
covering additional items or locations; provided, however, that (i) Landlord shall be named as an 
additional insured thereunder as its interests may appear; (ii) the coverage afforded Landlord will 
not be reduced or diminished by reason of the use of such blanket policy of insurance; (iii) any such 
policy or policies (except any covering the risks referred to in paragraph [i]), shall specify therein 
(or Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a written statement from the insurers under such policy 
specifying) the amount of the  total insurance allocated to the “Tenant Improvements and Property” 
 more specifically detailed in paragraph (iii), above; and (iv) the requirements set forth herein are 
otherwise satisfied.  Any insurance policies herein required to be procured by Tenant shall contain 
an express waiver of any right of subrogation by the insurance company against the Landlord, and 
all other tenants or occupants of space in the building. 
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(c) To the extent permitted by law, Tenant shall, and does hereby, indemnify 
and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all liabilities, fines, claims, damages and 
actions, costs and expenses of any kind or nature (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) (i) relating 
to or arising from the use and occupancy of the premises; (ii) due to or arising out of any 
mechanic’s lien filed against the building, or any part thereof, for labor performed or for materials 
furnished or claimed to be furnished to Tenant, or (iii) due to or arising out of any breach, violation 
or nonperformance of any covenant, condition or agreement in this Lease set forth and contained on 
the part of Tenant to be fulfilled, kept, observed or performed, unless such damage or injury shall 
be occasioned by the negligence or willful act or omission of the Landlord, in which event, 
Landlord shall indemnify and hold harmless Tenant to the extent of such negligence or willful act 
or omission.   
 

(d) To the extent permitted by law, Landlord shall and does hereby indemnify 
and hold harmless Tenant from and against any and all liabilities, fines, claims, damages and 
actions, costs and expenses of any kind or nature (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) (i)relating to 
or arising from the use and occupancy of the building by Landlord, (ii) due to or arising out of any 
mechanic’s lien filed against the building or any part thereof, for labor performed or for materials 
furnished or claimed to be furnished to Landlord, or (iii) due to or arising out of any breach, 
violation or non-performance of any covenant, condition or agreement in this Lease set forth on the 
part of Landlord to be fulfilled, kept, observed or performed, unless such damage or injury shall be 
occasioned by the negligence or willful act or omission of the Tenant, in which event, Tenant shall 
indemnify and hold harmless Landlord to the extent of such negligence or willful act or omission. 
 

(e) Landlord agrees that it will secure and maintain all risk property insurance or 
group self-insurance which insures against or covers direct physical loss of or damage to the 
building in which the premises is located, on a replacement valuation basis, with limits of not less 
than ninety percent (90%) of the insurable replacement cost of the building.  Landlord also agrees to 
secure and maintain, at its own expense, commercial general liability insurance or group self-
insurance which insures against or covers bodily injury, property damage and personal injury claims 
arising from Landlord’s ownership, maintenance or use of the building or operations incidental 
thereto, with a limit equal to or exceeding a combined single limit of $1,000,000.00 for bodily 
injury or property damage. 
 

(f) To the fullest extent permitted by law, the parties hereto hereby waive any 
right of recovery from each other for any loss or damage to the property of either (or resulting loss 
of income or extra expense) to the extent that such loss or damage is insured under or covered by 
insurance carried by the waiving party, or required to be carried by the waiving party, regardless of 
the cause of such loss or damage, including negligence on the part of either party, or its employees, 
agents, officials or volunteers.  To the fullest extent permitted by law the parties hereto also on 
behalf of their respective insurers waive any right of subrogation against each other. 

 9. Alterations.    
Tenant shall not make any alterations to the premises, or any part thereof, without prior written 
consent of Landlord in each instance first had and obtained, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  If Tenant shall desire to make such alterations, 
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plans for the same shall first be submitted to and approved by Landlord, and all work and 
installations shall be performed by Tenant at its own expense in accordance with approved plans.  
Tenant agrees that all such work shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner, that the 
structural  integrity of the building shall not be impaired, and that no liens shall attach to the 
premises by reason thereof.  Tenant agrees to obtain, at Tenant’s expense, all permits required for 
such alterations.  

 10. Ownership of Alterations.  
Unless Landlord shall elect in writing, at the time Landlord consents to any alteration pursuant to 
Section 9, that all or part of any such alteration made by Tenant shall remain on the premises after 
the termination of this Lease, the premises shall be restored to their original condition by Tenant 
before the expiration of this Lease at Tenant’s sole expense.  Upon such election by Landlord, any 
such alterations, improvements, betterments or mechanical equipment, including but not limited to, 
heating and air conditioning systems, shall become the property of Landlord as soon as they are 
affixed to the premises, and all right, title and interest thereof of Tenant shall immediately cease.  
Tenant shall promptly pay any franchise, minor privilege or other tax or assessment resulting 
directly or indirectly from any alterations or improvements made by Tenant to the premises.  Tenant 
shall repair promptly, at its own expense, any damage to the premises caused by bringing into the 
premises any property for Tenant’s use, or by the installation or removal of such property, 
regardless of fault or by whom such damage shall be caused.  Notwithstanding the foregoing 
provisions, so long as Tenant is not in default hereunder beyond any applicable cure and notice 
period, Tenant shall be entitled to remove any fixtures, equipment or furnishings furnished or 
supplied by Tenant at any time during the term hereof, and Tenant further agrees that unless any 
such default exists and has not been cured as aforesaid. 

 11. Repairs and Maintenance. 
 (a) Except as provided in the Exhibits hereto and elsewhere in this Lease, the 
premises are leased to Tenant “as is,” and except as herein expressly provided, Landlord shall be 
under no liability, nor have any obligation to do any work or make any repairs in or to the premises, 
and any work which may be necessary to outfit the premises for Tenant’s occupancy or for the 
operation of Tenant’s business therein is the sole responsibility of Tenant and shall be performed by 
Tenant at its own cost and expense.  Tenant and Landlord agree that the premises will be delivered 
in accordance with the attached Exhibits, and Landlord warrants and represents that at the 
commencement of the Lease term all HVAC, wiring, electrical, plumbing and other facilities 
serving the premises shall be built-out in good working order and good condition.  Tenant shall 
have an opportunity to inspect the premises and all such facilities prior to the commencement of the 
Lease term.  Except as otherwise provided in this Lease Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has 
made no warranties or representations with respect to the condition or state of repairs of the 
premises. 
 

(b) Tenant will, during the term of this Lease, keep the premises and 
appurtenances (including windows, doors, plumbing, heating and electrical facilities and 
installations) in good order and repair and will make all necessary repairs thereof at its own 
expense, except that Landlord will make all necessary repairs (except painting) to the exterior 
masonry walls and roof of the building. Landlord will be responsible for all structural repairs to the 
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building and/or replacements including HVAC units servicing the premises provided Tenant has a 
maintenance agreement with Landlord. Landlord will be responsible for the repairs to the common 
areas, provided Tenant gives Landlord written notice of the need for such repairs, and Landlord 
shall have a reasonable time in which to complete such repairs.  Tenant agrees to carry, throughout 
the term of this Lease and any renewal or extensions hereof, a maintenance and/or service 
agreement or policy on the HVAC system in the demised premises, or at Tenant’s option, Tenant 
may secure such maintenance and/or service agreement or policy from Landlord, in which event 
Tenant will pay Landlord’s standard charges within thirty (30) days after receipt of Landlord’s 
invoice for the same.  Tenant shall provide Landlord with a copy of such policy or a certificate 
evidencing such coverage, prior to the commencement of the Lease term.  In the event that the 
repairs required to be made by Landlord are necessitated as a result of negligence or misuse by 
Tenant, its agents, servants, employees, licensees or guests, or by any contractor engaged by or on 
behalf of Tenant, such repairs shall be made by and be paid for by Tenant.  Tenant also agrees to 
pay as additional rent 34.29% of Landlord’s cost of snow and ice removal from the parking and 
other common areas adjacent to the building.  Tenant will, at the expiration of the term or at the 
sooner termination thereof by forfeiture or otherwise, deliver up the premises in the same good 
order and condition as they were at the beginning of tenancy, reasonable wear and tear excepted.  
Tenant further agrees that it will maintain the premises at its own expense in a clean, orderly and 
sanitary condition, free of insects, rodents, vermin, and other pests; and that it will not permit undue 
accumulation of garbage, trash, rubbish or other refuse, but will remove the same at its own 
expense and will keep such refuse in proper containers within the interior of the premises until 
called for to be removed.  Tenant further agrees that it will not install any additional electrical 
wiring or plumbing unless it has first obtained Landlord’s written consent thereto, and, if such 
consent is given, Tenant will install the same at its own cost and expense, and Tenant shall obtain, 
at Tenant’s expense, all permits required for such installation. 
 

(c) In the event Tenant shall not proceed promptly and diligently to make any 
repairs or perform any obligation imposed upon it by subparagraphs (a) and (b) hereof beyond any 
applicable period of notice and cure after receiving written notice from Landlord to make such 
repairs or perform such obligation, then and in such event, Landlord may, at its option, enter the 
premises and do and perform the things specified in said notice, without liability on the part of 
Landlord for any loss or damage resulting from any such action by Landlord, and Tenant agrees to 
pay promptly upon demand any cost or expense incurred by Landlord in taking such action.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tenant’s failure to make any such repairs or perform any such 
obligation results in an emergency condition endangering health or safety, Landlord may enter the 
premises and perform Tenant’s obligations as set forth in the preceding sentence without prior 
notice to Tenant. 

 12. Tax and Insurance Escalation.   
 (a) The premises hereby leased comprise approximately thirty-four and twenty-
nine hundredths percent (34.29%) of the total land and/or building(s) within which the premises are 
located.  
 (b) Tenant covenants and agrees to pay Landlord, as additional rent, thirty-four 
and twenty-nine hundredths percent (34.29%) of any increase in real estate taxes assessed against 
the land and/or building(s) in excess of the taxes for the 2004/2005 fiscal year whether as a result of 
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an increase in the assessment or tax rate, or the levy, assessment or imposition of any tax on real 
estate as such not now levied, assessed or imposed, which payment shall be due and payable within 
fifteen (15) days after Landlord’s written demand.  The foregoing shall apply to increases in real 
estate taxes assessed against the land or building(s) generally, and not resulting from improvements 
placed thereon by Tenant.  In the event of any increases in real estate taxes resulting from 
improvements, alterations or additions made by Tenant, Tenant shall pay the entire amount of said 
increase.  If this Lease shall be in effect for less than a full fiscal year, Tenant shall pay a pro rata 
share of taxes, based upon the number of months that this Lease is in effect.  “Taxes” as used herein 
shall include, but not by way of limitation, all paving taxes, special paving taxes, Metropolitan 
District charges, and any and all other benefits or assessments which may be levied on the premises 
or the land or building(s) in which the same are situate (including any Owner’s or Community 
Association to which to land is subject), but shall not include any income tax on the income or rent 
payable hereunder.  “Taxes” shall also include all reasonable expenses incurred by Landlord 
(including attorneys’ fees and costs) in contesting any increase in, or applying for any reduction of, 
a tax assessment.  
 (c) Tenant also covenants and agrees to pay Landlord, as additional rent, thirty-
four and twenty-nine hundredths percent (34.29%) of any increase in insurance premiums (as 
hereinafter defined) in excess of the annualized premiums for the most recent policy period prior to 
the commencement of this lease, which payment shall be due and payable within thirty (30) days 
after Landlord’s written demand.  As used herein, “insurance premiums” means the total premium 
cost of all insurance carried by Landlord with respect to the total land and building(s) within which 
the premises are located, including, but not limited to, all Real Property and Rental Value perils 
insured against under an “All Risk” insuring agreement, primary General Liability insurance and 
Umbrella and/or Excess Liability insurance. 

 13. Default.  
 (a) Any of the following events shall constitute a default by Tenant: 
 

(i) If the rent (basic or additional) shall be in arrears, in whole or in part 
for ten (10) days after written notice from Landlord; or 

 
(ii) If Tenant shall have failed to perform any other term, condition, or 

covenant of this Lease on its part to be performed for a period of thirty (30) days after notice 
of such failure from Landlord, provided that if such failure is not capable of being cured 
within thirty (30) days, Tenant shall have additional time as required to effect such cure if 
within such thirty (30) day period Tenant commences a cure and thereafter diligently 
prosecutes the same to completion; or 

 
(iii) If the premises are vacant, unoccupied or deserted for a period of 

sixty (60) days or more at any time during the term; or 
 

(iv) If Tenant is adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, or if any such court enters an order, judgment or decree finally 
approving any petition against Tenant seeking reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or 
similar relief or if a receiver, trustee, liquidator or conservator is appointed for all or 
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substantially all of Tenant’s assets and such appointment is not vacated within ten (10) days 
after the appointment, or if Tenant seeks or consents to any of the relief hereinabove 
enumerated in this subparagraph (iv) or files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or 
insolvency or makes an assignment of all or substantially all of its assets for the benefit of 
creditors or admits in writing of its inability to pay its debts generally as they come due or 
files Articles of Dissolution, or similar writing indicating its intention to wind up or 
liquidate its business, with the appropriate authority of the place of its incorporation; or 

 
(v) If Tenant’s leasehold interest under this Lease is sold under 

execution, attachment or decree of court to satisfy any debt of Tenant, or if any lien 
(including a mechanic’s lien) is filed against Tenant’s leasehold interest and is not 
discharged within ten (10) days thereafter. 

 
(b) Upon the happening of an Event of Default as defined in paragraph (a) 

hereof, Landlord, in addition to any and all legal and equitable remedies it may have, shall have the 
following remedies: 
 

(i) To distrain for any rent or additional rent in default; and 
 

(ii) At any time after default, without further notice except as provided 
in Section 13(a) above, to declare this Lease terminated and enter the premises with legal 
process; and in such event Landlord shall have the benefit of all provisions of law now or 
hereafter in force respecting the speedy recovery of possession from Tenant’s holding over 
or proceedings in forcible entry and detainer, and Tenant waives any and all provisions for 
notice under such laws. 

 
Notwithstanding such reentry and/or termination, Tenant shall immediately be liable 

to Landlord for the sum of the following: (a) all rent and additional rent then in arrears, without 
apportionment to the termination date; (b) all other liabilities of Tenant and damages sustained by 
Landlord as a result of such Event of Default, including, but not limited to, the reasonable costs of 
reletting the premises and any broker’s commissions payable as a result thereof; (c) all of 
Landlord’s costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees) in connection with such default 
and recovery of possession; (d) the difference between the rent reserved under this Lease for the 
balance of the term and the fair rental value of the premises for the balance of the term to be 
determined as of the date of reentry; or at Landlord’s option in lieu thereof, Tenant shall pay the 
amount of the rent and additional rent reserved under this Lease at the times herein stipulated for 
payment of rent and additional rent for the balance of the term, less any amount received by 
Landlord during such period from others to whom the premises may be rented on such terms and 
conditions and at such rentals as Landlord, in its sole  discretion, shall deem proper; and (e) any 
other damages recoverable by law.  If Tenant commits an Event of Default, Tenant shall pay to 
Landlord all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Landlord as a result thereof, including a 
reasonable attorney’s fee. 
 

(c) In the event Tenant fails to pay Landlord any rental payment or other charge 
due hereunder within ten (10) days after the date due, Tenant shall pay a late charge equal to ten 
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percent (10%) of the rental payment or other such charge, which late charge shall be collectible as 
additional rent and shall be payable by Tenant to Landlord within thirty (30) days after written 
notice from Landlord to Tenant assessing the same.  In addition, any such rental payment or other 
charge which is delinquent for five (5) days or more, shall bear interest from the date on which 
same was due at the prime rate of interest then being charged by M & T Bank (the “Default Rate”). 
 

(d) Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its 
damages in the event Landlord re-enters the premises because of Tenant’s default. 

 14. Damage or Destruction.  
 (a) If, during the Lease term, the premises hereby leased are damaged by fire or 
other casualty, but not to the extent that Tenant is prevented from carrying on business in the 
premises, Landlord shall promptly cause such damage to be repaired; if such damage renders a 
substantial portion of the premises untenantable, the rent reserved hereunder (except Tenant’s share 
of any charges for water) shall be reduced during the period of its untenantability proportionately to 
the amount by which the area so rendered untenantable bears to the entire area leased hereunder, 
and such reduction shall be apportioned from the date of the casualty to the date when the leased 
premises are rendered fully tenantable.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event such fire or 
other casualty damages or destroys any of Tenant’s leasehold improvements, alterations, 
betterments, fixtures or equipment, Tenant shall cause the same to be repaired or restored at 
Tenant’s sole cost and expense and Landlord shall have no liability for the restoration or repair 
thereof. 
 

(b) If, during the Lease term, the premises or a substantial portion of the 
building in which the premises is situated are rendered wholly untenantable as the result of fire, the 
elements, unavoidable accident or other casualty, Landlord shall have the option either to restore 
the premises to their condition immediately prior to the casualty or to terminate this Lease, such 
option shall be exercised by Landlord by written notice to Tenant within thirty (30) days after the 
fire, accident or casualty.  In the event of such termination, the rent reserved hereunder shall be 
adjusted as of the date of the fire, accident or casualty.  If Landlord elects to restore the premises, 
such restoration shall be completed as promptly as reasonably possible and the rent reserved 
hereunder shall abate until the premises are again rendered tenantable.  
 

(c) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of this Section 14, if 
Landlord elects to repair or restore the premises, but Landlord fails to substantially restore the same 
within one hundred eighty (180) days following the date of such fire or other casualty, Tenant shall 
have the right to terminate this Lease by written notice of termination to Landlord given after the 
expiration of such one hundred eighty (180) day period so long as such notice is given prior to 
Landlord’s substantial restoration of the premises.  Further, if the premises is rendered wholly 
untenantable during the last year of the Lease term or during any renewal term, Tenant shall have 
the right to terminate this Lease by written notice to Landlord given within thirty (30) days 
following the date of such fire or other casualty. 
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 15. Possession.   
In case possession of the premises, in whole or in part, cannot be given to Tenant on or before the 
commencement of the term of this Lease, Landlord agrees to abate the rent proportionately until 
possession is given to Tenant, and Tenant agrees to accept such pro rata abatement as liquidated 
damages for the failure to obtain possession on the commencement date herein specified.  The 
parties hereto covenant and agree that if the term of this Lease commences on a date other than the 
date herein specified, they will, upon the request of either of them, execute an agreement in 
recordable form setting forth the new commencement and termination dates of the Lease term.  
Under no circumstances shall Landlord be under any liability for failure to deliver possession of the 
premises to Tenant on the date herein specified. 

 16. Exterior of Premises - Signs.
(a) Tenant covenants and agrees that it will not place or permit any sign, 

billboard, marquee, lights, awning, poles, placard, advertising matter, or other thing of any kind 
(collectively “Sign”), in or about the exterior of the premises or the building in which the premises 
are situate, nor paint or make any change in, to or on the exterior of said premises to change the 
uniform architecture, paint or appearance of the building, without in each such instance obtaining 
the prior written consent of Landlord.  In the event such consent is given, Tenant agrees to pay any 
minor privilege or other tax arising as a result of any such installation immediately when due.  
Tenant shall obtain, at Tenant’s expense, all permits required for such installation.  Tenant further 
agrees to maintain any Sign as may be approved by Landlord in good condition and repair at all 
times. 
 

(b) Tenant further covenants and agrees not to pile or place anything on the 
sidewalk, parking lot or other exterior portion of the premises or building or in the front, rear or 
sides of the building, nor block the sidewalk, parking lot or other exterior portion of the premises or 
building, nor do anything that directly or indirectly will interfere with any of the rights of ingress or 
egress or of light from any other tenant, nor do anything which will, in any way, change the uniform 
and general design of any property of Landlord in which the premises are situate.  In the event this 
Lease covers all or substantially all of an entire building, Tenant agrees to keep all sidewalks, steps 
and porches free and clear of ice, snow and debris.  

 17. [Intentionally omitted].  

 18. For Rent/Sale Signs.   
Upon thirty (30) days prior notice to Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to place a “For Rent” 
sign on any portion of said premises for six (6) months prior to termination of this Lease and to 
place a “For Sale” sign thereon at any time.  During such six-month period, Landlord may show the 
premises and all parts thereof to prospective tenants between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
on any day except Sunday or any legal holiday on which Tenant shall not be open for business.  

 19. Water and Other Damage.   
Landlord shall not be liable for, and Landlord is hereby released and relieved from, all claims and 
demands of any kind by reason of or resulting from damage or injury to person or property of 
Tenant or any other party, directly or indirectly caused by (a) dampness, water, rain or snow, in any 
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part of the premises or in any part of any other property of Landlord or of others, and/or (b) falling 
plaster, steam, gas, electricity, or any leak or break in any part of the premises or from any pipes, 
appliances or plumbing or from sewers or the street or subsurface or from any other place or any 
part of any other property of Landlord or of others or in the pipes of the plumbing or heating 
facilities thereof, unless caused by the negligence of Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors. 

 20. Right of Entry.   
Landlord and its agents, servants, employees, including any builder or contractor employed by 
Landlord, shall have the absolute and unconditional right, license and permission, at any and all 
reasonable times, to enter and inspect the premises or any part thereof, and at the option of 
Landlord, to make such reasonable repairs and/or changes in the premises as Landlord may deem 
necessary or proper and/or to enforce and carry out any provision of this Lease. Landlord shall give 
Tenant 24 hours notice to enter the premises except in the case of an emergency and Landlord will 
use reasonable efforts not to interrupt Tenant’s business. 

 21. Termination of Term.   
 (a) It is agreed that the term of this Lease shall expire and terminate at the end 
of the original term hereof (or at the expiration of the last renewal term, if this Lease contains a 
renewal option and the same is properly exercised), without the necessity of any notice by or to any 
of the parties hereto, unless otherwise provided herein.  If Tenant shall occupy the premises after 
such expiration or termination, it is understood that Tenant shall hold the premises as a tenant from 
month-to-month, subject to all the other terms and conditions of this Lease, at an amount equal to 
125% of the highest monthly rental installment reserved in this Lease.  Landlord shall, upon such 
expiration or termination of this Lease, be entitled to the benefit of all public general or local laws 
relating to the speedy recovery of possession of lands and tenements held over by Tenants that may 
be now in force or may hereafter be enacted.  
 (b) At the time Tenant surrenders the premises to Landlord, the premises shall 
be in compliance with all applicable building code requirements insofar as such requirements relate 
to Tenant’s use and occupancy of the premises or to any installations, alterations or improvements 
made by Tenant thereto.  

 22. Condemnation.  
 (a) If, during the term of this Lease, all or a substantial part of the premises shall 
be taken by or under power of eminent domain, this Lease shall terminate as of, and the rent (basic 
and additional) shall be apportioned to and abate from and after, the date of taking.  Except as set 
forth in paragraph (d) below,  Tenant shall have no right to participate in any award or damages for 
such taking and hereby assigns all of its right, title and interest therein to Landlord.  For the 
purposes of this paragraph, “a substantial part of the premises” shall mean such part that the 
remainder thereof is rendered inadequate for Tenant’s business and that such remainder cannot 
practicably be repaired and improved so as to be rendered adequate to permit Tenant to carry on its 
business with substantially the same efficiency as before the taking. 
 

(b) If, during the Lease term, less than a substantial part of the premises (as 
hereinabove defined) is taken by or under power of eminent domain, this Lease shall remain in full 
force and effect according to its terms; and except as set forth in paragraph (d) below, Tenant shall 
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not have the right to participate in any award or damages for such taking and Tenant hereby assigns 
all of its right, title and interest in and to the award to Landlord.  In such event Landlord shall, at its 
expense, promptly make such repairs and improvements as shall be necessary to make the 
remainder of the premises adequate to permit Tenant to carry on its business to substantially the 
same extent and with substantially the same efficiency as before the taking; provided that in no 
event shall Landlord be required to expend an amount in excess of the award received by Landlord 
for such taking.  If, as a result of such taking, any part of the premises is rendered permanently 
unusable, the basic annual rent reserved hereunder shall be reduced in such amount as may be fair 
and reasonable, which amount shall not exceed the proportion which the area so taken or made 
unusable bears to the total area which was usable by Tenant prior to the taking.  If the taking does 
not render any part of the premises unusable, there shall be no abatement of rent. 
 

(c) For purposes of this section, “taking” shall include a negotiated sale or lease 
and transfer of possession to a condemning authority under bona fide threat of condemnation for 
public use, and Landlord alone shall have the right to negotiate with the condemning authority and 
conduct and settle all litigation connected with the condemnation.  As hereinabove used, the words 
“award or damages” shall, in the event of such sale or settlement, include the purchase or settlement 
price. 
 

(d) Nothing herein shall be deemed to prevent Tenant from claiming and 
receiving from the condemning authority, if legally payable, compensation for the taking of 
Tenant’s own tangible property and such amount as may be payable by statute or ordinance toward 
Tenant’s removal and relocation expenses.  

 23. Subordination.   
Tenant covenants and agrees that all of Tenant’s rights hereunder are and shall be subject and 
subordinate to the lien of any mortgage hereafter placed on the premises or any part thereof, except 
the Tenant’s personal property or trade fixtures, and to any and all renewals, modifications, 
consolidations, replacements, extensions or substitutions of any  first mortgage.  Such 
subordination shall be automatic, without the execution of any further subordination agreement by 
Tenant.  If, however, a written subordination agreement, consistent with this provision, is required 
by a mortgagee, Tenant agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver the same within thirty (30) days 
after Landlord’s written request. 

 24. Landlord’s Right to Perform Tenant’s Covenants.   
If Tenant shall fail to perform any covenant or duty required of it by this Lease or by law, Landlord 
shall have the right (but not the obligation) to perform the same, and if necessary to enter the 
premises for such purposes without notice.  The reasonable cost thereof to Landlord shall be 
deemed to be additional rent hereunder payable by Tenant, and Landlord shall have the same rights 
and remedies with respect to such additional rent as Landlord has with respect to the rental reserved 
hereunder. 

 25. Attornment.  
 (a) If Landlord assigns this Lease or the rents hereunder to a creditor as security 
for a debt, Tenant shall, after written notice to Tenant of such assignment and upon demand by 
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Landlord or the assignee, Tenant shall pay all sums thereafter becoming due Tenant hereunder to 
such assignee.  Tenant shall also, upon receipt of such notice, have all policies of insurance required 
hereunder endorsed so as to protect the assignee’s interest as it may appear and shall deliver such 
policies, or certificates thereof, to the assignee. 
 

(b) If, at any time during the term of this Lease, the Landlord of the leased 
premises shall be the holder of a leasehold estate covering premises which include the leased 
premises, and if such leasehold shall terminate or be terminated for any reason, or if, at any time 
during the term of Lease a mortgage to which this Lease is subordinate shall be foreclosed, Tenant 
agrees at the election and upon demand of any owner of the premises which include the leased 
premises, or of any mortgagee in possession thereof, or of any holder of a leasehold thereafter 
affecting premises which include the leased premises, or of any purchaser at foreclosure, to attorn, 
from time to time, to any such owner, mortgagee, holder or purchaser upon the terms and 
conditions set forth herein for the remainder of the term demised in this Lease. Provided however, 
that Tenant shall not be obligated to attorn unless, if Tenant shall so request in writing, such holder, 
owner, mortgagee or purchaser shall execute and deliver to Tenant an instrument wherein said 
holder, owner, mortgagee or purchaser agrees that so long as Tenant performs all the terms, 
covenants and conditions of this Lease, on Tenant’s part to be performed, Tenant’s possession 
under the provisions of this Lease shall not be disturbed by such holder, owner, mortgagee or 
purchaser. 
 

(c) The foregoing provisions shall inure to the benefit of any such owner, 
mortgagee, holder or purchaser and shall apply notwithstanding that this Lease may terminate upon 
the termination of any such leasehold estate or upon such foreclosure, and shall be self-operative 
upon any such demand, without requiring any further instrument to give effect to such provisions.  
Tenant, however upon demand of any such owner, mortgagee, holder or purchaser, agrees to 
execute, from time to time a reasonable instrument in confirmation of the foregoing provisions, 
reasonably satisfactory to any such owner, mortgagee, holder or purchaser, in which Tenant shall 
acknowledge such attornment and set forth herein and shall apply for the remainder of the term 
originally demised in this Lease.   

 26. Non-Waiver of Future Enforcement.   
The receipt of rent by Landlord, with knowledge of any breach of this Lease by Tenant or of any 
default on the part of Tenant in the observance or performance of any of the conditions or 
covenants of this Lease, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any provisions of this Lease.  No 
failure on the part of Landlord or of the Tenant to enforce any covenant or provision herein 
contained nor any waiver of any right hereunder by Landlord or Tenant, shall discharge or 
invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of Landlord or Tenant to enforce the same 
in the event of any subsequent default.  The receipt by Landlord of any rent or any sum of money or 
any other consideration hereunder paid by Tenant after the termination, in any manner, of the term 
herein demised, or after the giving by Landlord of any notice hereunder to effect such termination, 
shall not reinstate, continue or extend the term herein demised, or destroy, or in any manner impair 
the efficacy of any such notice of termination as may have been given hereunder by Landlord to 
Tenant prior to the receipt of any such sum of money or other consideration, unless so agreed to in 
writing and signed by Landlord.  Neither acceptance of the keys nor any other act or thing done by 
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Landlord or any agent or employee during the term herein demised shall be deemed to be an 
acceptance of a surrender of said premises, excepting only an agreement in writing signed by 
Landlord accepting or agreeing to accept such surrender.  

 27. Personal Property Taxes.   
Tenant shall be responsible for and shall pay any taxes or assessments levied or assessed during the 
term of this Lease against any leasehold interest of Tenant or personal property or trade fixtures of 
Tenant of any kind, owned by Tenant or placed in, upon or about the premises by Tenant.  

 28. Recordation of Lease.   
Tenant agrees that it will, upon Landlord’s request, execute a Memorandum of the Lease in a form 
suitable for recording under applicable Maryland law.  The party recording such Memorandum of 
Lease shall pay all costs of recordation, including transfer taxes and documentary stamp taxes 
thereon.  

 29. Notices.  
Any notice required by this Lease shall be sent by certified mail or by a recognized overnight 
delivery service such as Federal Express with a receipt by addressee to Landlord at: 2066 Lord 
Baltimore Drive, Baltimore, Maryland  21244.  Any notice required by this Lease shall be sent by 
certified mail to Tenant at: 
 

Attn: Don J. Dent, Executive Director 
Planning and Support Operations 
1040 G Greenspring Drive 
Timonium, Maryland 21093 
 
and 
 
Nevett Steele, Jr., 
Assistant County Attorney for the Board of Education of Baltimore County 
6901 Charles Street 
Towson, Maryland 21204 

 

Either party may, at any time, or from time to time, designate in writing a substitute address for that 
above set forth, and thereafter all notices to such party shall be sent by certified mail to such 
substitute address. 

 30. Waiver of Jury Trial. 
 THE LANDLORD AND THE TENANT WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY 
IN ANY ACTION, COUNTERCLAIM, OR PROCEEDING BASED UPON, OR RELATED TO, 
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS LEASE.  THIS WAIVER APPLIES TO ALL CLAIMS 
AGAINST ALL PARTIES TO SUCH ACTIONS AND PROCEEDINGS, INCLUDING PARTIES 
WHO ARE NOT PARTIES TO THIS LEASE.  THIS WAIVER IS KNOWINGLY, 
INTENTIONALLY, AND VOLUNTARILY MADE BY THE TENANT AND THE TENANT 



19

ACKNOWLEDGES THAT NEITHER THE LANDLORD, NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON 
BEHALF OF THE LANDLORD, HAS MADE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT TO 
INDUCE THIS WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OR IN ANY WAY TO MODIFY OR NULLIFY 
ITS EFFECT.  THE TENANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN 
REPRESENTED (OR HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE REPRESENTED) IN THE 
SIGNING OF THIS LEASE AND IN THE MAKING OF THIS WAIVER BY INDEPENDENT 
LEGAL COUNSEL, SELECTED OF ITS OWN FREE WILL, IN THAT IT HAS HAD THE 
OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS THIS WAIVER WITH COUNSEL.   

 31. Severability.  
 (a) It is agreed that, for the purpose of any suit brought or based on this Lease, 
this Lease shall be construed to be a divisible contract, to the end that successive actions may be 
maintained thereon as successive periodic sums shall mature or be due hereunder, and it is further 
agreed that failure to include in any suit or action any sum or sums then matured or due shall not be 
a bar to the maintenance of any suit or action for the recovery of said sum or sums so omitted. 
 

(b) If any terms, clause or provision of this Lease is declared invalid by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, the validity of the remainder of this Lease shall not be affected thereby 
but shall remain in full force and effect.   

 32. Successors and Assigns.   
 (a) Except as herein provided, this Lease and the covenants and conditions 
herein contained shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon Tenant, its successors and 
assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of Tenant and only such assignees of Tenant to whom an 
assignment by Tenant has been consented to in writing by Landlord.  In the event more than one 
person, firm or corporation is named herein as Tenant, the liability of all parties named herein as 
Tenant shall be joint and several. 
 

(b) In the event Landlord’s interest under this Lease is transferred or assigned 
and written notice thereof is given to Tenant, the Landlord herein named (or any subsequent 
assignee or transferee of Landlord’s interest under this Lease who gives such notice to Tenant) shall 
automatically be relieved and released from and after the date of such transfer or conveyance from 
all liability hereunder accruing after such transfer or assignment. Further, Tenant specifically agrees 
to look solely to Landlord’s interest in the building for the recovery of any judgment from Landlord, 
it being agreed that Landlord shall never be personally liable for any such judgment.  The provision 
contained in the foregoing sentence is not intended to, and shall not, limit any right that Tenant 
might otherwise have to obtain injunctive relief against Landlord or Landlord’s successors in 
interest or any other action not involving the personal liability of Landlord to respond in monetary 
damages from assets other than Landlord’s interest in the building or any suit or action in 
connection with enforcement or collection of amounts which may become owing or payable under 
or on account of insurance maintained by Landlord. 
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 33. [Intentionally Omitted]. 

 34. Notices to Mortgagee.   
Tenant agrees that a copy of any notice of default from Tenant to Landlord shall also be sent to the 
holder of any mortgage or deed of trust on the premises; provided Tenant has been given written 
notice of the fact that such mortgage or deed of trust has been made and the name and address of 
the mortgagee or holder of the deed of trust; and Tenant shall allow said mortgagee or holder a 
reasonable time, not to exceed sixty (60) days from the receipt of said notice, to cure, or cause to be 
cured, any such default.  If such default cannot reasonably be cured within the time specified herein, 
then such additional time as may be necessary shall be allowed, provided the curing of such default 
is commenced and diligently pursued (including, but not limited to, commencement of foreclosure 
proceedings if necessary to effect such cure) in which event this Lease shall not be terminated while 
such remedies are being thus diligently pursued.  

 35. Estoppel Certificate.   
Tenant shall, at any time and from time to time during the term of this Lease or any renewal thereof, 
upon request of Landlord, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Landlord or its designee, a 
statement in writing, certifying that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect if such is 
the fact (or if there have been any modifications thereof, that the same is in full force as modified 
and stating the modifications), the dates to which the rents and other charges have been paid in 
advance, if any, and any defaults or claimed defaults by Landlord.  Any such statement delivered 
pursuant to this paragraph may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser of the estate of 
Landlord or by the mortgagee or any assignee of any mortgagee or the trustee or beneficiary of any 
deed of trust constituting a lien on the premises or upon property in which the premises are situate. 

 36. Environmental Provisions.  
 (a) Tenant and its successors and assigns shall use and operate the building, the 
property and the leased premises, respectively, at all times during the term hereof, under and in 
compliance with all federal and State of Maryland laws and regulations, and in compliance with all 
applicable Environmental Legal Requirements.  “Environmental Legal Requirements” shall mean 
any applicable law relating to public health, safety or the environment, including, without 
limitation, relating to releases, discharges or omissions to air, water, land or groundwater, to the 
withdrawal or use of groundwater, to the use and handling of polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCB’s”) 
or asbestos, or asbestos containing products, to the disposal, treatment, storage or management of 
solid or other hazardous or harmful wastes or to exposure to toxic, hazardous or other harmful 
materials (collectively “Hazardous Substances”) to the handling, transportation, discharge or release 
of gaseous or liquid substance and any regulation or final order or directive  issues pursuant to such 
statute or ordinance, in each case applicable to the premises, the building or its operation, 
construction or modification, including without limitation the following:  the Clean Air Act, the 
Federal Water Pollution Control Act (“FWPCA”), the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Toxic 
Substances Control Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability 
Act, as amended by the Solid and Hazardous Waste Amendments of 1984 (“RCRA”), the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act 
of 1986, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, and any state statutes addressing similar matters, and any 
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state statute providing for financial responsibility for clean-up or other actions with respect to the 
release or threatened release of any of the above-referenced substances. 
 

(b) Tenant hereby indemnifies and saves Landlord harmless from all liabilities 
and claims arising from the use, storage or placement of any Hazardous Substances upon the 
premises or elsewhere within the Building or property of Landlord (if brought or placed thereon by 
Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees); and Tenant shall (i) within thirty (30) days 
after written notice thereof, take or cause to be taken, at its sole expense, such actions as may be 
necessary to comply with all Environmental Legal Requirements and (ii) within thirty (30) days 
after written demand therefor, reimburse Landlord for any amounts expended by Landlord to 
comply with any Environmental Requirements with respect to the premises or with respect to any 
other portions of Landlord’s Building or property as the result of the placement or storage of 
Hazardous Substances by Tenant, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees, or in connection 
with any judicial or administrative investigation or proceeding relating thereto, including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, fines or other penalty payments. 
 

(c) For purposes of this provision, Tenant shall be deemed to have violated the 
Environmental Legal Requirements if (i) any notice or order is directed to either Landlord or Tenant 
by any governmental agency, body, or court alleging that such violation has occurred; or (ii) if 
Landlord obtains and delivers to Tenant a report prepared by an engineer or other party engaged in 
the business of testing or determining the existence of Hazardous Substances, which report states 
that there are Hazardous Substances used, stored or placed upon the premises. In the event Tenant 
is deemed to have violated any of the Environmental Legal Requirements as set forth in the 
preceding sentence, Landlord shall have the right and option, after fifteen (15) days prior written 
notice to Tenant, to terminate this lease by written notice thereof to Tenant, in which event 
Landlord shall retain all rights and remedies, and Tenant shall be subject to all liabilities, set forth in 
Article 13 of this lease notwithstanding such termination.  Notwithstanding the foregoing 
provisions, Tenant shall have the right to contest, at Tenant’s sole cost, any such notice from a 
governmental agency, body or court or any such report prepared by an engineer or other party 
engaged in the business of testing or determining the existence of Hazardous Substances, provided 
that if such contest postpones compliance with any such notice, order or report and thereby renders 
the premises or the remainder of the building subject to life safety or other hazards, Tenant shall 
nevertheless be required to immediately have such work performed as may be necessary in order to 
fully remediate the condition causing such safety or other hazards. 

 37. Captions.   
The captions of the various sections of this Lease are for convenience only and are not a part of this 
Lease.  Such captions shall not be construed to define or limit any of the provisions of this Lease.   

 38. Final and Entire Agreement.   
This Lease contains the final and entire agreement between the parties hereto, and neither they nor 
their agents shall be bound by any terms, conditions or representations not herein written.  
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 39. Tenant Representative.   
The name, address and telephone number of Tenant’s representative to be contacted in event of 
emergency:   
 

Don J. Dent, Executive Director 
Planning and Support Operations 
1040 G Greenspring Drive 
Timonium, Maryland 21093 
 
Phone No. 410-887-7821 

 40. Additional Rent.  
All sums of money required to be paid by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, 
unless otherwise specified herein, shall be considered additional rent and shall be collectible by 
Landlord as additional rent, in accordance with the terms of this Lease.  Nothing herein contained 
shall be deemed to suspend or delay the payment of any amount of money or charge at the time the 
same becomes due and payable hereunder or to limit any other remedy of Landlord. 

41. Additional Items.  
Landlord shall deliver the premises “turn-key” per the attached floor plan, attached as Exhibit B, 
and the attached workletter, attached as Exhibit C. The approved specifications describe the work 
and materials that are the responsibility of the Landlord, with noted exceptions that are to be 
performed by the Tenant. Landlord will make all reasonable efforts to substantially complete all 
Tenant Improvements in accordance with the attached Exhibits within sixty (60) days after the 
lease execution date.    . 

42. Time. 
Time is of the essence for all purposes in this Lease. 

43. Quiet Enjoyment. 
Landlord represents that it has the right and capacity to enter into this Lease.  Landlord covenants 
and agrees that, upon Tenant’s paying the rent and performing and observing all of Tenant’s Lease 
obligations, Tenant may peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the premises for the term of 
this Lease without hindrance or molestation by anyone claiming paramount title or claims through 
Landlord, subject, however, to all of the covenants, agreements, terms and conditions and other 
obligations of this Lease.  It is understood and agreed that this provision shall be binding upon 
Landlord, its successors and assigns in interest, only with respect to such breaches occurring during 
Landlord’s and its successors and assigns in interests’ respective ownership of Landlord’s interest 
hereunder. 

44. Renewal Terms. 
Provided Tenant is not then in default hereunder beyond any applicable notice and cure period, 
Tenant shall have the right and option to extend the term of this Lease for two (2) renewal terms of 
five (5) years each, provided Tenant gives Landlord written notice of its exercise of its option to 
renew not later than one hundred eighty (180) days prior the expiration of the then current Lease 
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term.  If Tenant gives such notice in a timely manner, this Lease shall be extended for the renewal 
term as to which such notice is given under the same terms and conditions as are herein set forth 
except that (i) Landlord shall not be required to perform any work or make any installations in or to 
the premises as provided in Exhibits B and C hereto; and (ii) the base annual rental for the first year 
of each such renewal term shall be the then market rate (which is the same rental rate then being 
charged for comparable buildings in the same market area), but not less than the rental rate for the 
last year of the preceding term.  The rental as so determined for the first year of the renewal term 
shall be increased by three percent (3%) per annum for each succeeding year of the renewal term. 
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 AS WITNESS the hands of the parties hereto the date and year first above written.  
 

WITNESS:      MERRITT-EC, LLC 
 By: MERRITT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION, AGENT  

______    ______ By:        ____________________           (SEAL) 
 Landlord  
 

WITNESS/ATTEST:            BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY 
 

_____________ By:  ________________                     (SEAL)  
 Joe A. Hairston 

 Superintendent Of Schools 

 Baltimore County Public Schools 

 By:            ________________                     

James R. Sasiadek 

 President 

 Board of Education of Baltimore County 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL FORM 
COUNTY AND SUFFICIENCY* 

__________________________________________ (SUBJECT TO EXECUTION BY THE AUTHORIZED 
 SUPERINTENDENT AND PRESIDENT OF THE 
 BOARD OF EDUCATION OF BALTIMORE COUNTY) 

 

________________________________ 
__________________________________________        Office Of The County Attorney         

*Approval of Legal Form and Sufficiency Does Not Convey 
 Approval Or Disapproval of the Substantive Nature of this 
 Transaction.  Approval is Based Upon Typeset Document- 
 All Modifications Require Re-approval.. 
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